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References in this report to “we,” “our,” “us,” “AAMC,” or the “Company” refer to Altisource Asset Management Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.
References in this report to “Front Yard” refer to Front Yard Residential Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.

Special note on forward-looking statements

Our disclosure and analysis in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contain, and our officers, directors and authorized spokepersons may make, “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “targets,”
“predicts,” or “potential,” or the negative of these words and phrases or similar words or phrases that are predictions of or indicate future events or trends and that do not relate solely to historical

matters. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions.

» » o«

The forward-looking statements contained in this report reflect our current views about future events and are subject to numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and changes
in circumstances that may cause our actual business, operations, results or financial condition to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. Factors that may
materially affect such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

. Our ability to develop and implement new businesses or, to the extent such businesses are developed, our ability to make them successful or sustain the performance of any such
businesses;
. Developments in the litigation regarding our redemption obligations under the Certificate of Designations of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Shares”),

including our ability to obtain declaratory relief confirming that we were not obligated to redeem any of the Series A Shares on the March 15, 2020 redemption date if we do not
have funds legally available to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Shares requested to be redeemed on that redemption date;

. The Company has no direct exposure to the recently failed banks due to the recent financial conditions of the banking system. If other banks or financial institutions enter
receivership or become insolvent in the future, our ability, and the ability of our customers, clients and vendors, to access capital, may be threatened and could have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial condition;

. Current inflationary economic and market conditions, including the current rising interest rate environment and development in the credit market;

. Access to existing and new debt capital to continue to fund our origination and acquisition platforms;

. The ability of the Company to execute on its Action Plan (“The Plan”) submitted to the NYSE American, LLC (“NYSE”) to allow the company to maintain its listing status on the
NYSE; and

. The failure of our information technology systems, a breach thereto, and our ability to integrate and improve those systems at a pace fast enough to keep up with competitors and

security threats.

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, assumptions and expectations, they are not guarantees of future performance. Such forward-looking statements speak only as of their
respective dates, and we assume no obligation to update them to reflect changes in underlying assumptions, new information or otherwise. For a further discussion of these and other factors that could
cause our future results to differ materially from any forward-looking statements contained herein, please refer to the section “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”
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Partl
Item 1. Business

Our Business

Altisource Asset Management Corporation (“we,” “our,” “us,” “AAMC,” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the U. S. Virgin Islands (“USVI”) on March 15, 2012 (our “inception”), and
commenced operations as an asset manager on December 21, 2012. As disclosed in our public filings, the Company's prior business operations ceased in the first week of 2021. The Company
previously operated as the external manager for Front Yard Residential Corporation (“Front Yard”), a public real estate investment trust (“REIT”) focused on acquiring and managing quality,
affordable single-family rental (“SFR”) properties throughout the United States.

During 2021, AAMC engaged in a comprehensive assessment to either internally develop a new business operation or acquire a separate operating company. A range of industries were analyzed,
including, but not limited to, real estate lending, cryptocurrency, block-chain technology and insurance operations. Outside professional firms, including among others, Cowen and Company, LLC, an
investment bank, and Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, a global law practice, were engaged to provide due diligence, legal and valuation expertise to assist in our search.

As of March 2022, the Company created the Alternative Lending Group (“ALG”), to generate alternative private credit loans through Direct to Borrower Lending, Wholesale Originations, and
Correspondent Loan Acquisitions. The initial operations of ALG entail the following:

*  Build out a niche origination platform as well as a loan acquisition team;

¢ Fund the originated or acquired alternative loans from a combination of Company equity and existing or future lines of credit;
*  Sell the originated and acquired alternative loans through forward commitment and repurchase contracts;

e Leverage senior management’s expertise in this space; and

»  Utilize AAMC’s existing operations in India to drive controls and cost efficiencies.

ALG's primary sources of income is derived from mortgage banking activities generated through the origination and acquisition of loans, and their subsequent sale or securitization as well as net
interest income from loans while held on the balance sheet for investment.

In addition, the Company has determined to focus operations solely on ALG for the foreseeable future. Based on current market conditions in the cryptocurrency industry, the Company does not
believe the timing is right to deploy resources to the cryptocurrency ATM business until the cryptocurrency market has reached some type of stabilization.

Environmental, Social and Governance

As AAMC is initiating new operations, its management team will assess its strategic and operational approach to environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) matters in 2023 and execute on
specific ESG initiatives, accordingly. AAMC’s corporate goal of investing in underserved markets is integrated with, and linked to, our approach to ESG matters at AAMC.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022, AAMC employed 55 full-time employees, with plans to increase our headcount through the creation of alternative loan origination, loan operations, and acquisition teams.
At this time, our employees are primarily based in the United States Virgin Islands, Florida and India. The retention of our employees and the ability to attract new employees are core to the
sustainability and long-term success of AAMC, and we will invest in programs that attract, retain, develop, and care for our people. Cultural priorities and values are closely intertwined with our
overarching business strategy, and we believe these priorities support AAMC'’s ability to fulfill our mission and contribute to our ongoing focus on having a strong, healthy culture and a capable and
satisfied workforce.

Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and Belonging
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The Company believes in developing an atmosphere that fosters diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging (“DEIB”). This mandate starts from the top with the independent members of our Board of
Directors all being persons of color. Our DEIB work is focused on 1) developing and executing programs and processes that increase the representation of female and racially diverse employees at all
levels within the organization; and 2) investing in programs, training, and mentorship that contribute to an inclusive and equitable work environment for all our employees. Through our origination
activities, we believe that we will have the opportunity to provide liquidity and capital through our assessment of underserved markets.

Competition

We are subject to intense competition in acquiring, originating, and selling loans, the potential for initiating securitization transactions, and in other aspects of our business. Dependent upon the loan
product niche as we expand, our potential competitors may include in varying degrees, commercial banks, mortgage REITs, regional and community banks, other specialty finance companies,
financial institutions, as well as investment funds and other investors in real estate-related assets. In addition, other companies may be formed that will compete with us. Some of our competitors may
have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish more favorable relationships than we can. Some of our
competitors have greater resources than us, and we may not be able to compete successfully with them.

Federal and State Regulatory and Legislative Developments

Our new business will be affected by conditions in the housing, business-purpose, multifamily, and real estate markets and the broader financial markets, as well as by the financial condition and
resources of other participants in these markets. These markets and many of the participants in these markets are subject to, or regulated under, various federal and state laws and regulations. In some
cases, the government or government-sponsored entities, such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, directly participate in these markets. In particular, because issues relating to residential real estate and
housing finance can be areas of political focus, federal, state and local governments may be more likely to take actions that affect residential real estate, the markets for financing residential real
estate, and the participants in residential real estate-related industries than they would with respect to other industries. As a result of the government’s statutory and regulatory oversight of the markets
we participate in and the government’s direct and indirect participation in these markets, federal and state governmental actions, policies, and directives can have an adverse effect on these markets
and on our business and the value of, and the returns on, mortgages, mortgage-related securities, and other assets we own or may acquire in the future, which effects may be material. For additional
discussion regarding federal and state legislative and regulatory developments, see the risk factor below under the heading “Federal and state legislative and regulatory developments and the actions
of governmental authorities and entities may adversely affect our business and the value of, and the returns on, mortgages, mortgage-related securities, and other assets we own or may acquire in the
future" in Part I, Ttem 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Information Available on Our Website

Our website can be found at www.altisourceamc.com. We make available, free of charge through the investor information section of our website, access to our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as well as
proxy statements, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We also make available,
free of charge, access to the charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Governance and Nominating Committee, our Corporate Governance Standards, Policy Regarding
Majority Voting, and our Code of Ethics governing our directors, officers, and employees. Within the time period required by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, we will post on our website
any amendment to the Code of Ethics and any waiver applicable to any executive officer, director, or senior officer (as defined in the Code). In addition, our website includes information concerning
purchases and sales of our equity securities by our executive officers and directors, as well as disclosure relating to certain non-GAAP financial measures (as defined in the SEC’s Regulation G) that
we may make public orally, telephonically, by webcast, by broadcast, or by similar means from time to time. The information on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Additionally, the SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including us, at
WWW.SeC.gOoV.

Our Investor Relations Department can be contacted at 5100 Tamarind Reef, Christiansted, USVI, 00820, Attn: Investor Relations, telephone 704-275-9113 or email ir@altisourceamc.com.
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Certifications

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have executed certifications dated March 27, 2023, as required by Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and we have
included those certifications as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) imposes a wide variety of regulatory requirements on publicly-held companies and their insiders. Many of these requirements affect us.
For example:

«  Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer must certify the accuracy of the financial statements contained in our periodic
reports;

*  Pursuant to Item 307 of Regulation S-K, our periodic reports must disclose our conclusions about the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures;

*  Pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, our management must prepare a report regarding its assessment of our internal control over financial reporting; and

+  Pursuant to Item 308 of Regulation S-K and Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, our periodic reports must disclose whether there were significant changes in our internal controls or in other
factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to material weaknesses.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to review our current policies and procedures to determine whether we comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder. We will
continue to monitor our compliance with all regulations that are adopted under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and will take actions necessary to ensure that we are in compliance therewith.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be carefully considered. Many of these risks relate to our new businesses and will be
increasingly critical as we invest additional funds in these businesses and acquire additional mortgage loans. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.

We face a variety of risks that are substantial and inherent in our businesses. The following is a summary of some of the more important factors that could affect our businesses:

Market
*  General economic developments and trends and the performance of the housing, real estate, mortgage finance, and broader financial markets may adversely affect our business and the value
of, and returns on, real estate-related and other assets we own or may acquire and could also negatively impact our business and financial results.
«  Federal and state legislative and regulatory developments and the actions of governmental authorities and entities may adversely affect our business and the value of, and the returns on,
mortgages, mortgage-related securities, and other assets we own or may acquire in the future.
¢ Unpredictability of the credit markets may restrict our access to capital and may make it difficult or impossible for us to obtain any required additional financing.

Operational
*  We may not be successful in entering into new businesses and markets, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
*  Our use of leverage may expose us to substantial risks.
«  Operational risks, including those associated with our business model, may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth.
«  We will be dependent on the terms of the lines of credit and access to the capital provided by the lines of credit could be restricted based on our financial performance.
*  We depend on key personnel to manage our business, and the loss of any key person’s services, combined with our inability to identify and retain a suitable replacement for such person,
could materially adversely affect us. Additionally, the cost to retain our key personnel could put pressure on our operating margins.
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Our inability to manage future growth effectively could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
If we fail to develop, enhance and implement strategies to adapt to changing conditions in the real estate and capital markets, our business, results of operations and financial condition may
be materially and adversely affected.

Investing

The nature of the assets we hold and the investments we make expose us to credit risk that could negatively impact the value of those assets and investments, our earnings, dividends, cash
flows, and access to liquidity, or otherwise negatively affect our business.

We may have concentrated credit risk in certain geographical regions and may be disproportionately affected by an economic or housing downturn, natural disaster, terrorist event, climate
change, or any other adverse event specific to those regions.

The timing of credit losses can harm our economic returns.

Our efforts to manage credit risks may fail.

Our ability to identify and enter into forward commitments with purchasers of loans.

Multifamily and business purpose mortgage loan borrowers that have been negatively impacted by the pandemic may not make payments of principal and interest relating to their mortgage
loans on a timely basis, or at all, which could negatively impact our business.

Changes in prepayment rates of mortgage loans could reduce our earnings, dividends, cash flows, and access to liquidity.

Interest rate fluctuations can have various negative effects on us and could lead to reduced earnings and increased volatility in our earnings.

Our growth may be limited if assets are not available or not available at attractive prices.

We may change our investment strategy or financing plans, which may result in riskier investments and diminished returns.

The performance of the assets we own will vary and may not meet our earnings or cash flow expectations. In addition, the cash flows and earnings from, and market values of loans, we own
may be volatile.

The inability to access financial leverage through warehouse and repurchase facilities, credit facilities, or other forms of debt financing may inhibit our ability to execute our business plan,
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results, financial condition, and business.

Entering into hedging activities may subject us to increased regulation.

Our results could be adversely affected by counterparty credit risk.

Internal

We remain in outstanding litigation with one of the holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Shares”) related to their purported notices under the Certificate of
Designations of the Series A Shares (the “Certificate”) to redeem an aggregate of $144.2 million liquidation preference of our Series A Shares in March 2020. If we are required to pay
damages or redeem a portion of their Series A Shares, it could materially and adversely affect our ongoing business and liquidity.

We are subject to the risks of securities laws liability and related civil litigation.

An unidentified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting could, if not remediated, result in material misstatements in our financial statements.

We may become subject to the requirements of the Investment Company Act, which would limit our business operations and require us to spend significant resources to comply with such
act.

Failure to retain the tax benefits provided by the USVI would adversely affect our financial performance.

Our USVI operations may become subject to United States federal income taxation.

Our cash balances are held at a number of financial institutions that expose us to their credit risk.

Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of the NYSE American could result in a delisting or a halt in the trading of our common stock.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile and may be affected by market conditions beyond our control.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR MARKET GENERALLY

General economic developments and trends and the performance of the housing, real estate, mortgage finance, and broader financial markets may adversely affect our business and the value of,
and returns on, real estate-related and other assets we own or may acquire and could also negatively impact our business and financial results.
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Our level of business activity and the profitability of our business, as well as the values of, and the cash flows from, the assets we own, are affected by developments in the U.S. economy and the
broader global economy. As a result, negative economic developments are likely to negatively impact our business and financial results. There are a number of factors that could contribute to
negative economic developments, including, but not limited to, U.S. fiscal and monetary policy changes, including Federal Reserve policy shifts and changes in benchmark interest rates, changing
U.S. consumer spending patterns, negative developments in the housing, single-family rental (“SFR”), multifamily, and real estate markets, rising unemployment, rising government debt levels,
changing expectations for, or the occurrence of, inflation and deflation, or adverse global political and economic events, such as the outbreak of pandemic, epidemic disease, or warfare (including the
recent outbreak of hostilities between Russia and Ukraine).

Rising inflation and elevated U.S. budget deficits and overall debt levels, including as a result of federal pandemic relief and stimulus legislation and/or economic or market and supply chain
conditions, can put upward pressure on interest rates and could be among the factors that could lead to higher interest rates in the future. Higher interest rates could adversely affect our overall

business, income, including by reducing the fair value of many of our assets. This may affect our earnings results, reduce our ability to securitize, re-securitize, or sell our assets, or reduce our
liquidity. Higher interest rates could also reduce the ability of borrowers to make interest payments or to refinance their loans.

Real estate values, and the ability to generate returns by owning or taking credit risk on loans secured by real estate, are important to our business.

Federal and state legislative and requlatory de and the actions of governmental authorities and entities may adversely affect our business and the value of, and the returns on,

P

mortgages, mortgage-related securities, and other assets we own or may acquire in the future.

As noted above, our business is affected by conditions in the housing, business purpose, multifamily, and real estate markets and the broader financial markets, as well as by the financial
condition and resources of other participants in these markets. These markets and many of the participants in these markets are subject to, or regulated under, various federal and state laws and
regulations. In some cases, the government or government-sponsored entities, such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, directly participate in these markets. In particular, because issues relating to

residential housing and real estate finance can be areas of political focus, federal, state and local governments may be more likely to take actions that affect residential housing, the markets for
financing residential housing, and the participants in residential housing-related industries than they would with respect to other industries. As a result of the government’s statutory and regulatory

oversight of the markets we participate in and the government’s direct and indirect participation in these markets, federal and state governmental actions, policies, and directives can have an adverse

effect on these markets and on our business and the value of, and the returns on, mortgages, mortgage-related securities, and other assets we own or may acquire in the future, which effects may be
material.

Ultimately, we cannot assure you of the impact that governmental actions may have on our business or the financial markets and, in fact, they may adversely affect us, possibly materially. We cannot
predict whether or when such actions may occur or what unintended or unanticipated impacts, if any, such actions could have on our business and financial results. Even after governmental actions
have been taken and we believe we understand the impacts of those actions, prevailing interpretations may shift, or we may not be able to effectively respond to them so as to avoid a negative impact
on our business or financial results.

Unpredictability of the credit markets may restrict our access to capital and may make it difficult or impossible for us to obtain any required additional financing.

We intend to borrow money from lenders to fund our origination and purchase of mortgage loans. The domestic and international credit markets can be unpredictable. In the event that we need
additional capital for our business, we may have a difficult time obtaining it and/or the terms upon which we can obtain it may be unfavorable, which would have an adverse impact on our financial
performance.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR OPERATIONS
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We may not be successful in entering into new businesses and markets, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our new strategy focuses on the purchase and origination of mortgage loans. Given our focus across the real estate industry, these initiatives could increase our costs and expose us to new market
risks and legal and regulatory requirements. These loans have different economic structures than our previous businesses and will require different strategies and policies and procedures. These
activities also may impose additional compliance burdens on us, subject us to enhanced regulatory scrutiny and expose us to greater reputation and litigation risk.

The success of our growth strategy will depend on, among other things:

e Our ability to correctly originate and purchase mortgage loans that appeal to end investors;

*  The diversion of management’s time and attention into the growth of such new businesses;

*  Management’s ability to spend time developing and integrating the new business and the success of the integration effort;

¢ Our ability to identify and manage risks in new lines of businesses;

e Our ability to obtain requisite approvals and licenses from the relevant governmental authorities and to comply with applicable laws and regulations without incurring undue costs and
delays; and

*  Our ability to successfully negotiate and enter into beneficial arrangements with our counterparties.

In some instances, we may determine that growth in a specific area is best achieved through the acquisition of an existing business or a smaller scale lift out of an origination team to enhance our
platform. Our ability to consummate an acquisition will depend on our ability to identify and value potential acquisition opportunities accurately and successfully compete for these businesses against
companies that may have greater financial resources. Even if we are able to identify and successfully negotiate and complete an acquisition, these transactions can be complex, and we may encounter
unexpected difficulties or incur unexpected costs.

In addition, if a new business or venture developed internally or by acquisition is unsuccessful, we may decide to wind down, liquidate and/or discontinue it. Such actions could negatively impact our
relationships with our counterparties in those businesses, could subject us to litigation or regulatory inquiries, and can expose us to additional expenses, including impairment charges.

Our use of leverage may expose us to substantial risks.

We intend to use indebtedness as a means to finance our future business operations, which will expose us to the risks associated with using leverage. We are dependent on financial institutions
extending credit to us on reasonable terms to finance our new business. There is no guarantee that such institutions will extend credit to us or that we will be able to refinance any new obligations
when they mature. As borrowings under any future credit facility or any other indebtedness mature, we may be required to either refinance them by entering into a new facility or issuing additional
debt, which could result in higher borrowing costs, or issuing additional equity, which would dilute existing stockholders. We could also repay them by using cash on hand, cash provided by our
continuing operations or cash from the sale of our assets, which could reduce dividends to our stockholders. We could have difficulty entering into new facilities or issuing debt or equity securities in
the future on attractive terms, or at all.

Information technology failures or data security breaches could harm our business and result in substantial costs.

We use information technology and other computer resources to carry out important operational activities and to maintain our business records. Our computer systems, including our back-up systems,
are subject to damage or interruption from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, security breaches (through cyber-attacks from computer hackers and
sophisticated organizations), catastrophic events such as fires, tornadoes and hurricanes, usage errors by our employees, or cyber-attacks or errors by third party vendors who have access to our
confidential data or that of our customers. While to our knowledge we have not experienced a significant cyber-attack, we are continuously working to improve our information technology systems
and provide employee awareness training around phishing, malware, and other cyber risks to enhance our levels of protection, to the extent possible, against cyber risks and security breaches, and
monitor to prevent, detect, address and mitigate the risk of unauthorized access, misuse, computer viruses and other events that could have an impact on our business, there is no assurance that
advances in computer capabilities, new technologies, methods or other developments will detect or prevent security breaches and safeguard access to proprietary or confidential information.
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The frequency and sophistication of cyber-attacks on companies has increased in recent years, including significant ransomware attacks and foreign attacks on prominent companies and computer
software programs. If our computer systems and our back-up systems are damaged, breached, or cease to function properly, or if there are intrusions or failures of critical infrastructure such as the
power grid or communications systems, we could suffer extended interruptions in our operations. Any such disruption could damage our reputation, result in lost customers, lost revenue and market
value declines, lead to legal proceedings against us by affected third parties resulting in penalties or fines and require us to incur significant costs to remediate or otherwise resolve these issues. In
addition, the costs of maintaining adequate protection and insurance against such threats, as they develop in the future (or as legal requirements related to data security increase) could be material.

Breaches of our computer or data systems, including those operated by third parties on our behalf, could result in the unintended public disclosure or the misappropriation of our proprietary
information or personal and confidential information, about our employees, customers and business partners, requiring us to incur significant expense to address and resolve. The misappropriation
and/or release of confidential information may also lead to legal or regulatory proceedings against us by affected individuals and the outcome of such proceedings could include penalties or fines and
require us to incur significant costs to remediate or otherwise resolve. Depending on its nature, a particular breach or series of breaches of our systems may result in the unauthorized use,
appropriation or loss of confidential or proprietary information on a one-time or continuing basis, which may not be detected for a period of time.

We depend on key personnel to manage our business, and the loss of any key person’s services, combined with our inability to identify and retain a suitable replacement for such person, could
materially adversely affect us. Additionally, the cost to retain our key personnel could put pressure on our operating margins.

Our success is largely dependent on the skills, experience, and performance of our key personnel. The business acumen, expertise, and business relationships of our key personnel are critical elements
in developing our new businesses. Financial services professionals are in high demand, and we face significant competition for qualified employees. The loss of services of any of our key personnel
for any reason, combined with our inability to identify and retain a suitable replacement for such person, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Moreover, to retain key personnel, we may be required to increase compensation to such individuals, resulting in additional expense.

Our inability to manage future growth effectively could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our ability to grow will depend on our management’s ability to originate and/or acquire investor real estate loans. In order to do this, we will need to identify, hire, train, supervise and manage new
employees. Any failure to effectively manage our future growth, including a failure to successfully expand our loan origination activities could have a material and adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

If we fail to develop, enhance and implement strategies to adapt to changing conditions in the real estate and capital markets, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be
materially and adversely affected.

The manner in which we compete and the loans for which we compete are affected by changing conditions, which can take the form of trends or sudden changes in our industry, regulatory
environment, changes in the role of government-sponsored entities, changes in the role of credit rating agencies or their rating criteria or process or the United States economy more generally. If we
do not effectively respond to these changes, or if our strategies to respond to these changes are not successful, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INVESTING STRATEGY

The nature of the assets we hold and the expected investments we make could potentially expose us to credit risk that could negatively impact the value of those assets and investments, our
earnings, dividends, cash flows, and access to liquidity, or otherwise negatively affect our business.

Overview of credit risk
We assume credit risk primarily through the ownership of business purpose and multifamily real estate loans. Credit losses on these types of real estate loans can occur for many reasons, including:

fraud; poor underwriting; poor servicing practices; weak economic conditions; increases in payments required to be made by borrowers; declines in the value of real estate; declining rents and/or
elevated delinquencies associated with single- and multifamily rental housing; the outbreak of highly infectious or
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contagious diseases; natural disasters, the effects of climate change (including flooding, drought, wildfires, and severe weather) and other natural events; uninsured property loss; over-leveraging of
the borrower; costs of remediation of environmental conditions, such as indoor mold; changes in zoning or building codes and the related costs of compliance; acts of war or terrorism; changes in
legal protections for lenders and other changes in law or regulation; and personal events affecting borrowers, such as reduction in income, job loss, divorce, or health problems. In addition, the
amount and timing of credit losses could be affected by loan modifications, delays in the liquidation process, documentation errors, and other actions by servicers. Weakness in the U.S. economy or
the housing market could cause our credit losses to increase beyond levels that we currently anticipate.

Credit losses on business purpose and multifamily real estate loans can occur for many of the reasons noted above. Moreover, these types of real estate loans may not be fully amortizing, and
therefore, the borrower’s ability to repay the principal when due may depend upon the ability of the borrower to refinance or sell the property at maturity. Business purpose and multifamily real estate
loans and real estate loans collateralizing business purpose and multifamily securities are particularly sensitive to conditions in the rental housing market and to demand for residential rental
properties.

For loans we own directly, we will most likely be in a position to incur credit losses - should they occur - only after losses are borne by the owner of the property (e.g., by a reduction in the owner’s
equity stake in the property). We may take actions available to us in an attempt to protect our position and mitigate the amount of credit losses, but these actions may not prove to be successful and
could result in our increasing the amount of credit losses we ultimately incur on a loan.

Additionally, loans to small, privately owned businesses such as borrowers from our business purpose loan origination platforms involve a high degree of business and financial risk. Often, there is
little or no publicly available information about these businesses. Accordingly, we must rely on our own due diligence to obtain information in connection with our investment decisions. A
borrower’s ability to repay its loan may be adversely impacted by numerous factors, including a downturn in its industry or other negative local or more general economic conditions. Deterioration in
a borrower’s financial condition and prospects may be accompanied by deterioration in the collateral for the loan. These factors may have an impact on loans involving such businesses, and can result
in substantial losses, which in turn could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may have concentrated credit risk in certain geographical regions and may be disproportionately affected by an ec ic or housing downturn, natural disaster, terrorist event, climate
change, or any other adverse event specific to those regions.

A decline in the economy or difficulties in certain real estate markets, such as a high level of foreclosures in a particular area, are likely to cause a decline in the value of multifamily properties in that
market. This, in turn, will increase the risk of delinquency, default, and foreclosure on real estate loans we may hold with properties in those regions. This may then adversely affect our credit loss
experience and other aspects of our business, including our ability to securitize (or otherwise sell) real estate loans and securities.

The occurrence of a natural disaster (such as an earthquake, tornado, hurricane, flood, landslide, or wildfire), or the effects of climate change (including flooding, drought, and severe weather), may
cause decreases in the value of real estate (including sudden or abrupt changes) and would likely reduce the value of the properties collateralizing real estate loans we own. For example, in recent
years, hurricanes have caused widespread flooding in Florida and Texas and wildfires and mudslides in northern and southern California have destroyed or damaged thousands of homes. Since certain
natural disasters may not typically be covered by the standard hazard insurance policies maintained by borrowers, the borrowers may have to pay for repairs due to the disasters. Borrowers may not
repair their property or may stop paying their mortgage loans under those circumstances, especially if the property is damaged. This would likely cause foreclosures to increase and lead to higher
credit losses on our loans.

The timing of credit losses can harm our economic returns.

The timing of credit losses can be a material factor in our economic returns from real estate loans, investments, and securities. If unanticipated losses occur within the first few years after a loan is
originated, those losses could have a greater negative impact on our investment returns than unanticipated losses on more seasoned loans. The timing of credit losses could be affected by the
creditworthiness of the borrower, the borrower’s willingness and ability to continue to make payments, and new legislation, legal actions, or programs that allow for the modification of loans or rental

obligations, or ability for borrowers or tenants to get relief through forbearance, bankruptcy or other avenues.

Our efforts to manage credit risks may fail.
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We will attempt to manage risks of credit losses by continually evaluating our investments for impairment indicators and establishing reserves under GAAP for credit and other risks based upon our
assessment of these risks. We cannot establish credit reserves for tax accounting purposes. The amount of reserves that we establish may prove to be insufficient, which would negatively impact our
financial results and would result in decreased earnings. In addition, cash and other capital we hold to help us manage credit and other risks and liquidity issues may prove to be insufficient. If these
increased credit losses are greater than we anticipated, and we need to increase our credit reserves, our GAAP earnings might be reduced. Increased credit losses may also adversely affect our cash
flows, ability to invest, asset fair values, access to short-term borrowings, and ability to finance assets.

Changes in consumer behavior, bankruptcy laws, tax laws, regulation of the mortgage industry, and other laws may exacerbate loan or investment losses. In most cases, the value of the underlying
property will be the sole effective source of funds for any recoveries. Other changes or actions by judges or legislators regarding mortgage loans and contracts, including the voiding of certain
portions of these agreements, may reduce our earnings, impair our ability to mitigate losses, or increase the probability and severity of losses. Any expansion of our loss mitigation efforts could
increase our operating costs and the expanded loss mitigation efforts may not reduce our future credit losses.

Multifamily and business purpose mortgage loan borrowers that have been negatively impacted by the pandemic may not make payments of principal and interest relating to their mortgage
loans on a timely basis, or at all, which could negatively impact our business.

Multifamily and business purpose loans we are to own could be subject to similar risks as those described above and could likely be impaired, potentially materially to the extent multifamily and
business purpose loan borrowers have been negatively impacted by the pandemic and do not timely remit payments of principal and interest relating to their mortgage loans. In addition, if tenants
who rent their residence from a multifamily or business purpose loan borrower are unable to make rental payments, are unwilling to make rental payments, or a waiver of the requirement to make
rental payments on a timely basis, or at all, is available under the terms of any applicable forbearance or waiver agreement or program (which rental payment forbearance or waiver program may be
available as a result of a government-sponsored or -imposed program or under any such agreement or program a landlord may otherwise offer to tenants), then the value of multifamily and business
purpose loans we own will likely be impaired, potentially materially. Moreover, to the extent the economic impact of any such pandemic impacts local, regional or national economic conditions, the
value of multifamily and residential real estate that secures multifamily and business purpose loans is likely to decline, which would also likely negatively impact the value of mortgage loans we own,
potentially materially.

Additionally, a significant amount of the business purpose loans that we own are short-term bridge loans that are secured by residential properties that are undergoing rehabilitation or construction
and not occupied by tenants. Because these properties are generally not income producing (e.g., from rental revenue), in order to fund principal and interest payments, these borrowers may seek to
renegotiate the terms of their mortgage loan, including by seeking payment forbearances, waivers, or maturity extensions as a result of being negatively impacted by the pandemic. Moreover, planned
construction or rehabilitation of these properties may not be able to proceed on a timely basis or at all due to operating disruptions or government mandated moratoriums on construction, development
or redevelopment. All of the foregoing factors would also likely negatively impact the value of mortgage loans we own, potentially materially.

Changes in prepayment rates of mortgage loans could reduce our earnings, dividends, cash flows, and access to liquidity.

The economic returns we earn from most of the real estate loans we own are affected by the rate of prepayment of the mortgage loans. Prepayments are difficult to accurately predict and adverse
changes in the rate of prepayment could reduce our cash flows, earnings, and dividends. Adverse changes in cash flows would likely reduce the fair values of many of our assets, which could reduce
our ability to borrow against our assets and may cause market valuation adjustments for GAAP purposes, which could reduce our reported earnings. While we will estimate prepayment rates to
determine the effective yield of our assets and valuations, these estimates are not precise and prepayment rates do not necessarily change in a predictable manner as a function of interest rate changes.
Prepayment rates can change rapidly. As a result, changes can cause volatility in our financial results, affect our ability to securitize assets, affect our ability to fund acquisitions, and have other
negative impacts on our ability to generate earnings.

Some of the business purpose loans we originate or hold may allow the borrower to make prepayments without incurring a prepayment penalty and some may include provisions allowing the
borrower to extend the term of the loan beyond the originally scheduled maturity. Because the decision to prepay or extend a business purpose loan is controlled by the borrower,
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we may not accurately anticipate the timing of these events, which could affect the earnings and cash flows we anticipate and could impact our ability to finance these assets.
Interest rate fluctuations can have various negative effects on us and could lead to reduced earnings and increased volatility in our earnings.

Changes in interest rates, the interrelationships between various interest rates, and interest rate volatility could have negative effects on our earnings, the fair value of our assets and liabilities, loan
prepayment rates, and our access to liquidity. Changes in interest rates can also harm the credit performance of our assets. We may seek to hedge some but not all interest rate risks. Our hedging may
not work effectively and we may change our hedging strategies or the degree or type of interest rate risk we assume.

Some of the loans we may own or acquire may have adjustable-rate coupons (i.e., they may earn interest at a rate that adjusts periodically based on an interest rate index). The cash flows we receive
from these assets may vary as a function of interest rates, as may the reported earnings generated by these loans. We also may acquire loans and securities for future sale, as assets we are
accumulating for securitization, or as a longer-term investment. We may fund assets with a combination of equity, fixed rate debt and adjustable rate debt. To the extent we use adjustable rate debt to
fund assets that have a fixed interest rate (or use fixed rate debt to fund assets that have an adjustable interest rate), an interest rate mismatch could exist and we could, for example, earn less (and fair
values could decline) if interest rates rise, at least for a time. We may or may not seek to mitigate interest rate mismatches for these assets with hedges such as interest rate agreements and other
derivatives and, to the extent we do use hedging techniques, they may not be successful.

Higher interest rates generally will reduce the fair value of many of our assets. This may affect our earnings results, reduce our ability to sell our assets, or reduce our liquidity. Higher interest rates
could reduce the ability of borrowers to make interest payments or to refinance their loans. Higher interest rates could reduce property values and increased credit losses could result. Higher interest
rates could reduce mortgage originations, thus reducing our opportunities to acquire new assets.

It can be difficult to predict the impact on interest rates of unexpected and uncertain global political and economic events, such as the outbreak of pandemic or epidemic disease, warfare (including
the recent outbreak of hostilities between Russia and Ukraine), economic and international trade conflicts or sanctions, the change in the U.S. presidential administration and political makeup of the
Congress, or changes in the credit rating of the U.S. government; however, increased uncertainty or changes in the economic outlook for, or rating of, the creditworthiness of the U.S. government may
have adverse impacts on, among other things, the U.S. economy, financial markets, the cost of borrowing, the financial strength of counterparties we transact business with, and the value of assets we
hold. Any such adverse impacts could negatively impact the availability to us of short-term debt financing, our cost of short-term debt financing, our business, and our financial results.

b S1ob,

Our growth may be limited if assets are not or not a at attractive prices.

To reinvest the proceeds from principal repayments we receive on our existing loans and deploy capital we raise, we may seek to originate, invest in, or acquire new assets. If the availability of new
assets is limited, we may not be able to originate, invest in, or acquire assets that will generate attractive returns. Generally, asset supply can be reduced if originations of a particular product are
reduced or if there are fewer sales in the secondary market of seasoned product from existing portfolios. In particular, assets we believe have a favorable risk/reward ratio may not be available for

purchase (or origination by our business purpose loan origination platform).

We originate business purpose loans, but we may not be willing to provide the level of loan proceeds to the borrower or interest rate that borrowers find acceptable or that matches our competitors,
which would likely reduce the volume of these types of loans that we originate.

d returns.

We may change our investment strategy or financing plans, which may result in riskier investments and dii

We may change our investment strategy or financing plans at any time, which could result in our making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments we are
currently planning to make. A change in our investment strategy or financing plans may increase our exposure to interest rate and default risk and real estate market fluctuations. Decisions to employ
additional leverage could increase the risk inherent in our investment strategy. Furthermore, a change in our investment strategy could result in our making investments in new asset categories or in
different proportions among asset categories than management’s current strategy. Alternatively, we could determine to change our investment strategy or financing plans to be more risk averse,
resulting in potentially lower returns, which could also have an adverse effect on our financial returns.
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The performance of the assets we own will vary and may not meet our earnings or cash flow expectations. In addition, the cash flows and earnings from, and market values of loans, we own
may be volatile.

We seek to manage certain of the risks associated with acquiring, originating, holding, selling, and managing real estate loans. No amount of risk management or mitigation, however, can change the
variable nature of the cash flows of, fair values of, and financial results generated by these loans. Changes in the credit performance of, or the prepayments on, these real estate loans, and changes in
interest rates impact the cash flows on these loans, and the impact could be significant for our loans with concentrated risks. Changes in cash flows lead to changes in our return on investment and
also to potential variability in and level of reported income. The revenue recognized on some of our assets is based on an estimate of the yield over the remaining life of the asset. Thus, changes in our
estimates of expected cash flow from an asset will result in changes in our reported earnings on that asset in the current reporting period. We may be forced to recognize adverse changes in expected
future cash flows as a current expense, further adding to earnings volatility.

The inability to access financial leverage through warehouse and repurchase facilities, credit facilities, or other forms of debt financing may inhibit our ability to execute our business plan,
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results, financial condition, and business.

Our ability to fund our business depends on our securing warehouse, repurchase, or other forms of debt financing (or leverage) on acceptable terms. For example, pending the sale of a pool of
mortgage loans we intend to generally fund those mortgage loans through borrowings from warehouse, repurchase, and credit facilities, and other forms of short-term financing.

We cannot assure you that we will be successful in establishing sufficient sources of short-term debt when needed. In addition, because of its short-term nature, lenders may decline to renew our
short-term debt upon maturity or expiration, and it may be difficult for us to obtain continued short-term financing. To the extent our business calls for us to access financing and counterparties are

unable or unwilling to lend to us, then our business and financial results will be adversely affected. It is also possible that lenders who provide us with financing could experience changes in their
ability to advance funds to us, independent of our performance or the performance of our loans, in which case funds we had planned to be able to access may not be available to us.

Entering into hedging activities may subject us to increased regulation.

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, there is increased regulation of companies that enter into interest rate hedging agreements and other hedging instruments and derivatives. This increased regulation could
result in us being required to register and be regulated as a commodity pool operator or a commodity trading advisor. If we are not able to maintain an exemption from these regulations, it could have
a negative impact on our business or financial results. Moreover, rules requiring central clearing of certain interest rate swap and other transactions, as well as rules relating to margin and capital
requirements for swap transactions and regulated participants in the swap markets, as well as other swap market regulatory reforms, may increase the cost or decrease the availability to us of hedging
transactions.

Our results could be adversely affected by counterparty credit risk.

We have credit risks that are generally related to the counterparties with which we do business. There is a risk that counterparties will fail to perform under their contractual arrangements with us, and
this risk is usually more pronounced during an economic downturn. The economic impact of the pandemic and the associated volatility in the financial markets has at times triggered, and is likely to
trigger additional periods of economic slowdown or recession, and such conditions could jeopardize the solvency of counterparties with which we do business. Those risks of non-performance may
differ materially from the risks entailed in exchange-traded transactions, which generally are backed by clearing organization guarantees, daily mark-to-market and settlement of positions, and
segregation and minimum capital requirements applicable to intermediaries. Transactions entered into directly between parties generally do not benefit from those protections, and expose the parties
to the risk of counterparty default. Furthermore, there may be practical and timing problems associated with enforcing our rights to assets in the case of an insolvency of a counterparty.

In the event a counterparty to our borrowings becomes insolvent, we may fail to recover the full value of our pledged collateral, thus reducing our earnings and liquidity. In addition, the insolvency of
one or more of our financing counterparties could reduce the amount of financing available to us, which would make it more difficult for us to leverage the value of our assets and obtain
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substitute financing on attractive terms or at all. A material reduction in our financing sources or an adverse change in the terms of our financings could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations. In the event a counterparty to our interest rate agreements or other derivatives becomes insolvent or interprets our agreements with it in a manner unfavorable to
us, our ability to realize benefits from the hedge transaction may be diminished, any cash or collateral we pledged to the counterparty may be unrecoverable, and we may be forced to unwind these
agreements at a loss. In the event a counterparty that sells us mortgage loans becomes insolvent or is acquired by a third party, we may be unable to enforce our loan repurchase rights in connection
with a breach of loan representations and warranties and we may suffer losses if we must repurchase delinquent loans. In the event that one of our sub-servicers becomes insolvent or fails to perform,
loan delinquencies and credit losses may increase, and we may not receive the funds to which we are entitled. We will attempt to diversify our counterparty exposure, although we may not always be
able to do so. Our counterparty risk management strategy may prove ineffective and, accordingly, our earnings and cash flows could be adversely affected.

SPECIFIC RISKS RELATING TO US

We remain in outstanding litigation with one of the holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Shares”) related to their purported notices under the Certificate of
Designations of the Series A Shares (the “Certificate”) to redeem an aggregate of $144.2 million liquidation preference of our Series A Shares in March 2020. If we are required to pay damages
or redeem a portion of their Series A Shares, it could materially and adversely affect our ongoing business and liquidity.

Between January 31, 2020 and February 3, 2020, we received purported notices from all of the holders of our Series A Shares requesting us to redeem an aggregate of $250.0 million liquidation
preference of our Series A Shares on March 15, 2020. We did not have legally available funds to redeem all of the Series A Shares on March 15, 2020. As a result, we do not believe, under the terms
of the Certificate, that we are obligated to redeem any of the Series A Shares under the Certificate, and, consistent with the exclusive forum provisions of our Third Amended and Restated Bylaws,
we have filed a claim for declaratory relief in the Superior Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix, against Luxor Capital Group, LP and certain of its funds and managed accounts
(collectively, “Luxor”) to confirm our interpretation of the Certificate. On February 3, 2020, Luxor filed a complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, against
AAMC for breach of contract, specific performance, unjust enrichment, and related damages and expenses. AAMC intends to continue to pursue its strategic business initiatives despite this litigation.
See “Item 1. Business.” If Luxor were to prevail in its lawsuit, we may need to cease or curtail our business initiatives, and our liquidity could be materially and adversely affected. For more
information on the legal proceedings with Luxor, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We are subject to the risks of securities laws liability and related civil litigation.

We may be subject to risk of securities litigation and derivative actions from time to time as a result of being publicly traded, including the actions set forth in “Note 8-Commitments and
contingencies.” There can be no assurance that any settlement or liabilities in any future lawsuits or claims against us would be covered or partially covered by our insurance policies, which could
have a material adverse effect on our earnings in one or more periods. The range of possible resolutions for any potential legal actions could include determinations and judgments against us or
settlements that could require substantial payments by us, including the costs of defending such suits, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

An unidentified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting could, if not remediated, result in material misstatements in our financial statements.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the
company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
our financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. There can be no assurance that material weaknesses will not arise in the future or that any remediation efforts will be
successful. If additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls are discovered in the future, we could be required to restate our financial results or experience a decline
in the price of our securities. Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives as
specified above. Management does not expect, however, that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and fraud. Any
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been
detected.
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We may become subject to the requir of the In Company Act, which would limit our business operations and require us to spend significant resources to comply with such act.

The Investment Company Act defines an “investment company” as an issuer that is engaged in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities and owns investment
securities having a value exceeding 40% of the issuer's unconsolidated assets, excluding cash items and securities issued by the federal government. While the Investment Company Act also has
several exclusions and exceptions that we would seek to rely upon to avoid being deemed an investment company, our reliance on any such exclusions or exceptions may be misplaced resulting in
violation of the Investment Company Act, the consequences of which can be significant.

The ramifications of becoming an investment company, both in terms of the restrictions it would have on us and the cost of compliance, would be significant. For example, in addition to expenses
related to initially registering as an investment company, the Investment Company Act also imposes various restrictions with regard to our ability to enter into affiliated transactions, the
diversification of our assets and our ability to borrow money. If we became subject to the Investment Company Act at some point in the future, our ability to continue pursuing our business plan
would be severely limited.

Failure to retain the tax benefits provided by the USVI would adversely affect our financial performance.

We are incorporated under the laws of the USVI and are headquartered in the USVI. The USVI has an Economic Development Commission (the “EDC”) that provides benefits (“EDC Benefits”) to
certain qualified businesses in the USVI that enable us to avail ourselves of significant tax benefits for a thirty-year period. We received our certificate to operate as a company that qualifies for EDC
Benefits as of February 1, 2013, which provides us with a 90% tax credit on USVI-source income so long as we comply with the requirements of the EDC and our certificate of benefits. It is possible
that we may not be able to retain our qualifications for the EDC Benefits or that changes in U.S. federal, state, local or USVI taxation statutes or applicable regulations may cause a reduction in or an
elimination of the EDC Benefits, all of which could result in a significant increase to our tax expense and, therefore, adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our USVI operations may become subject to United States federal income taxation.

Our parent company is incorporated under the laws of the USVI and intends to operate in a manner that will cause us to be treated as not engaging in a trade or business within the United States,
which will cause us to be exempt from current United States federal income taxation on our net income. However, because there are no definitive standards provided by the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code, regulations or court decisions as to the specific activities that constitute being engaged in the conduct of a trade or business within the United States, and as any such determination is essentially
factual in nature, we cannot assure you that the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) will not successfully assert that we are engaged in a trade or business within the United States.

If the IRS were to successfully assert that we have been engaged in a trade or business within the United States in any taxable year, various adverse tax consequences could result, including the
following:

*  We may become subject to current United States federal income taxation on our net income from sources within the United States;
¢ We may be subject to United States federal income tax on a portion of our net investment income, regardless of its source;

*  We may not be entitled to deduct certain expenses that would otherwise be deductible from the income subject to United States taxation; and
*  We may be subject to United States branch profits tax on profits deemed to have been distributed out of the United States.

United States persons who own shares may be subject to United States federal income taxation on our undistributed earnings and may recognize ordinary income upon disposition of shares.

Significant potential adverse United States federal income tax consequences generally apply to any United States person who owns shares in a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”). We
cannot provide assurance that we will not be a PFIC in any future taxable year.
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In general, we would be a PFIC for a taxable year if either (i) 75% or more of our income constitutes “passive income” or (ii) 50% or more of our assets produce “passive income.” Passive income
generally includes interest, dividends and other investment income. We believe that we are currently operating, and intend to continue operating, our business in a way that should not cause us to be a
deemed PFIC; however, we cannot assure you the IRS will not successfully challenge this conclusion.

United States persons who, directly or indirectly or through attribution rules, own 10% or more of our shares (“United States 10% Stockholders), based on either voting power or value, may be
subject to the controlled foreign corporation (“CFC”) rules. Under the CFC rules, each United States 10% stockholder must annually include his pro rata share of the CFC's “Subpart F income,” even
if no distributions are made. Also, all capital gains from the sale of PFIC shares will be treated as ordinary income for federal income tax purposes and thus are not eligible for preferential long-term
capital gains rates.

We believe that the dispersion of our ordinary shares among holders will generally prevent new stockholders who acquire shares from being United States 10% Stockholders. We cannot assure you,
however, that these rules will not apply to you. If you are a United States person, we strongly urge you to consult your own tax adviser concerning the CFC rules.

United States tax-exempt organizations who own shares may recognize unrelated business taxable income.

If you are a United States tax-exempt organization, you may recognize unrelated business taxable income with respect to our insurance-related income if a portion of our Subpart F income is
allocated to you. In general, Subpart F income will be allocated to you if we are a CFC and you are a United States 10% Stockholder and certain exceptions do not apply. Although we do not believe
that any United States persons will be allocated Subpart F income, we cannot assure you that this will be the case. If you are a United States tax-exempt organization, we advise you to consult your
own tax adviser regarding the risk of recognizing unrelated business taxable income.

We may in the future become subject to the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income provisions.

The Tax Cuts and Job Reform Act requires U.S. stockholders of CFCs to include in income, as a deemed dividend, the global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) of the CFCs. The GILTI regime
is designed to decrease the incentive for a U.S. group to shift corporate profits to low-taxed jurisdictions. We are not currently impacted by the GILTI provisions, as the entirety of the aggregate net
income for each of our CFCs is excluded from our “net tested income” (the basis on which the tax is calculated), as it constitutes Subpart F income and is subject to an effective foreign tax rate
greater than 90% of the maximum U.S. corporate income tax rate. We cannot rule out the possibility that we will in the future find ourselves subject to the GILTI rules, should the income of our CFCs
no longer be entirely Subpart F income and be taxed at a foreign tax rate greater than 90% if the U.S. corporate income tax rate.

Changes to U.S. or state tax laws, our failure to adequately comply with U.S. or state tax laws, or the outcome of any audits or regulatory disputes with respect to our compliance with U.S. or
state tax laws could adversely affect us.

Changes to U.S. or state tax law could be enacted in the future that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Further, we are subject to
potential tax audits in various jurisdictions and in such event, tax authorities may disagree with certain positions we have taken and assess penalties or additional taxes. While we assess the likely
outcomes of these potential audits, there can be no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcome of a potential audit, and an audit could have a material adverse impact on our business, results
of operations, and financial condition.

Change in United States tax laws may be retroactive and could subject us and/or United States persons who own shares to United States income taxation on our undistributed earnings.
The tax laws and interpretations regarding whether we are engaged in a United States trade or business, are a CFC or a PFIC are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis. New regulations or
pronouncements interpreting or clarifying such rules may be forthcoming from the IRS. We are not able to predict if, when or in what form such guidance will be provided and whether such guidance

will have a retroactive effect.

The impact of the initiative of the Organization for Ec ic Cooperation and Development to eliminate harmful tax practices is uncertain and could adversely affect our tax status in the
United States Virgin Islands.

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development has published reports and launched a global dialogue among member and non-member countries on measures to limit harmful tax
competition. These measures are largely directed at
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counteracting the effects of tax havens and preferential tax regimes in countries around the world. While the USVI is currently a jurisdiction that has substantially implemented internationally agreed
tax standards, we are not able to predict if additional requirements will be imposed and, if so, whether changes arising from such additional requirements will subject us to additional taxes.

Our cash balances are held at a number of financial institutions that expose us to their credit risk

We maintain our cash and cash equivalents at financial or other intermediary institutions. The combined account balances at each institution typically exceed FDIC insurance coverage of $250,000
per depositor, and, as a result, there is a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. At December 31, 2022, substantially all of our cash and cash
equivalent balances held at financial institutions exceeded FDIC insured limits. On March 10, 2023, the FDIC took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”), and on March
12, 2023, the FDIC took control and was appointed receiver of Signature Bank, and on March 16, 2023, First Republic Bank received a commitment for a $30 billion deposit infusion, each case due
primarily to liquidity concerns. As of March 13, 2023, the Company did not have any direct exposure to SVB, Signature Bank, or First Republic. However, if other banks and financial institutions
enter receivership or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial markets, our ability, and the ability of our customers, clients and
vendors, to access existing cash, cash equivalents and investments, or to access existing or enter into new banking arrangements or facilities, may be threatened and could have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial condition.

Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of the NYSE American could result in a delisting or a halt in the trading of our common stock.

We must continue to satisfy the NYSE American’s continued listing requirements. If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of the NYSE American, the NYSE American may take steps
to delist our common stock or halt the trading of our common stock. Such a delisting or trading halt would likely have a negative effect on the price of our common stock and would impair a
shareholder's ability to sell or purchase our common stock when they wish to do so. We cannot assure the shareholders that we will continue to meet the existing listing requirements of the NYSE
American because some of the requirements, like the number of shareholders and the trading price of our common stock, are outside of our control.

On November 30, 2021, the NYSE American halted trading in our common stock. Although the NYSE American allowed trading to resume on March 21, 2022, shareholders were unable to trade our
common stock while the trading halt was in place. Any further trading halt would prevent shareholders from selling the stock until the trading halt is lifted and the trading price may be adversely
affected if trading in the stock begins again.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile and may be affected by market conditions beyond our control.

The price at which our common stock trades has fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, significantly. The market price of our common stock may fluctuate in response to many things, including
but not limited to, the following:

+  Variations in actual or anticipated results of our operations, liquidity or financial condition;

«  Changes in, or the failure to meet, our financial estimates or those of by securities analysts;

*  Actions or announcements by our competitors;

«  Potential conflicts of interest, or the discontinuance of our strategic relationships;

«  Actual or anticipated accounting problems;

*  Regulatory actions;

*  Lack of liquidity;

«  Aninability to develop or obtain new businesses or client relationships, respectively;

*  Changes in the market outlook for the real estate, mortgage or housing markets;

»  Technology changes in our business;

«  Changes in interest rates that lead purchasers of our common stock to demand a higher yield;

*  Actions by our stockholders;

*  Speculation in the press or investment community;

*  General market, economic and political conditions, including an economic slowdown or dislocation in the global credit markets;
+  Failure to maintain the listing of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) American;
«  Changes in accounting principles;

«  Passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry; and

«  Departure of our key personnel.
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The market prices of securities of alternative lenders have experienced fluctuations that often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating results of these companies. These market
fluctuations could result in extreme volatility in the market price of our common stock.

Furthermore, our small size and different investment characteristics may not continue to appeal to our current investor base that may seek to dispose of large amounts of our common stock. There is
no assurance that there will be sufficient buying interest to offset those sales, and, accordingly, the market price of our common stock could be depressed and/or experience periods of high volatility.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR MANAGEMENT AND OUR RELATIONSHIPS

Our Directors have the right to engage or invest in the same or similar businesses as ours.

Our Directors may have other investments and business activities in addition to their interest in, and responsibilities to, us. Under the provisions of our Charter and our bylaws (the “Bylaws”), our
Directors have no duty to abstain from exercising the right to engage or invest in the same or similar businesses as ours or employ or otherwise engage any of the other Directors. If any of our
Directors who are also directors, officers or employees of any company acquires knowledge of a corporate opportunity or is offered a corporate opportunity outside of his capacity as one of our
Directors, then our Bylaws provide that such Director will be permitted to pursue that corporate opportunity independently of us, so long as the Director has acted in good faith. Our Bylaws provide
that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, such a Director will be deemed to have satisfied his fiduciary duties to us and will not be liable to us for pursuing such a corporate opportunity
independently of us. This may create conflicts of interest between us and certain of our Directors and result in less than favorable treatment of us and our stockholders. As of this date, none of our
Directors is directly involved as a director, officer or employee of a business that competes with us, but there can be no assurance that will remain unchanged in the future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We conduct our principal operations through leased office space. We are headquartered in approximately 5,000 square feet of office space located at 5100 Tamarind Reef, Christiansted, VI 00820, and
we also have an office in Tampa, Florida and Bengaluru, India. For more information, please see Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 3. Legal proceedings

We are involved in a number of judicial and legal proceedings concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of our businesses. Given the range of litigations and arbitrations presently in
process, our litigation expenses may remain high. Refer to Note 1 and Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements.

Item 4. Mine safety disclosures

Not applicable.
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PartII
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Our common stock has been listed on the NYSE American under the symbol “AAMC” since December 13, 2013.
Holders
The number of holders of record of our common stock as of March 17, 2023 was 45 and 1,760,827 shares of our common stock were outstanding (excluding 1,671,467 shares held as treasury stock).
The number of beneficial stockholders is substantially greater than the number of holders as a large portion of our stock is held through brokerage firms. Information regarding securities authorized

for issuance under equity compensation plans is set forth in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

The information under the heading “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC not later than
120 days after December 31, 2022 is incorporated herein by reference.

Dividends

We will pay dividends at the sole and absolute discretion of our Board of Directors in the light of conditions then existing, including our earnings, financial condition, liquidity, capital requirements,
the availability of capital, general overall economic conditions and other factors. We paid no dividends from inception through December 31, 2022.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In March 2014, the Board of Directors authorized total repurchases of up to $300.0 million of common stock. On July 18, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Putnam Equity
Spectrum Fund and Putnam Capital Spectrum Fund (collectively, “Putnam”) in which the Company repurchased 286,873 shares of common stock of the Company owned by Putnam. The aggregate
purchase price of the Putnam shares was $2,868,730 or $10 per share. At December 31, 2022, we have approximately $28.4 million remaining that is authorized by our Board of Directors for share

repurchases. Repurchased shares are held as treasury stock and available for general corporate purposes. No repurchase plan has expired during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The following table summarizes the common stock reacquired to satisfy the tax withholding on equity awards:

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Purchased as Part of Shares That May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid Per Publicly Announced Plans  Purchased Under the Plans
Period Purchased Share or Programs or Programs
January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022 © 579 $ 21.00 — —
Total 579 § 21.00 —

(1) As permitted under the Company's equity compensation plans, these shares were withheld by the Company to satisfy the tax withholding obligation for those individuals who elected this option in connection with the vesting of shares of
restricted stock.

The information under the headings “Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC
not later than 120 days after December 31, 2022 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Manag 's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes. The following
discussion contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results could differ materially from the results contemplated from these forward-
looking statements due to a number of factors including, but not limited to, those discussed in Part 1, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our consolidated financial statements, which we discuss below, reflect our historical financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. The financial information discussed below and included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, however, may not necessarily reflect what our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows may be in the future.

The results of operations, cash flows, and assets and liabilities of our discontinued operations and continued operations, for all periods presented in the accompanying financial statements, have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. See Note 3 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information regarding discontinued operations.

Unless otherwise indicated, amounts reported in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ pertain to continuing operations only.
Management Overview and New Business

During 2021, the Company engaged in a comprehensive search to either internally develop a new business operation or acquire a separate operating company. A range of industries were analyzed,
including, but not limited to, real estate lending, crypocurrency, block-chain technology and insurance operations. Outside professional firms, including among others, Cowen and Company, LLC, an
investment bank, and Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, a global law practice, were engaged to provide due diligence, legal and valuation expertise to assist in our search.

On an interim basis in 2021, the Company invested in REIT equity securities to provide both dividend income and trading gains and generate portfolio income as the Company had no on-going
operations.

As of March 2022, the Company created the Alternative Lending Group (“ALG”), to generate alternative private credit loans through Direct to Borrower Lending, Wholesale Originations, and
Correspondent Loan Acquisitions. The initial operations of ALG entail the following:

*  Build out a niche origination platform as well as a loan acquisition team;

¢ Fund the originated or acquired alternative loans from a combination of Company equity and future lines of credit;
*  Sell the originated and acquired alternative loans through forward commitment and repurchase contracts;

e Leverage senior management’s expertise in this space; and

e Utilize AAMC’s existing operations in India to drive controls and cost efficiencies.

The type of product we expect to originate or acquire are alternative loans that offer opportunities for rapid growth and allow us to tap into under-served markets. We intend to stay agile on the loan
product mix, but we are currently focused on markets not addressed by banks, agency aggregators and most traditional lenders, including but not limited to:

« Transitional Loans: bridge loans on single family and commercial real estate;

*  Ground-up Construction Loans: assisting developers in projects with the primary focus on workforce housing;

« Investor Loans: Non-agency loans on investment rental properties that are debt service coverage ratio type loans;

*  Special Purpose Credit Programs: loans to extend special purpose credit to applicants who meet certain eligibility requirements such as credit assistance programs; and
*  “Gig Economy” Loans: Loans to professionals, self-employed borrowers, start-up business owners lacking income documentation to qualify for Agency purchase.

Our main business segment is ALG, whose primary sources of income is derived from mortgage banking activities generated through the origination and acquisition of loans, and their subsequent
sale or securitization as well as net interest income from loans while held on the balance sheet.
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Observations on Current Market Opportunities

We believe there is a compelling investment opportunity in the investor and business purpose loan market and that we have implemented a strategic plan for AAMC to capitalize on the significant
increase in demand for these products. In our view, the tightening of credit and lending requirements on traditional residential loan products, as well as macro-economic changes, shifting
demographics, geographic mobility, as well as cultural and economic changes resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have benefited the overall residential real estate market while reducing yields
available to investors elsewhere. We believe that our initial focus on short-term investor loans provides the opportunity to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns on our investments while
minimizing exposure to unforeseen structural shifts in monetary and fiscal policy and other market changes.

Metrics Affecting Our Consolidated Results

Our operating results are affected by various factors and market conditions, including the following:

Revenues

Our revenues primarily consist of loan interest income and origination fees earned on our loans held for sale and investment, along with other ancillary fees earned from the loan portfolio.

Expenses

Our expenses consist primarily of salaries and employee benefits, legal and professional fees, general and administrative expenses, servicing and asset management expense, acquisition charges,
operational interest expense, direct loan expense, and loan sales and marketing expense and other loan related expenses. Salaries and employee benefits include the base salaries, incentive bonuses,
medical coverage, retirement benefits, non-cash share-based compensation and other benefits provided to our employees for their services. Legal and professional fees include services provided by
third-party attorneys, accountants and other service providers of a professional nature. General and administrative expenses include costs related to the general operation and overall administration of
our business as well as non-cash share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock awards to our Directors. Servicing and asset management expenses include loan commissions.
Acquisition charges reflect professional fees incurred solely for the purpose of assisting the Company in the identification of target companies and the subsequent due diligence, valuation, and deal

structuring services required to properly assess the viability of the target companies. Operational interest expense, direct loan expense, and loan sales and marketing expense are fees related to loans
or the line of credit.

Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) primarily relates to income or expense recognized in the change of fair value of loans, change in the fair value of equity securities, gain and dividends on equity securities.
Results of Continuing Operations

The following discussion compares our results of continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. Our results of operations for the periods presented are not indicative of our
expected results in future periods.

For discussion that compares our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations - Results of Operations” included within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on March 31, 2022.
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Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2021

Loan Interest Income

Loan interest income was $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. No loan interest income was earned in 2021, as we had not developed said lines of business at that time.
Loan Fee Income

Loan fee income was $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. No loan fee income was earned in 2021, as we had not developed said lines of business at that time.
Salaries and Employee Benefits

Salaries and employee benefits increased to $5.8 million from $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The 2022 increase is due to higher salaries in 2022 offset by
higher restricted stock expense in 2021.

Legal, Acquisition and Professional Fees

Legal fees decreased to $4.3 million from $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This decrease is primarily due to higher costs in 2021 related to the Luxor
litigation and employment issues. Acquisition costs decreased to $0.5 million from $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The decrease in acquisition costs in
2022 is primarily due higher expenses and the associated legal support for the assessment and development of merger and acquisition candidates in 2021. Professional fees increased to $1.9 million
from $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased to $3.5 million from $2.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, attributable to an increase in higher insurance,
telecom, software license fees, and travel costs. Additionally, we recognized $0.4 million expense related to writing off a receivable for our former CEO’s signing bonus that we do not anticipate
recovering.

Servicing and Asset Management Expense

Servicing and asset management expenses were $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. No servicing and asset management expense was recorded in 2021, as we had not developed
the ALG line of business at that time.

Interest Expense

Interest expense includes interest incurred on our margin account, line of credit and amortized commitment fees. Interest expenses were $1.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. $0.1
million interest expense was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021, as we only had a margin account and had not developed the ALG line of business at that time.

Direct Loan Expense

Direct loan expenses were $0.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. Direct loan expenses include loan broker fees, inspection fees, title search and other fees. No direct loan expense
was recorded in 2021, as we had not developed the ALG line of business at that time.

Loan Sales and Marketing Expense

Loan sales and marketing expenses were $0.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. Loan sales and marketing expenses include expenses related to the promotion and exposure to leads
which may result in originations of loans.

Change in Fair Value of Loans
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We recognized a $2.0 million expense for the change in fair value of loans during the year ended December 31, 2022. No entry was booked in 2021, as we had not developed the ALG line of business
at that time.

Dividend and Gain on Sale Income

No dividends were received for the year ended December 31, 2022 on REIT equity securities because no REIT equity securities were held during that period. $3.1 million in dividends for equity
securities were received for the year ended December 31, 2021. No gains were recognized for the year ended December 31, 2022. The REIT equity securities were purchased and sold in 2021 for a
realized gain of $8.3 million.

Results of Discontinued Operations

As previously disclosed, on January 1, 2021, we completed the sale of the remainder of the asset management operations of the Company and recorded a pre-tax gain on disposal of $7.5 million. See
Note 3 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information regarding discontinued operations.

We had no results from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $10.7 million compared to $78.3 million as of December 31, 2021. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents in 2022 was primarily
due to the purchase of loans by ALG. As of December 31, 2022, we also had $2.0 million in restricted cash. We are developing new sources of income and capital through our strategic business plan.
We believe these sources of liquidity are sufficient to enable us to meet anticipated short-term (one-year) liquidity requirements. Our ongoing cash expenditures consist of: salaries and employee
benefits, legal and professional fees, lease obligations and other general and administrative expenses. Certain account balances exceed FDIC insurance coverage and, as a result, there is a
concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. To mitigate this risk, we maintain our cash and cash equivalents at large national or international

banking institutions.

As referred to in Note 1 in our consolidated financial statements, the Company has settled with certain owners of its Series A Shares which has reduced the outstanding balance from $250 million to
approximately $144 million. The remaining outstanding Series A Shares are owned by Luxor in which we are currently in litigation over various claims.

AAMC intends to continue to pursue its strategic business initiatives despite this litigation. See “Item 1. Business.” If Luxor were to prevail in its lawsuit, we may need to cease or curtail our business
initiatives and our liquidity could be materially and adversely affected. For more information on the legal proceedings with Luxor, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Loans Held for Sale, at fair value

On December 31, 2022, our loans held for sale, at fair value, was $11.6 million. These loans primarily relate to loans originated by ALG and are included net of loan holdbacks, deferred fees, accrued
interest, payments and advances in process, interest reserve in process and market valuation amounts.

Loans Held for Investment, at fair value

On December 31, 2022, our loans held for investment, at fair value, was $83.1 million. These loans primarily relate to business purpose bridge loans for the transitioning of real estate properties and
are included net of loan holdbacks, accrued interest, in process and market valuation amounts.

Credit Facilities

As of December 31, 2022, our repurchase agreements totaled $51.7 million. See Note 6 for more detail.

Equity Securities
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Between February 9, 2021 and February 17, 2021, we purchased $97 million of equity securities with $68 million of cash on hand and $29 million borrowed under a standard margin arrangement
with our banking institution. As of December 31, 2021, all equity securities had been liquidated and the standard margin arrangement was paid in full.

Treasury Shares

As of December 31, 2022, a total of $271.6 million in shares of our common stock have been repurchased under the authorization by our Board of Directors to repurchase up to $300.0 million in
shares of our common stock. Repurchased shares are held as treasury stock and are available for general corporate purposes. We have an aggregate of $28.4 million remaining for repurchases under
our Board-approved repurchase plan.

Cash Flows

We report and analyze our cash flows based on operating activities, investing activities and financing activities. The following table summarizes our cash flows from continuing and discontinued
operations for the periods indicated ($ in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operations $ (27,064) $ (23,115)
Net cash from (used in) investing activities from continuing operations (85,249) 58,396
Net cash from (used in) financing activities from continuing operations 46,779 (4,884)
Total cash flows relating to continuing operations $ (65,534) $ 30,397
Net cash from operating activities from discontinued operations $ — 3 5,439
Net cash from investing activities from discontinued operations — 511
Net cash from (used in) financing activities from discontinued operations — 80
Total cash flows relating to discontinued operations $ — 6,030

Continuing Operations

Operating Activities From Continuing Operations

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, consisted primarily of originations and additional fundings of held for sale loans, interest receivable, payment of ongoing
salaries and benefits, annual incentive compensation, dividends on preferred stock issued under the 2016 Employee Preferred Stock Program and general corporate expenses in excess of revenues.
Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021, consisted primarily of payment of ongoing salaries and benefits, annual incentive compensation, and general corporate
expenses in excess of revenues, dividend income and gain on securities.

Investing Activities From Continuing Operations

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, consisted primarily of website development, the purchase and additional fundings of loans held for investment, offset by
principal payments on loans held for investment. Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021, consisted primarily of the dividends received on equity securities,

proceeds received from the sale of Front Yard common stock and sale of equity securities offset by the purchase of equity securities.

Financing Activities From Continuing Operations

Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily relates to funds borrowed and repaid under the Company’s lines of credit and cash used in the
conversion of preferred stock. Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily of funds borrowed and repaid under the Company’s margin loan, conversion of
preferred stock and from shares withheld for taxes upon vesting of restricted stock.

Discontinued Operations
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During 2021, the cash flows from discontinued operations were due to the termination of the Amended Asset Management Agreement (“AMA”) with Front Yard and the related cash receipts from
the disposal group. See Note 3 to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information regarding cash flows from discontinued operations.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2022 or 2021.
Recent accounting pronouncements

See Note 1, “Organization and Basis of Presentation Recently issued accounting standards” to our consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Judgments

Accounting standards require information in financial statements about the risks and uncertainties inherent in significant estimates, and the application of generally accepted accounting principles
involves the exercise of varying degrees of judgment. Certain amounts included in or affecting our financial statements and related disclosures must be estimated, requiring us to make certain
assumptions with respect to values or conditions that cannot be known with certainty at the time our consolidated financial statements are prepared. These estimates and assumptions affect the
amounts we report for our assets and liabilities and our revenues and expenses during the reporting period and our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated
financial statements. Actual results may differ significantly from our estimates and any effects on our business, financial position or results of operations resulting from revisions to these estimates are
recorded in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become known.

We consider our critical accounting judgments to be those used in the determination of the reported amounts and disclosure related to the following:
Series A Preferred Shares

The Company’s Series A preferred stock is reflected in the balance sheet as temporary equity. In 2020, the Company received redemption notices from holders of the Series A Preferred Shares
requesting that the Company redeem an aggregate of $250.0 million of its Series A Shares on March 15, 2020. The Company did not have the legally available funds to redeem all, but not less than
all, of the outstanding Series A Shares on March 15, 2020. Therefore, the Company does not believe that there is an obligation pursuant to the Certificate of Designation of the Series A Shares to
redeem those shares held by investors unless there are legally available funds to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Shares. The presentation of the Series A Preferred Shares will
continue to be classified as temporary equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Fair Market Value

The Company has elected the fair value option for its business purpose loans held for sale and investment. As such, these loans are carried on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at their estimated fair
value and changes in the fair values of these loans are recorded on our Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which the valuation change occurs. The majority of the loans utilize
Level 3 valuation inputs, which include certain unobservable inputs (e.g., those requiring our own data or assumptions) that require significant judgment to develop, and changes in these estimates
have had and are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our reported earnings and financial condition. See Note 4 in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for additional
information on the loans accounted for at fair value at December 31, 2022, including the significant inputs used to estimate their fair values and the impact the changes in their fair values had to our
financial condition and results of operations. Periodic fluctuations in the values of these loans are inherently volatile and thus can lead to significant period-to-period GAAP earnings volatility.

Income taxes

Income taxes are provided for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
management expects those temporary differences to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period in which the change occurs.
Subject to our judgment, we reduce a deferred tax asset by a valuation allowance if it is “more likely than not” that some or the entire deferred tax asset will not be
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realized. Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required in evaluating tax positions, and
we recognize tax benefits only if it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority.

For all temporary differences, we have considered the potential future sources of taxable income against which they may be realized. In so doing, we have taken into account temporary differences
that we expect to reverse in future years and those where it is unlikely. Where it is more likely than not that there will not be potential future taxable income to offset a temporary difference, a
valuation allowance has been recorded.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes that affect market sensitive instruments.
Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See our consolidated financial statements starting on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagr: with Acc on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exchange Act, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2022. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us
in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and to provide reasonable
assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Management has assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As a result of this assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, our internal control over financial reporting was
effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that: 1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the issuer; 2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the issuer; and 3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the issuer's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

As the Company is a Smaller Reporting Company (“SRC”) under the SEC guidelines, management has determined that it will no longer receive an attestation opinion of its internal controls over
financial reporting from its external auditor until the Company no longer qualifies as a SRC, upon reaching certain revenue thresholds. This decision was in conjunction with the creation of the
Company's new business line and the extension of the 2012 Jumpstart Our Business Startups (“JOBS”) Act in March 2020.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during
the quarter ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

The Company assessed new internal control steps related to its ALG business line. These steps resulted in material changes to the internal control process and will include, but are not limited to, the
following: implementing reporting steps for fair market value assessments of the loan portfolio; liaising with third-party loan servicers and underwriting information providers; and monitoring loan
performance in accordance with debt facilities. The Company engaged a third-party consultant to assist in both the documentation and integration of the processes involving the ALG business line.
The new processes were in response to the creation and ongoing growth of the new business line and were not undertaken in response to any perceived deficiencies in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Other than the new business line steps denoted above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d)
and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Limitations on Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives as specified above. Management does
not expect, however, that our disclosure controls
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and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error or fraud. Any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain
assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error
or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Part III
We will file a definitive Proxy Statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2023 Proxy Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to Regulation 14A, not
later than 120 days after December 31, 2022. Accordingly, certain information required by Part III has been omitted under General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K. Only those sections of the 2023
Proxy Statement that specifically address the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2023 Proxy Statement under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” and “Code of Ethics.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2023 Proxy Statement under the captions “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2023 Proxy Statement under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.”
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2023 Proxy Statement under the captions “Transactions with Related Persons” and “Information Regarding the
Board of Directors and Corporate Governance.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2023 Proxy Statement under the captions “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees” and “Pre-
Approval Policy and Procedures.”
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Part IV

Exhibits
Exhibit Number Description

2.1 Separation Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2012, between Altisource Asset Management Corporation and Altisource Portfolio Solutions S.A. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 28, 2012).

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Altisource Asset Management Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2017).

3.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Altisource Asset Management Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on July 6, 2022).

3.3 Certificate of Designations establishing the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 19, 2014).

3.4* Master Repurchase Agreement between Altisource Asset Management Corporation and Grapetree Lending LLC and NexBank, dated December 2, 2022 (portions
redacted).

4.1* Description of Registrant's Securities.

10.17F Altisource Asset Management Corporation 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Registrant's Amendment No. 4 to Form 10 filed
with the SEC on December 18, 2012).

10.2 Amended and Restated Asset Management Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2019, by and among Front Yard Residential Corporation, Front Yard Residential, L.P. and
Altisource Asset Management Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 8,
2019).

10.3 Asset Management Agreement, dated March 31, 2015, among Front Yard Residential Corporation (f/k/a Altisource Residential Corporation), Front Yard Residential L.P.
(f/k/a Altisource Residential, L.P.) and Altisource Asset Management Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on April 2, 2015).

10.4 Amendment to Asset Management Agreement, dated April 7, 2015, among Front Yard Residential Corporation (f/k/a Altisource Residential Corporation), Front Yard
Residential L.P. (f/k/a Altisource Residential, L.P.) and Altisource Asset Management Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 13, 2015).

10.5F Altisource Asset Management Corporation 2016 Preferred Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on March 1, 2017).

10.6F Form of Preferred Stock Agreement under 2016 Employee Preferred Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2017).

10.8F Altisource Asset Management Corporation 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registrant's Form S-8 filed with the SEC on
December 21, 2020).

10.9F Employment Agreement of Stephen R. Krallman, dated as of May 24, 2021. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on June 28, 2021).

10.10F Employment Agreement of Jason Kopcak, dated as of March 16, 2022. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on March 18, 2022.)

10.11 Settlement Agreement dated as of February 17, 2021, between Altisource Asset Management Corporation and Putnam Focused Equity Fund, a series of Putnam Funds
Trust, dated as of February 17, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 18, 2021).

10.12 Settlement Agreement dated as of August 27, 2021, between Altisource Asset Management Corporation and Ithan Creek Master Investors (Cayman) L.P., Bay Pond
Investors (Bermuda) L.P., Bay Pond Partners, L.P. and Wellington Management Company LLP (together, the “Wellington Parties”). (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 30, 2021).

21%* Schedule of Subsidiaries.

Z3F Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

24* Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

31.1* Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

1.2% Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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Exhibit Number Description
32.1** Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.2%* Certification of CFO Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* XBRL Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

* Filed herewith.

** Indicates the exhibit is being furnished, not filed, with this report.
T Denotes management contract or compensatory arrangement.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

Altisource Asset Management Corporation

Date: March 27, 2023 By: /s/ Jason Kopcak
Jason Kopcak
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 27, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen Ramiro Krallman
Stephen Ramiro Krallman
Chief Financial Officer

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jason Kopcak and Stephen Ramiro Krallman each of them severally, his
or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact with power of substitution and resubstitution to sign in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to do any and all things and execute any and
all instruments that such attorney may deem necessary or advisable under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any rules, regulations and requirements of the Securities and
Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments hereto, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and
hereby ratifies and confirms all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, and his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ John P. de Jongh, Jr. Director March 27, 2023
John P. de Jongh, Jr.
/s/ Ricardo C. Byrd Director March 27, 2023
Ricardo C. Byrd
/s/ John A. Engerman Director March 27, 2023
John A. Engerman
/s/ Jason Kopcak Director and Chief Executive Officer March 27, 2023
Jason Kopcak
/s/ Stephen Ramiro Krallman Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer and Secretary) March 27, 2023

Stephen Ramiro Krallman
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Altisource Asset Management Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The

communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter
below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the Matter in Our
Audit

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

(table of contents)

Loans Held for Sale or Investment, at Fair Value

The Company’s loans held for sale or investment, at fair value (collectively, the “loans receivable, at fair value”) totaled $94.7 million in aggregate as of
December 31, 2022, inclusive of accrued interest. As more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has elected
the fair value option to measure its loans receivable, at fair value on a recurring basis at each reporting period end. The loans receivable, at fair value
were valued as of December 31, 2022 using a discounted cash flow model to estimate the net present value of the future cash flows expected from each
loan.

Auditing management’s estimate of the fair value of the Company’s loans receivable, at fair value involved a high degree of subjectivity in evaluating
management’s assumptions due to the significant estimation required in determining fair value. Specifically, the estimated fair value of the loans
receivable, at fair value is sensitive to changes in the discount rate applied to the net present value of future cash flows expected from each loan.

Our audit procedures related to the valuation of the loans receivable, at fair value, included, among others, evaluating the reasonableness of the
Company’s use of the income approach to estimate fair value, testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models and calculations, and testing the
completeness and accuracy of the data inputs used in the valuation of the loans held as of the balance sheet date. Also, with the assistance of our
valuation specialists, we evaluated the discount rate assumption and concluded fair values of the loans held as of the balance sheet date.

We have served as the Company‘s auditor since 2017.

Atlanta, Georgia
March 27, 2023
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Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, 2022

(table of contents)

December 31, 2021

ASSETS
Loans held for sale, at fair value $ 11,593 $ —
Loans held for investment, at fair value 83,143 —
Cash and cash equivalents 10,727 78,349
Restricted cash 2,047 —
Other assets 10,137 3,127
Total assets $ 117,647 $ 81,476
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 10,3499 $ 7,145
Lease liabilities 1,323 859
Credit facility 51,653 —
Total liabilities 63,325 8,004
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Redeemable preferred stock:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 250,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. 144,212 shares issued and
outstanding and $144,212 redemption value as of December 31, 2022 and 150,000 shares issued and outstanding and $150,000 redemption
value as of December 31, 2021. 144,212 150,000
Stockholders' deficit:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 5,000,000 authorized shares; 3,432,294 and 1,783,862 shares issued and outstanding, respectively, as of
December 31, 2022 and 3,416,541 and 2,055,561 shares issued and outstanding, respectively, as of December 31, 2021. 34 34
Additional paid-in capital 149,010 143,523
Retained earnings 41,516 57,450
Accumulated other comprehensive income 20 54
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,648,432 shares as of December 31, 2022 and 1,360,980 shares as of December 31, 2021. (280,470) (277,589)
Total stockholders' deficit (89,890) (76,528)
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 117,647  § 81,476

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Revenues:

Loan interest income

Loan fee income

Servicing fee revenue
Total revenues

Expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits

Legal fees

Professional fees

General and administrative

Servicing and asset management expense

Acquisition charges

Interest expense

Direct loan expense

Loan sales and marketing expense
Total expenses

Other income (expense):
Change in fair value of loans
Change in fair value of equity securities
Gain on sale of equity securities
Dividend income
Other

Total other (expense) income

Net loss from continuing operations before income tax
Income tax expense
Net loss from continuing operations

Gain on discontinued operations (net of income tax expense of $1,272)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Continuing operations earnings per share
Net loss from continuing operations
Gain on preferred stock transaction

Numerator for earnings per share from continuing operations

Discontinued operations earnings per share

Net income from discontinued operations

Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

(table of contents)

2022 2021
$ 4,579 $ —
353 —

33 —

4,965 =

5,839 5,635

4,349 6,885

1,901 1,531

3,545 2,573

683 —

513 3,908

1,328 60

122 —

338 —

18,618 20,592

(1,963) —

— 146

— 8,347

— 3,061

32 94

(1,931) 11,648

(15,584) (8,944)

350 3,273

$ (15934) (12,217)
— 6,213

$ (15934) $ (6,004)
(15,934) (12,217)

5,122 87,961

$ (10,812) $ 75,744
$ — $ 6,213

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Earnings per share of common stock - Basic:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total
Weighted average common stock outstanding

Earnings per share of common stock - Diluted:

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total
Weighted average common stock outstanding

(table of contents)

$ (5.64) 37.83
— 3.1

$ (5.64) 40.94
1,917,503 2,002,111

$ (5.64) 35.03
— 2.87

$ (5.64) 37.90
1,917,503 2,162,378

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands)
Year ended December 31,
2022 2021
Net loss $ (15,934) § (6,004)
Other comprehensive loss:
Currency translation adjustments, net (34 6)
Total other comprehensive loss (34) (6)
Comprehensive loss $ (15,968) $ (6,010)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Deficit
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock

Accumulated Other

Additional Paid-in Comprehensive Income Total Stockholders'
Number of Shares Amount Capital Retained Earnings (Loss) Treasury Stock Deficit

December 31, 2020 2,966,207 $ 30 $ 46,574 $ 63,426 $ (65) $ (276,543) $ (166,578)
Common shares issued under share-based compensation

plans, net of employee tax withholdings 162,051 2 (@] — (800) (800)
Shares withheld for taxes upon vesting of restricted stock — — — — @7) @7)
Share-based compensation, net of tax — — 1,939 — (219) 1,720
Currency translation adjustments, net — — = (6) = (6)
Acquisition and disposition of subsidiaries — — — 28 125 — 153
Preferred stock conversion 288,283 2 95,012 — — — 95,014
Net loss — — (6,004) — (6,004)
December 31, 2021 3,416,541 34 143,523 57,450 54 (277,589) (76,528)
Common shares issued under share-based compensation

plans, net of employee tax withholdings 15,753 — 25 — — 25
Treasury shares repurchased — — — — — (2,881) (2,881)
Share-based compensation, net of tax — — 340 — — — 340
Currency translation adjustments, net — — — — (34) — (34)
Preferred stock conversion — — 5,122 — — — 5,122
Net loss — — — (15,934) — (15,934)
December 31, 2022 3,432,294  § 34 $ 149,010 § 41,516  $ 20 8 (280,470) $ (89,890)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Operating activities:
Net loss
Less: Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Loss from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuing operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Share-based compensation
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets
Change in fair value of loans
Dividend income
Change in fair value of securities
Gain on securities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from discontinued operations and acquisitions of subsidiaries:

Originations of held for sale loans
Principal payments on held for sale loans
Additional fundings of held for sale loans
Interest receivable
Amortization of deferred financing fees
Other assets and liabilities
Receivable from Front Yard
Net cash used in continuing operations
Net cash provided by discontinued operations
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities:
Website development
Purchase of loans held for investment
Additional fundings of loans held for investment
Principal payments on loans held for investment
Purchase of equity securities
Dividends received
Proceeds from sale of interest in equity securities
Investment in property and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations
Net cash provided by discontinued operations
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Conversion of preferred stock
Proceeds from borrowed funds
Repayment of borrowed funds
Deferred financing fees

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
(15934) $ (6,004)
— 6,213
(15,934) (12,217)
199 309
340 1,939
241 139
1,963 —
— (3,061)

= (146)

— (8,347)
(8,843) —
1,061 —
(3,857) —
(1,353) —
52 —
(933) (5,145)
— 3,414
(27,064) (23,115)
— 5,439
(27,064) (17,676)
(1,482) —
(99,087) —
(10,794) —
26,174 —
— (96,950)

— 3,061

— 152,796

(60) (511)
(85,249) 58,396
= 511
(85,249) 58,907
(1,893) (3,763)
95,197 28,549
(43,544) (28,549)
(125) —



Proceeds and payment of tax withholding on exercise of stock options, net
Shares withheld for taxes upon vesting of restricted stock
Net payment from subsidiaries included in disposal group
Repurchase of common stock
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations
Net cash provided by discontinued operations
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

Consolidated cash, cash equivalents and restricted, end of the period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information (continuing and discontinued operations):
Cash paid for interest

Income taxes paid

Right-of-use lease assets recognized - operating leases

Operating lease liabilities recognized

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-10

(table of contents)

25 5
— (1,046)
— (80)
(2,881) —
46,779 (4,884)
= 80
46,779 (4,804)
(65,534) 36,427
(41) 115
78,349 41,807
12,774 78,349
873 60
3,806 2,103
710 308
710 —
10,727 78,349
2,047 0
12,774 78,349
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Altisource Asset Management Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Altisource Asset Management Corporation (“we,” “our,” “us,” “AAMC,” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the U.S. Virgin Islands (“USVI”) on March 15, 2012 (our “inception”), and
commenced operations as an asset manager on December 21, 2012. As disclosed in our public filings, the Company’s prior business operations ceased in the first week of 2021. The Company
previously operated as the external manager for Front Yard Residential Corporation (“Front Yard”), a public real estate investment trust (“REIT”) focused on acquiring and managing quality,
affordable, single-family rental (“SFR”) properties throughout the United States.

During 2021, AAMC engaged in a comprehensive assessment to either internally develop a new business operation or acquire a separate operating company. A range of industries were analyzed,
including, but not limited to, real estate, lending cryptocurrency, block-chain technology and insurance operations. Outside professional firms, including among others, Cowen and Company, LLC, an
investment bank, and Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, a global law practice, were engaged to provide due diligence, legal and valuation expertise to assist in our search.

As of March 2022, the Company created the Alternative Lending Group (“ALG”), to generate alternative private credit loans through Direct to Borrower Lending, Wholesale Originations, and
Correspondent Loan Acquisitions. The initial operations of ALG entail the following:

¢ Build out a niche origination platform as well as a loan acquisition team;

¢ Fund the originated or acquired alternative loans from a combination of Company equity and existing or future lines of credit;
*  Sell the originated and acquired alternative loans through forward commitment and repurchase contracts;

* Leverage senior management’s expertise in this space; and

¢ Utilize AAMC'’s existing operations in India to drive controls and cost efficiencies.

ALG's primary sources of income is derived from mortgage banking activities generated through the origination and acquisition of loans, and their subsequent sale or securitization as well as net
interest income from loans while held on the balance sheet for investment.

In addition, the Company has determined to focus operations solely on ALG for the foreseeable future. Based on current market conditions in the cryptocurrency industry the Company does not
believe the timing is right to deploy resources to the cryptocurrency ATM business until the cryptocurrency market has reached some type of stabilization.

Basis of presentation and use of estimates

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). Certain prior year
amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations. All wholly owned subsidiaries are
included, and all intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

The Company changed its balance sheet presentation from classified (distinguishing between short-term and long-term accounts) to unclassified (no such distinction) in the second quarter of 2022.
This change was prompted by the Company’s strategic decision to launch an alternative lending operation, ALG, in March 2022, as described above. The presentation of an unclassified balance sheet
is consistent with that of the Company’s peers within the lending industry. Further, the previous classified presentation was not utilized to derive any metric by which the Company is measured or will
be measured on a prospective basis. As the Company is now presenting an unclassified balance sheet, reclassification adjustments have been made to the historical Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2021 in order for it to conform with the current unclassified presentation.
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Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Loans held for sale or investment, carried at fair market value

We originate and purchase alternative loans. These loans will either be classified as held for investment or held for sale depending upon the determination of management. We have elected to measure
these alternative loans at fair value on a loan by loan basis. This option is available when we first recognize a financial asset. Subsequent changes in the fair value of these loans will be recorded in

our Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period of the change. Purchased loans, also known as correspondent loans, can be bought with a net strip interest component in that the seller of the

loan will receive an agreed upon percentage of the coupon interest generated from the sold loan. This strip component is reflected as service and asset management expense on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

A fair value measurement represents the price at which an orderly transaction would occur between willing market participants at the measurement date. We estimate the fair values of the loans held
for investment or sale based on available inputs from the marketplace. The market for the loans that we have or will invest in is generally illiquid. Establishing fair values for illiquid assets is
inherently subjective and is often dependent upon our estimates and modeling assumptions. In circumstances where relevant market inputs cannot be obtained, increased analysis and management
judgment are required to estimate fair value. This generally requires us to establish internal assumptions about future cash flows and appropriate risk-adjusted discount rates. Regardless of the
valuation inputs we apply, the objective of fair value measurement for assets is unchanged from what it would be if markets were operating at normal activity levels and/or transactions were orderly;
that is, to determine the current exit price.

See Note 4 for further discussion on fair value measurements.

Interest for these loans is recognized as revenue based on the stated coupon when earned and deemed collectible or until a loan becomes more than 90 days past due, at which point the loan is placed
on nonaccrual status and any accrued interest is reversed against interest income. When a seriously delinquent loan previously placed on nonaccrual status has been cured, meaning all delinquent
principal and interest have been remitted by the borrower, the loan will be placed back on accrual status. Interest accrued as of period end is included within loans held for sale, at fair value or loans
held for investment, at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as applicable.

Redeemable Preferred stock
Issuance of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in 2014 Private Placement

During the first quarter of 2014, we issued 250,000 shares of convertible preferred stock for $250.0 million to institutional investors. Under the Certificate of Designations of the Series A Shares (the
“Certificate”), we have the option to redeem all of the Series A Shares on March 15, 2020 and on each successive five-year anniversary of March 15, 2020 thereafter. In connection with these same
redemption dates, each holder of our Series A Shares has the right to give notice requesting us to redeem all of the Series A Shares held by such holder out of legally available funds. In accordance
with the terms of the Certificate, if we have legally available funds to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Shares requested to be redeemed on a redemption date, we will deliver to those
holders who have requested redemption in accordance with the Certificate a notice of redemption. If we do not have legally available funds to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Shares
requested to be redeemed on a redemption date, we will not provide a notice of redemption. The redemption right will be exercisable in connection with each redemption date every five years until
the mandatory redemption date in 2044. If we are required to redeem all of the holder’s Series A Shares, we are required to do so for cash at a price equal to $1,000 per share (the issuance price) out
of funds legally available therefor. Due to the redemption provisions of the Series A Shares, we classify these shares as mezzanine equity, outside of permanent stockholders' equity.

The holders of our Series A Shares are not entitled to receive dividends with respect to their Series A Shares. The Series A Shares are convertible into shares of our common stock at a conversion
price of $1,250 per share (or an exchange rate of 0.8 shares of common stock for Series A Share), subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments.

F-12



(table of contents)

Upon certain change of control transactions or upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of the Series A Shares will be entitled to receive an amount in cash per Series
A Share equal to the greater of:

(i) $1,000 plus the aggregate amount of cash dividends paid on the number of shares of common stock into which such Series A Shares were convertible on each ex-dividend date for such
dividends; and
(ii) The number of shares of common stock into which the Series A Shares are then convertible multiplied by the then-current market price of the common stock.

The Certificate confers no voting rights to holders, except with respect to matters that materially and adversely affect the voting powers, rights or preferences of the Series A Shares or as otherwise
required by applicable law.

With respect to the distribution of assets upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the Series A Shares rank senior to our common stock and on parity with all other classes of
preferred stock that may be issued by us in the future.

The Series A Shares are recorded net of issuance costs, which were amortized on a straight-line basis through the first potential redemption date in March 2020.

Between January 31, 2020 and February 3, 2020, we received purported notices from all of the holders of our Series A Shares requesting us to redeem an aggregate of $250.0 million liquidation
preference of our Series A Shares on March 15, 2020. We did not have legally available funds to redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series A Shares on March 15, 2020. As a result, we do not
believe, under the terms of the Certificate, that we were obligated to redeem any of the Series A Shares under the Certificate.

Current Litigation
—  Luxor (plaintiff) v. AAMC (defendant)

On February 3, 2020, Luxor filed a complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, against AAMC for breach of contract, specific performance, unjust enrichment,
and related damages and expenses. The complaint alleges that AAMC’s position that it will not redeem any of Luxor’s Series A Shares on the March 15, 2020 redemption date is a material breach of
AAMC’s redemption obligations under the Certificate. Luxor seeks an order requiring AAMC to redeem its Series A Shares, recovery of no less than $144,212,000 in damages, which is equal to the
amount Luxor would receive if AAMC redeemed all of Luxor’s Series A Shares at the redemption price of $1,000 per share set forth in the Certificate, as well as payment of its costs and expenses in
the lawsuit. In the alternative, Luxor seeks a return of its initial purchase price of $150,000,000 for the Series A Shares, as well as payment of its costs and expenses in the lawsuit. On May 25, 2020,
Luxor’s complaint was amended to add Putnam Equity Spectrum Fund and Putnam Capital Spectrum Fund (collectively, “Putnam”), which also invested in the Series A Shares, as plaintiff. On June
12, 2020, AAMC moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint in favor of AAMC’s first-filed declaratory judgment action in the U.S. Virgin Islands. On August 3, 2020, the court denied AAMC’s
motion to dismiss. On February 23, 2021, in accordance with the terms of the Putnam Agreement described below, Putnam agreed to discontinue all claims against AAMC with prejudice related to
the Series A shares. Luxor and AAMC have completed discovery in the action. AAMC and Luxor each filed summary judgment motions on July 19, 2022 and replies to those motions on August 18,
2022 and September 15, 2022. On December 1, 2022, having heard oral arguments on the summary judgment motions, the court denied both parties’ motions.

AAMC And Luxor have filed an appeal and cross-appeal, respectively, from the trial court’s ruling in the Appellate Division - First Department, of the Supreme Court of the State of New York. By
stipulation of the parties, the appeal and cross-appeal shall be perfected and briefed for the June 2023 term. AAMC’s brief as Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Respondent was filed on February 22, 2023.
Luxor’s brief as Plaintiff-Appellee-Cross-Appellant is due to be filed by April 6, 2023. AAMC’s reply brief is due April 21, 2023. Luxor’s reply brief is due May 8, 2023.

AAMC continues to pursue its strategic business initiatives despite this litigation. If Luxor were to prevail in its lawsuit, our liquidity could be materially and adversely affected.

— AAMC (plaintiff) v. Nathaniel Redleaf (defendant)

On October 31, 2022, AAMC filed a complaint with demand for jury trial in the Superior Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix, against Nathaniel Redleaf alleging breach of fiduciary
duty to AAMC. Mr. Redleaf was a member of AAMC’s Board of Directors for five years and the Company’s complaint alleges that he breached his fiduciary duty, by among other
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things, disclosing AAMC’s confidential information to Luxor. AAMC seeks a number of remedies, including compensatory damages, disgorgement of any benefit received by Luxor or Mr. Redleaf
as a result of such breaches.

On January 4, 2023, this action was removed to the United States District Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix.
On February 28, 2023, defendant Redleaf filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. AAMC’s opposition to defendant’s motion is due on April 4, 2023.
Settlement Activities

On February 17, 2021, the Company entered into a settlement agreement dated as of February 17, 2021 (the “Putnam Agreement”) with Putnam. Pursuant to the Putnam Agreement, AAMC and
Putnam exchanged all of Putnam’s 81,800 Series A Shares for 288,283 shares of AAMC’s common stock. Additionally, AAMC paid Putnam $1,636,000 within three business days of the effective
date of the Putnam Agreement and $1,227,000 on the one-year anniversary of the effective date of the Putham Agreement, and in return Putnam released AAMC from all claims related to the Series
A Shares and enter into a voting rights agreement as more fully described in the Putnam Agreement. Finally, AAMC granted to Putnam a most favored nations provision with respect to future
settlements of the Series A Shares. As a result of this settlement, we recognized a one-time gain directly to Additional paid in capital of $71.9 million in the first quarter of 2021.

On August 27, 2021, the Company entered into a settlement agreement (the “Wellington Agreement”) with certain funds managed by Wellington Management Company LLP (collectively,
“Wellington”). Under the Wellington Agreement, the Company paid Wellington $2,093,000 in exchange for 18,200 Series A Shares ($18.2 million of liquidation preference) held by Wellington, and

in return Wellington agreed to release AAMC from all claims related to the Series A Shares. As a result of this settlement, we recognized a one-time gain directly to Additional paid in capital of $16.1
million gain in the third quarter of 2021.

On January 6, 2022, the Company entered into a settlement agreement (the "Settlement Agreement") with two institutional investors. Under the Settlement Agreement, the Company paid the
institutional investors approximately $665 thousand in cash in exchange for 5,788 Series A Shares ($5.79 million of liquidation preference) held by the institutional investors. As a result of this
settlement, the Company recognized a one-time gain directly to Additional paid in capital of approximately $5.1 million in the first quarter of 2022.

On July 18, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Putnam in which the Company repurchased 286,873 shares of common stock of the Company owned by
Putnam (the "Putnam Shares"). The aggregate purchase price of the Putnam Shares was $2,868,730, or $10 per share.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company and Putnam also agreed to terminate the most favored nation clause granted to Putnam in the Putnam Agreement. The Company and Putnam also
agreed to terminate all of Putnam's shareholder voting obligations included in the Putnam Agreement.

2016 Employee Preferred Stock Plan

On May 26, 2016, the 2016 Employee Preferred Stock Plan (the “Employee Preferred Stock Plan”) was approved by our stockholders. Pursuant to the Employee Preferred Stock Plan, the Company
may grant one or more series of non-voting preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, in the Company to induce certain employees to become employed and remain employees of the Company in the
USVI, and any of its future USVI subsidiaries, to encourage ownership of shares in the Company by such USVI employees and to provide additional incentives for such employees to promote the
success of the Company’s business.

Pursuant to our stockholder approval of the Employee Preferred Stock Plan, on December 29, 2016, the Company authorized 14 additional series of preferred stock of the Company, consisting of
Series B Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock, Series D Preferred Stock, Series E Preferred Stock, Series F Preferred Stock, Series G Preferred Stock, Series H Preferred Stock, Series I Preferred
Stock, Series J Preferred Stock, Series K Preferred Stock, Series L Preferred Stock, Series M Preferred Stock, Series N Preferred Stock and Series O Preferred Stock, and each series shall consist of
up to an aggregate of 1,000 shares.

We have issued shares of preferred stock under the Employee Preferred Stock Plan to certain of our USVI employees. These shares of preferred stock are mandatorily redeemable by us in the event of
the holder's termination of service with the Company for any reason. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had 3,200 and 1,200 and shares outstanding, respectively, and we included
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the redemption value of these shares of $32,000 and $12,000 respectively, within accounts payable and accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In December 2022 and January 2021, our Board of Directors declared and paid an aggregate $0.4 million and of $1.6 million, respectively, of dividends on these shares of preferred stock. Such
dividends are included in salaries and employee benefits in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Recently issued accounting standards

Recently issued accounting standards adopted

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740),” which is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting
for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. Our adoption of
this standard in the first quarter of 2022 did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting,” which provides practical
expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The expedients and exceptions
provided by the amendments in this update apply only to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference the London interbank offered rate (“LIBOR”) or another reference rate
expected to be discontinued as a result of reference rate reform. These amendments are not applicable to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated after
December 31, 2022. ASU No. 2020-04 is effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022 and may be applied to contract modifications and hedging relationships from the beginning of an
interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020. In December 2022, the FASB extended the temporary accounting rules under Topic 848 from December 31, 2022 to December 31,
2024. We will adopt this standard when LIBOR is discontinued. We are evaluating the impact the new standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, but do not

anticipate a material impact.

Recent accounting pronouncements pending adoption not discussed above or in the 2021 Form 10-K are either not applicable or will not have, or are not expected to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash equivalents
We consider highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Certain account balances exceed FDIC insurance coverage and, as a result, there is a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. To mitigate this
risk, we maintain our cash and cash equivalents at large national or international banking institutions.

Restricted cash

We have designated restricted cash when appropriate within our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Consolidations

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AAMC and its consolidated subsidiaries, which include the voting interest entities in which we are determined to have a controlling

financial interest. Our voting interest entities consist entirely of our wholly owned subsidiaries. We also consider variable interest entities (“VIEs”) for consolidation where we are the primary
beneficiary. We had no VIEs or potential VIEs as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 or 2021.
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Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income or loss, less amortization of preferred stock issuance costs, by the weighted average common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted average common stock outstanding for the period plus the dilutive effect of (i) stock options and restricted stock
outstanding using the treasury stock method and (ii) Series A Preferred Shares using the if-converted method. Weighted average common stock outstanding - basic excludes the impact of unvested
restricted stock since dividends paid on such restricted stock are non-participating. Any gain on settlement of preferred shares, which is recorded directly to equity, is included in the numerators for
our earnings per share calculations.

Fair value of financial instruments

We designate fair value measurements into three levels based on the lowest level of substantive input used to make the fair value measurement. Those levels are as follows:

. Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities.

. Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Income taxes

Income taxes are provided for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
management expects those temporary differences to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period in which the change occurs.
Subject to our judgment, we reduce a deferred tax asset by a valuation allowance if it is “more likely than not” that some or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized. Tax laws are complex and
subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required in evaluating tax positions, and we recognize tax benefits only if it
is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority.

For all temporary differences, we have considered the potential future sources of taxable income against which they may be realized. In so doing, we have taken into account temporary differences
that we expect to reverse in future years and those where it is unlikely. Where it is more likely than not that there will not be potential future taxable income to offset a temporary difference, a
valuation allowance has been recorded.

Lastly, the Company accounts for the tax on global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) as incurred and therefore has not recorded deferred taxes related to GILTI on its foreign subsidiaries.
Leases

On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASU 2016-02, including various associated updates and amendments, which together comprise the requirements for lease accounting under ASC 842. ASC 842
fundamentally changes accounting for operating leases by requiring lessees to recognize a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset over the term of the lease. We also adopted the
“package of practical expedients,” which permits us not to reassess our prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs under the new standard. We also elected
the short-term lease exemption for all leases that qualify; as a result, we will not recognize right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for leases with a term of less than 12 months at inception.

We lease office space under three operating leases. Our office leases are generally for terms of one to five years and typically include renewal options, which we consider when determining our lease
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to the extent that a renewal option is reasonably certain of being exercised. Along with rents, we are generally required to pay common area maintenance,

property taxes and insurance, each of which vary from period to period and are therefore expensed as incurred.

Other assets
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Other assets includes leasehold improvements; furniture, fixtures and equipment; deferred tax assets, refunds due and miscellaneous other assets. The cost basis of fixed assets is depreciated using the
straight-line method over an estimated useful life of three to five years based on the nature of the components.

Revenue recognition

Interest revenue is recognized based on the stated coupon when earned and deemed collectible or until a loan becomes more than 90 days past due, at which point the loan is place on nonaccrual
status and any accrued interest is reversed against interest revenue.

Upon a nonaccrual loan being reinstated, meaning all delinquent principal and interest payments have been remitted by the borrower, the loan will be placed back on accrual status.
Interest accrued as of period end is included within loans for sale, at fair value, or loans held for investment, at fair value, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as applicable.

Loan fees represent origination fees charged to borrowers and are recognized to revenue upon the origination date of the loan.

Share-based compensation

We amortize the grant date fair value of restricted stock as expense on a straight-line basis over the service period with an offsetting increase in stockholders' equity. The grant date fair value of
awards with only service-based vesting conditions is determined based upon the share price on the grant date.

We recognize share-based compensation expense related to (i) awards to employees in salaries and employee benefits and (ii) awards to Directors or non-employees in general and administrative
expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Forfeitures of share-based awards are recognized as they occur.
Treasury stock

We account for repurchased common stock under the cost method and include such treasury stock as a component of total stockholders’ equity. We have repurchased shares of our common stock (i)
under our Board approval to repurchase up to $300.0 million in shares of our common stock and (ii) upon our withholding of shares of our common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in
connection with the vesting of our restricted stock.

3. Discontinued Operations

Our primary client prior to December 31, 2020 had been Front Yard Residential Corporation (“Front Yard”), a public real estate investment trust (“REIT”) focused on acquiring and managing quality,
affordable single-family rental (“SFR”) properties throughout the United States. All of our revenue for all periods presented prior to December 31, 2021 was generated through our asset management
agreements with Front Yard.

On August 13, 2020, AAMC and Front Yard entered into a Termination and Transition Agreement (the “Termination Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Front Yard have agreed to
effectively internalize the asset management function of Front Yard. The Termination Agreement provided that the Amended AMA would terminate following a transition period to enable the
internalization of Front Yard’s asset management function, allow for the assignment of certain vendor contracts and implement the transfer of certain employees to Front Yard and the training of
required replacement employees at each company. In addition, Front Yard acquired the equity interests of AAMC's Indian subsidiary, the equity interests of AAMC's Cayman Islands subsidiary, the
right to solicit and hire designated AAMC employees that oversaw the management of Front Yard's business and other assets of AAMC that were used in connection with the operation of Front
Yard's business.

The transition period ended at the close of business, December 31, 2020, the time that AAMC and Front Yard mutually agreed that all required transition activities had been successfully completed

(the “Termination Date”). On the Termination Date, the Amended AMA terminated, and the Company completed the assignment of our lease in Charlotte, North Carolina to Front Yard. Additionally,
on December 31, 2020, we completed the sale of our Cayman Islands subsidiary. On January 1, 2021, in
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connection with the Termination Agreement, the Company completed the sale of our India subsidiary, the gain on this sale, net of taxes was $6.2 million.
The Company had no assets and liabilities related to our discontinued operations that constituted the Disposal Group at December 31, 2022.

The following table details the components comprising net income from our discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2021. ($ in thousands):
Year ended December 31,

2021
Other income from discontinued operations:
Gain on disposal $ 7,485
Total other income from discontinued operations 7,485
Net income from discontinued operations before income taxes 7,485
Income tax expense 1,272
Net income from discontinued operations $ 6,213

The following table details cash flow information related to our discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2021. ($ in thousands):
Year ended December 31,

2021
Total operating cash flows from discontinued operations $ 5,439
Total investing cash flows from discontinued operations 511
Total financing cash flows from discontinued operations 80

4. Loans Held for Sale or Investment at Fair Value

Our loan portfolio consists of business purpose loans secured by single family, multifamily and commercial real estate that were acquired from third party originators or issued by us. The composition
of the loan portfolio by classification as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, is summarized in the table below ($ in thousands):
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Held for Sale Held for Investment
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Total loan commitments $ 15,080 $ $ 98,157 $
Less: construction holdbacks (1) (3,350) — (13,188) —
Total principal outstanding 11,730 — 84,969 —
Change in fair value of loans (137) (1,826) —
Total loans at fair value $ 11,593 $ — $ 83,143 $ —

(1) Construction holdbacks include in process accounts such as payments, advances, interest reserve, accrued interest and other accounts.

The loan portfolio consists of 128 loans at December 31, 2022, with a weighted average coupon of 9.4%, of which the Company receives a net yield of 8.5% after taking into account the strip interest

to the sellers of the loans. The weighted average life of the portfolio is approximately 8.2 months. 19 loans represent 60% of the total principal outstanding at December 31, 2022. There was one loan
on nonaccrual status or 90 days or more past due at December 31, 2022, with a carrying value of $0.6 million.

The table below represents activity within the loan portfolio by classification for the period shown ($ in thousands):

Loans Held for Sale Loans Held for Investment
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ — $ —
Acquisitions — 99,087
Originations 8,843 —
Additional fundings 3,857 10,794
Interest receivable 91 1,262
Payoffs and repayments (1,061) (26,174)
Fair value adjustment (137) (1,826)
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 11,593  $ 83,143

F-19



(table of contents)

The composition of the total loan commitment by state as of December 31, 2022 is summarized below ($ in thousands):

State Commitment Percent of Portfolio

Florida $ 32,422 28.6 %
New York 22,250 19.6 %
New Jersey 12,367 10.9 %
California 12,513 11.1%
‘Washington 6,215 5.5 %
Connecticut 4,374 3.9 %
Texas 4,815 4.3 %
Illinois 4,357 3.8%
Other 13,924 12.3 %
Total $ 113,237 100.0 %

For financial reporting purposes of our alternative loans, we follow a fair value hierarchy established under GAAP, as described in Note 2, that is used to determine the fair value of financial
instruments. This hierarchy prioritizes relevant market inputs in order to determine an “exit price” at the measurement date, or at the price at which an asset could be sold or a liability could be
transferred in an orderly process that is not a forced liquidation or distressed sale.

In certain cases, inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level at which the fair value measurement falls is determined based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability
being measured.

The following table presents the assets that are reported at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022, as well as the fair value of hierarchy of the valuation inputs used to measure fair
value. We did not have any assets that were reported at fair value as of December 31, 2021. We did not have any liabilities to report at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022.

December 31, 2022 Carrying Fair Value Measurements Using

(In thousands) Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Loans held for sale $ 11,593 $ — $ — $ 11,593
Loans held for investment 83,143 — — 83,143
Total measured $ 94,736  $ — 3 — 3 94,736

The estimated fair value for our business purpose loans is determined using the discounted cash flow model (“DCF”) to estimate the net present value of the future cash flows expected from each
loan. For performing loans, the DCF is based on the future expected cash flows of each loan in accordance with its contractual terms net of the strip component. Cash flows for performing loans with
construction holdbacks incorporate the draws to complete the required improvements to the underlying property securing the loan. For nonaccrual loans, the estimated cash flows are based on the
current fair value of the collateral of the loans, in which the Company will utilize a third-party appraisal to determine the fair value (Level 3).

On a loan by loan basis, the weighted average discount rate range utilized for the DCF applied to the net yield to be received by the Company was 11.4% which is greater than the overall yield on the
portfolio of 7.7%, resulting in the decrease in value of the portfolio at December 31, 2022. The determination of the discount rate was based on analysis of the current interest rates charged for
business purpose loans in conjunction with the increase in rates for other underlying base rates such as the 10-year U.S. treasury bond and the 30 day Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR")
(Level 3).

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had no securities outstanding. We did not transfer any assets from one level to another level during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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5. Equity Securities
Investment gains/losses for December 31, 2022 and 2021, are summarized as follows ($ in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
Equity securities:
Investment gains on securities sold during the period $ —  $ 8,347
— 8,347
Front Yard common stock:
Investment gains on securities sold during the period — 146
= 146
Total change in fair value of equity securities and Front Yard common stock $ — 5 8,493

Investment gains and losses include unrealized gains and losses from changes in fair values during the period on positions that we owned in 2021. As reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows, total proceeds from sales of securities during December 31, 2021 was $152.8 million which consisted of proceeds from sales of Front Yard common stock of $47.5 million and $105.3 million
in proceeds from sales of securities. No proceeds from sales of securities were received in 2022 because no investments were held. In the preceding table, investment gains/losses on equity securities
sold during the period reflect the difference between the sales proceeds and the fair value of the equity securities sold at the beginning of the applicable period.

6. Borrowings

In December 2022, the Company entered into a $50.0 million Master Repurchase Agreement (the "NexBank Line") with NexBank, as the buyer. The Company uses the proceeds from the NexBank
Line to fund the acquisition and origination of business purpose loans (the "Loans") secured by residential, multifamily and certain commercial properties. Each draw on the NexBank Line can be
outstanding up to 180 days. NexBank has a security interest in the Loans subject to a transaction under the NexBank Line. The NexBank Line's maturity is 364 days from the execution date. The
carrying value of the NexBank Line approximates its fair value as of December 31, 2022 due to its short-term nature and floating interest rate terms.

The NexBank Line accrues interest at a equal to the greater of (a) the 1 month Term SOFR rate plus a spread dependent on three and on-half percent (3.50%) or (b) four and one-quarter (4.25%). The
average borrowing rate was 5.60% and weighted average remaining term is 156 days as of December 31, 2022. NexBank Line’s outstanding balance is $9.2 million and is collateralized by $10.4
million in Loans at December 31, 2022.

The NexBank Line provides for certain affirmative and negative covenants applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company is required to maintain financial covenants including
specified levels of: 1) maximum debt to net worth ratio; 2) minimum current ratio; and 3) minimum liquidity. The NexBank Line also contains events of default (subject to certain materiality
thresholds and grace periods), including payment defaults, breaches of covenants and representations and warranties, cross defaults, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings and other events of default
which are customary for this type of transaction. The remedies for such events of default include the acceleration of the principal amount outstanding under the NexBank Line and the liquidation of
Loans subject to a transaction. The Company was in compliance with all covenants and there were no defaults as of December 31, 2022.

In August 2022, the Company entered into a $50.0 million Master Repurchase Agreement (the “Flagstar Line”) with Flagstar Bank FSB (“Flagstar”), a federal savings bank, as a buyer and
administrative agent. The Company uses the proceeds from the Flagstar Line to fund the acquisition and origination of Loans secured by residential, multifamily and certain commercial properties.
Each draw on the Flagstar Line can be outstanding up to 180 days. Flagstar has a security interest in the Loans subject to a transaction under the Flagstar Line and requires the Company to maintain
restricted cash of $2 million in a Flagstar deposit account. The Flagstar Line's maturity is 364 days from the execution date. The carrying value of the Flagstar Line approximates its fair value as of
December 31, 2022 due to its short-term nature and floating interest rate terms.
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The Flagstar Line accrues interest at a base 1-Month Term SOFR rate plus a spread dependent upon the type of Loan subject to a transaction. Interest is payable at 90 days. The Company also incurs a
fee on the unused portion of the $50.0 million if the average outstanding balance of the Flagstar Line is less than a threshold level of the total commitment. The average borrowing rate was 7.30% and
weighted average remaining term is 134 days as of December 31, 2022. Flagstar Line’s outstanding balance is $42.5 million and is collateralized by $57.4 million in Loans at December 31, 2022.

The Flagstar Line provides for certain affirmative and negative covenants applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company is required to maintain financial covenants including specified
levels of: 1) quarter-end tangible net worth; 2) quarter-end liquidity; 3) a quarter-end ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth; and 4) minimum profitability requirements in 2023. The Flagstar
Line also contains events of default (subject to certain materiality thresholds and grace periods), including payment defaults, breaches of covenants and representations and warranties, cross defaults,
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings and other events of default which are customary for this type of transaction. The remedies for such events of default include the acceleration of the principal
amount outstanding under the Flagstar Line and the liquidation of Loans subject to a transaction. The Company was in compliance with all covenants and there were no defaults as of December 31,
2022.

In 2021, the Company began borrowing under a standard margin arrangement with our banking institution. The margin account was secured by the securities held in our brokerage account with this
institution. We paid interest on all of our borrowings each month when a balance was owed. All indebtedness on the margin agreement was paid off as of December 31, 2021.

7. Leases

We lease office space under operating leases in Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, Tampa, Florida and Bengaluru, India.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, our weighted average remaining lease term, including applicable extensions, was 3.8 years and 5.1 years, respectively, and we applied a discount rate of 7.0% and
7.0%, respectively, to our office leases. We determined the discount rate for each lease to be either the discount rate stated in the lease agreement or our estimated rate that we would charge to finance
real estate assets.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we recognized rent expense of $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, related to long-term operating leases. We had no short-term rent
expense in 2022 or 2021. We include rent expense as a component of general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We had no finance leases during the years

ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

The following table presents a maturity analysis of our operating leases as of December 31, 2022 ($ in thousands):

Operating Lease Liabilities

2022 $ 468
2023 330
2024 311
2025 321
2026 76

Total lease payments 1,506
Less: interest 183

Lease liabilities $ 1,323

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation, claims and assessments
From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Set forth below is a summary of material legal proceedings to which we are a

party as of December 31, 2022:

Litigation regarding Luxor Capital Group, LP and certain of its managed funds and accounts (""Luxor")

Please refer to Note 1 — Section Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in 2014 Private Placement.
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Executive Arbitrations
Former Chief Executive Officer, Indroneel Chatterjee

On May 3, 2021, Mr. Chatterjee, commenced an arbitration against the Company and each of its directors. The arbitration complaint alleges that the Company’s April 16, 2021 for cause termination
of Mr. Chatterjee was in breach of Mr. Chatterjee’s Amended and Restated Employment Agreement and made extra contractual claims against the Company for not affording Mr. Chatterjee a “fair
procedure” and placed him in a “false light” by disclosing Mr. Chatterjee’s termination in its public announcement of the for cause termination. In addition, the arbitration complaint also asserts a tort
claim against each of the Company’s directors relating to that termination and against the Company for its April 16, 2021 public announcement of the for cause termination. Mr. Chatterjee’s
arbitration complaint seeks unspecified damages for his contract claims including for loss of income, stock and bonus, and punitive damages on his tort claims. On June 10, 2021, the Company and
its directors responded to the arbitration complaint and advanced counterclaims against Mr. Chatterjee. On October 20, 2021, the arbitrator granted the Company’s motion to dismiss with respect to
Mr. Chatterjee’s “fair procedure” and “false light” claims, but denied the motion to dismiss the tort claim against each of the directors. Following the close of discovery on July 11, 2022, the
Company moved for summary judgment seeking dismissal of Mr. Chatterjee's remaining claims against the Company and against its directors, and further seeking entry of judgment on the majority
of the Company's counterclaims. On July 21, 2022, the Company and its directors filed a motion alleging that Mr. Chatterjee had engaged in fraud and seeking as sanctions for that abuse both the
dismissal of all of Mr. Chatterjee's claims and the payment of the Company's legal fees resulting from that alleged abuse. Following briefing by all parties on the summary judgment and sanction
motions, on October 19, 2022, the arbitrator found that Mr. Chatterjee engaged in serious and repeated misconduct, attempting to perpetrate a fraud on the arbitrator and the Company and accordingly
(i) dismissed all of Mr. Chatterjee's remaining claims, both as a sanction for his misconduct and, independently, on the merits of the Respondents' motion for summary judgment; (ii) granted summary
judgment on one of the Company's counterclaims requiring Mr. Chatterjee to pay the Company $400,000 (the return of half of his initial signing bonus); and, (iii) ordered that Mr. Chatterjee, as a
further sanction for his misconduct, reimburse the Company for all expenses it incurred directly and solely as a result of his misconduct (which dollar amount has not yet been set). On December 29,
2022, the arbitrator entered a final order which granted an additional award of fees and costs to the Company in the amount of over $1 million, bringing the Company's total judgment against Mr.
Chatterjee to approximately $1.6 million. In the arbitrator's final award, he also included the amounts he had previously awarded to the Company in his October 19, 2022 order, which were $400,000
plus interest at the U.S. Virgin Islands' 9.0% statutory rate for contractual claims (since Mr. Chatterjee's termination on April 16, 2021) and approximately $140,000 as reimbursement to the Company
for all expenses the Company incurred directly and soley as a result of Mr. Chatterjee's misconduct in the arbitration. The Company intends to enforce the judgment against Mr. Chatterjee.

Erbey Holding Corporation et al. v. Blackrock Management Inc., et al.

On April 12, 2018, a partial stockholder derivative action was filed in the Superior Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix under the caption Erbey Holding Corporation, et al. v. Blackrock
Financial Management Inc., et al. The action was filed by Erbey Holding Corporation (“Erbey Holding”), John R. Erbey Family Limited Partnership (“JREFLP”), by its general partner Jupiter
Capital, Inc., Salt Pond Holdings, LLC (“Salt Pond”), Munus, L.P. (“Munus”), Carisma Trust (“Carisma”), by its trustee, Venia, LLC, and Tribue Limited Partnership (collectively, the “Plaintiffs”)
each on its own behalf and Salt Pond and Carisma derivatively on behalf of AAMC. The action was filed against Blackrock Financial Management, Inc., Blackrock Investment Management, LLC,
Blackrock Investments, LLC, Blackrock Capital Management, Inc., Blackrock, Inc. (collectively, “Blackrock”), Pacific Investment Management Company LLC, PIMCO Investments LLC
(collectively, “PIMCO”) and John and Jane Does 1-10 (collectively with Blackrock and PIMCO, the “Defendants”). The action alleges a conspiracy by Blackrock and PIMCO to harm Ocwen
Financial Corporation (“Ocwen”) and AAMC and certain of their subsidiaries, affiliates and related companies and to extract enormous profits at the expense of Ocwen and AAMC by attempting to
damage their operations, business relationships and reputations. The complaint alleges that Defendants’ conspiratorial activities, which included short-selling activities, were designed to destroy
Ocwen and AAMC, and that the Plaintiffs (including AAMC) suffered significant injury, including but not limited to lost value of their stock and/or stock holdings. The action seeks, among other
things, an award of monetary damages to AAMC, including treble damages under Section 605, Title IV of the Virgin Islands Code related to the Criminally Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act,
punitive damages and an award of attorney’s and other fees and expenses.

Defendants have moved to dismiss the first amended verified complaint on various alleged grounds, including that the Court allegedly lacks personal jurisdiction over Defendants. Plaintiffs and
AAMC have opposed Defendants’ motions and have also moved for leave to file a second amended verified complaint to include AAMC as a direct plaintiff, rather than as a derivative party. On
March 27, 2019, the Court held oral argument on Defendants' motions to dismiss the first amended verified complaint and Plaintiffs' motion for leave to file the second amended verified complaint.
The Court held additional oral argument on the
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pending motions on October 25, 2021. Plaintiffs have repeatedly requested the Court to decide the pending motions and issue a scheduling order permitting discovery to proceed.
On October 11, 2022, the Court appointed a Staff Master to decide, or issue a recommended decision on, the pending motions, including the motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction.

On February 1, 2023, Plaintiffs and AAMC filed a petition for mandamus with the United States Virgin Islands Supreme Court seeking an order directing the Superior Court to issue a decision on the
personal jurisdiction issue and to permit discovery to proceed.

On March 3, 2023, the Staff Master held a hearing to discuss the pending motions to dismiss. At the hearing, he indicated that a recommended decision on the pending motions (which would need to
be confirmed or rejected by the Court) could be expected in late March or early April, 2023.

At this time, we are not able to predict the ultimate outcome of this matter, nor can we estimate the range of possible damages to be awarded to AAMC, if any. As such, we have not recorded a gain
contingency for this matter at December 31, 2022 or 2021, respectively.

9. Incentive Compensation and Share-based Payments

Long-term incentive compensation

Our officers and employees participate in an annual non-equity incentive program whereby they are eligible for incentive cash payments based on a percentage of their annual base salary. Our officers
generally have a target annual non-equity incentive payment percentage that ranges from 50% to 200% of base salary. The officer's actual incentive payment for the year is determined by (i) the
Company's performance versus the objectives established by our Board of Directors (80%) and (ii) a performance appraisal (20%).

Share-based Payments

Certain executive officers and employees have and will receive grants of stock options and/or restricted stock under the 2012 and 2020 Equity Incentive Plans, collectively (the "Equity Incentive
Plans"). The Equity Incentive Plans also allow for the grant of performance awards and other awards such as purchase rights, equity appreciation rights, shares of common stock awarded without
restrictions or conditions, convertible securities, exchangeable securities or other rights convertible or exchangeable into shares of common stock, as the Compensation Committee in its discretion
may determine.

2012 Special Equity Incentive Plan

A special grant of stock options and restricted stock was made to certain employees of Altisource Portfolio Solutions N.A. (“ASPS”) related to our separation from ASPS under the 2012 Special
Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Special Plan”). We included no share-based compensation in our consolidated financial statements for the portion of these grants made to ASPS employees. The

shares of restricted stock became fully vested and were issued during 2017.

Dividends received on restricted stock are forfeitable and are accumulated until the time of vesting at the same rate and on the same date as on shares of common stock. Upon the vesting of stock
options and restricted stock, we may withhold up to the statutory minimum to satisfy the resulting employee tax obligation.

Stock options

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we recorded zero and approximately $21,000 compensation expense related to grants of stock options, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the activity of our outstanding options:
‘Weighted Average Exercise

Number of Options Price per Share
December 31, 2020 67,225 12.13
Forfeited/expired (1) (61,375) 12.87
December 31, 2021 5,850 4.36
Exercised (2) (5,850) $ 4.36

December 31, 2022 —

(1) 1,000 stock options expired on July 18, 2021 and 375 expired on July 21, 2021. All forfeited and expired options had a weighted average exercise price of $12.87.
(2) 5,850 stock options were exercised on March 12, 2022 with a weighted average exercise price of $4.36.

As of December 31, 2022, we had no outstanding options issued under all of our share-based compensation plans or as inducement awards.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 5,850 outstanding options issued under all of our share-based compensation plans or as inducement awards, with a weighted average exercise price of $4.36,
weighted average remaining life of 0.2 years and intrinsic value of $0.1 million. All options were exercised in March 2022.

Restricted stock

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we granted a total of 22,500 shares of service-based restricted stock to members of management with a weighted average grant date value per share of
$9.89. These shares of service-based restricted stock awards were granted either as inducement awards or under our Equity Incentive Plans. These grants were to vest in three equal installments based
on the grant date(s), subject to forfeiture or acceleration.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we granted a total of 90,671 shares of service-based restricted stock to members of management. Of which, 82,671 shares of service-based restricted stock
awards were issued with a weighted average grant date fair value per share of $26.25 which vested immediately. An additional 8,000 shares were issued with a weighted average grant date value per
share of $21.58. These additional shares of service-based restricted stock awards were granted either as inducement awards or under our Equity Incentive Plans. These grants will vest in three equal
annual installments based on the grant date(s), subject to forfeiture or acceleration.

We recorded $0.2 million and $1.8 million of compensation expense related to these grants for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we
had $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively, of total unrecognized share-based compensation cost to be recognized over a weighted average remaining estimated term of 1.1 years and 1.2 years,
respectively.

Additionally, our Directors each receive annual grants of restricted stock equal to $60,000 based on the market value of our common stock at the time of the annual stockholders meeting. This
restricted stock vests on the date of the next Annual Meeting of Stockholders following the date of grant, service period subject to each Director attending at least 75% of the Board and committee
meetings. No dividends are paid on the shares until the award is issued. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we granted 8,571 and 7,236 shares of stock, respectively, pursuant to
our Equity Incentive Plans with a weighted average grant date fair value per share of $21.00 and $24.88, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the activity of our restricted stock:
Weighted Average Grant Date

Number of Shares Fair Value
December 31, 2020 129,380 24.32
Granted 97,907 25.77
Vested (1) (162,051) 14.50
Forfeited/expired (50,000) 14.35
December 31, 2021 15,236 23.15
Granted 31,071 12.95
Vested (1) (9,903) 23.99
December 31, 2021 36,404 $ 14.22

(1) The vesting date fair value of restricted stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 was $0.2 million and $2.1 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock reserved for future issuance. We may issue new shares or issue shares from treasury shares upon the exercise of stock options or
the vesting of restricted stock.

December 31, 2022
Stock options outstanding _
Possible future issuances under share-based compensation plans 91,217
91,217

As of December 31, 2022, we had 1,567,706 remaining shares of common stock, excluding treasury shares, authorized to be issued under our charter.

10. Income Taxes

We are domiciled in the USVT and are obligated to pay taxes to the USVI on our income. We applied for tax benefits from the USVI Economic Development Commission (“EDC”) and received our
certificate of benefits (“the EDC Certificate”), effective as of February 1, 2013. Pursuant to the Certificate, so long as we comply its provisions, we will receive a 90% tax reduction on our USVI-
sourced income until 2043. By letter dated September 16, 2022, the EDC approved a temporary waiver (the "Waiver") of the Company's minimum employment requirements to five full-time USVI
employees for the period from July 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.

At December 31, 2022, the Company met the minimum employment requirements required under the provisions of the Waiver. Additionally, the Company hired Jason Kopcak as President and Chief
Operating Officer, now Chief Executive Officer, in May 2022, and he has relocated to the USVL.

Beginning on January 1, 2017, AAMC US, Inc., a domestic U.S. corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary, began operations. This entity is based entirely in the mainland U.S. and is subject to U.S.
federal and state corporate income tax.

The following  table sets forth the components of income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (6] in thousands):
Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
U.S. Virgin Islands $ (15,584) $ (8,879)
Other — (65)
Loss before income taxes $ (15,584) $ (8,944)
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations is summarized as follows ($ in thousands):

Current
Federal
State
International
Total current tax expense
Deferred
Federal
State
International
Total deferred tax expense (benefit)

Total tax expense

The following table sets forth the components of our total deferred tax assets ($ in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Stock compensation
Accrued expenses
Net operating losses (1)
Lease liabilities
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liability:
Right-of-use lease assets
Investments
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance

Deferred tax asset, net

(1) Net operating loss (“NOL”) carry-forwards for tax years prior to 2018 expire in 2037. Beginning with 2018, NOLs are carried forward indefinitely.
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Year ended December 31,

2022 2021

195 4,378
4 _
55 203
254 4,581
94 (1,281)
2 _
= (27)
96 (1,308)
350 3,273

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
2 2
84 24
1,109 637
54 14
76 1
1,325 678
53 13
6 _
59 13
1,266 665
(1,266) (498)
— 167

The change in deferred tax assets is included in changes in other assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The significant factors contributing to the increase in our valuation
allowance in 2022 are due to increases in the temporary differences attributable to net operating losses, accrued compensation, and unrealized losses.

ASC 740 requires that the tax benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences and credit carryforwards be recorded as an asset to the extent that management assesses that realization is "more
likely than not." Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on the Company's ability to generate sufficient taxable income within the carryforward period. AAMC has historically been in a
three-year cumulative loss position with the exception of 2020 due to the recognition of the Termination Fee payments as income that year. Removing this income from the analysis results in
cumulative three-year book losses as of December 31, 2022. The Company believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefit of its net deferred tax assets. As such,
the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance in 2022 against its net deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance increased by $768 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the statutory USVI income tax rate from continuing operations to our effective income tax rate:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
U.S. Virgin Islands income tax rate 23.1 % 23.1 %
EDC benefits in the USVI (19.5) (48.2)
Foreign tax rate differential (0.2) (0.2)
Subpart F income — (18.5)
Permanent and other (0.5) (1.6)
Share-based compensation — (0.2)
Valuation allowance 4.9) 4.8)
Foreign Tax Credit — 13.6
Other Adjustments (0.3) —
Effective income tax rate (2.3)% (36.8)%

During the tax years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we recognized no interest or penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had accrued no
unrecognized tax benefits or associated interest and penalties.

AAMC believes that the tax positions taken in the AAMC tax returns satisfy the more-likely-than-not threshold for benefit recognition. Furthermore, a review of the AAMC entity trial balances
suggests that AAMC has appropriately addressed the material book-tax differences. AAMC is confident that the amounts claimed (or expected to be claimed) in the tax returns reflect the largest
amount of such benefits that are greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Accordingly, no ASC 740-10-25 liabilities have been recorded by the Company as a result
of ASC 740-10-25.

We remain subject to tax examination in the USVI for tax years 2019 to 2022 and in the United States for tax years 2019 to 2022.
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11. Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the components of diluted loss per share (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
Numerator
Continuing_operations:
Net loss from continuing operations $ (15,934) $ (12,217)
Gain on preferred stock transactions 5,122 87,961
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations — net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders ~ $ (10,812) $ 75,744
Discontinued operations:
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS from discontinued operations - net gain from discontinued operations $ — 6,213
Total:
Net loss $ (15,934) $ (6,004)
Gain on preferred stock transactions 5,122 87,961
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS - net income attributable to common stockholders (10,812) 81,957
Denominator
Weighted average common stock outstanding — basic 1,917,503 2,002,111
Weighted average common stock outstanding — diluted 1,917,503 2,162,378

Earnings (loss) per share of common stock — basic:
Continuing operations - basic $ (5.64) $ 37.83

Discontinued operations - basic 3.11
Earnings per basic common share $ (5.64) $ 40.94
Earnings (loss) per share of common stock — diluted:

Continuing operations - diluted $ (5.64) $ 35.03
Discontinued operations - diluted — 2.87
Earnings per diluted common share $ (5.64) $ 37.90

We excluded the items presented below from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they were antidilutive for the periods indicated, as the Company had a net loss from continuing operations
for each period presented ($ in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
Denominator
Stock options — —
Restricted stock 16,965 —
Preferred stock, if converted 115,434 —

12. Segment Information

Our primary business prior to December 31, 2020 was to provide asset management and certain corporate governance services to institutional investors. Because substantially all of our revenue was
derived from the services we provided to Front Yard, we previously operated as a single segment focused on providing asset management and corporate governance services.
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Currently, ALG is our primary segment which we will be growing in 2023.

13. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated the impact of all subsequent events to December 31, 2022 and through the issuance of these consolidated financial statements. Management has determined that there were
no subsequent events requiring adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.
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TERMS ANNEX
to Master Repurchase Agreement
between
Altisource Asset Management Corporation, Grapetree Lending LLC
and NexBank

This Terms Annex sets forth certain fees, commitments, pricing information and other
matters relating to the agreement between NexBank, as Buyer (“Buyer”) and Altisource Asset
Management Corporation and Grapetree Lending LLC, as Sellers (collectively the “Seller” or
“Sellers”) pursuant to which Seller engages Buyer to enter into reverse repurchase arrangements
whereby Seller from time to time sells to Buyer, and simultaneously agrees to repurchase on a date
certain or on demand, certain first lien mortgage loans (the “Mortgage Loans™) pursuant to the
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of December 2, 2022 (the “Agreement’) between Buyer
and Seller. This is the “Terms Annex” as defined and referred to in the Agreement. Capitalized
terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings provided in the Agreement.

Grapetree Lending LLC will be jointly and severally responsible for all acts, obligations,
rights, and liabilities of Altisource Asset Management Corporation in connection with this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, any breach of this Agreement by Altisource Asset
Management Corporation will be deemed a breach by Grapetree Lending LLC. Additionally,
Altisource Asset Management Corporation will be jointly and severally responsible for all acts,
obligations, rights, and liabilities of Grapetree Lending LLC in connection with this Agreement,
including, but not limited to, any breach of this Agreement by Grapetree Lending LLC will be
deemed a breach by Altisource Asset Management Corporation.

All provisions, as amended, supplemented, or restated, under the Terms Annex and the
Agreement pertaining to Altisource Asset Management Corporation will have full force and effect
as to Grapetree Lending LLC as Seller, including, but not limited to, Applicability, Definitions,
Initiation; Confirmations; Stale Purchased Loans; Termination, Margin Maintenance, Accounts;
Income Payments, Security Interest; Assignment of Takeout Commitments, Conditions Precedent,
Segregation of Documents Relating to Purchased Mortgage Loans, Representations and
Warranties, Seller's Covenants, Events of Default; Remedies, Servicing Rights Are Owned by
Buyer; Interim Servicing of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, Notices and Other Communications,
Fees and Expenses; Indemnity, Shipment to Approved Takeout Investor; Trust Release Letters,
Further Assurances, Buyer as Attorney-in-Fact, Wire Instructions, Entire Agreement; Severability,
Assignments; Termination, Counterparts, Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury
Trial, No Waiver, Etc., Use of Employee Plan Assets, Intent, Disclosure Related to Federal
Protections, Confidentiality, Setoff, Waiver of Special Damages, USA Patriot Act Notification,
and Tex. Bus. & Comm. Code §26.02 NOTICE.

Furthermore, all supplemental terms or conditions in the Terms Annex and in the
Exhibits to this Agreement, as supplemented, amended or restated from time to time, applicable to
Altisource Asset Management Corporation will have full force and effect as to Grapetree Lending
LLC as Seller.

Buyer and Seller agree, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which is hereby acknowledged, as follows:

Terms Annex — Page i
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1. Commitment.

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, Buyer agrees to enter into
Transactions from time to time under the Agreement, as supplemented by this Terms Annex, with
respect to Eligible Mortgage Loans having a maximum aggregate Purchase Price outstanding at
any one time of $ 50,000,000 (such maximum amount, the “Facility Amount™) from the date hereof
until the Termination Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller shall be
permitted to use the Facility Amount for Transactions involving Mortgage Property consisting of
Fix and Flip properties and small balance five-to-twenty-five multifamily units.

2. Seller.

Seller Altisource Asset Management Corporation is a corporation.
Seller Grapetree Lending LLC is a limited liability company.

3. Additional Definitions.

As used in the Agreement, including this Terms Annex, or in the other Transaction
Documents, the following terms have the following meanings. In the event of any conflict between
the definition of a term in this Terms Annex and a definition elsewhere in this Agreement, the
definition in this Terms Annex shall govern and control. Terms not defined herein are defined in
the Agreement.

“Buyer’s Inbound Wire Account” means the following NexBank deposit account:

Bank: NexBank
2515 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1100
Dallas Texas 75201

ABA Number: | ]

Account Name: [ ]

Account Number:

Attention: | ]

“Controlling Owner” means none,
“Eligible Mortgage Loan” means, on any date of determination, a Mortgage Loan:

(i) for which each of the representations and warranties set forth on Exhibit B
to the Agreement are true and correct as of such date of determination;

(ii)  which is a Mortgage Loan of a type identified as an Approved Loan Type
on Exhibit M to the Agreement. The types of Mortgage Loans identified as an Approved
Loan Type on Exhibit M may be changed by Buyer, in its sole discretion, at any time by
providing written notice to Seller;

(iii)  which is a Correspondent Closed Loan or is a Mortgage Loan whose
Funding Date was no earlier than the Business Day next preceding its Purchase Date, unless
Buyer, on a case-by-case basis, shall approve in writing a later day;
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(iv)  which is a DSCR Loan or a Mortgage Loan where the underlying borrower
qualified for their mortgage accounting using investment earnings rather than their personal
mcome;

(v) whose Origination Date was no earlier than the Business Day next
preceding its Purchase Date, unless Buyer, on a case-by-case basis, shall approve in writing
a later day;

(vi)  which has not been sold or pledged under any other Mortgage Loan
warchousing facility at, or at any time since, its Origination, unless Buyer, on a case-by-
case basis, shall approve the previously sold or pledged Mortgage Loan;

(vii)  which has a scheduled Repurchase Date not later than ninety (90) days after
the Purchase Date, excepting Mortgage Loans subject to the Term Sublimit;

(viii) which does not have a Loan-to-Value Ratio in excess of the Maximum LTV
permitted by the applicable Agency Guidelines

(ix)  for which a complete Loan File has been delivered to Buyer, or, in the case
of a Wet Loan, for which all items listed in items (i) through (iv) of the definition of Loan
File have been delivered to Buyer:;

(x) which is not a Mortgage Loan that Seller has failed to repurchase when
required by the terms of this Agreement;

(xi)  for which the related Mortgage Note has not been out of the possession of
Buyer pursuant to a Trust Release Letter for more than five (5) Business Days after the
date of that Trust Release Letter:

(xii)  for which neither the related Mortgage Note nor the Mortgage has been out
of the possession of Buyer pursuant to a Bailee Letter for more than the number of days
specified in such Bailee Letter;

(xiii) which is not a Defaulted Loan; and

(xiv) which Buyer has approved for purchase herecunder by notice (verbal or
written) to Seller.
“Guarantor” means none.
“Key Person” means Jason Kopcak.

“Maximum LTV” means the maximum Loan-to-Value Ratio permitted for a Mortgage
Loan to be an Eligible Mortgage Loan.

“Maximum Leverage Ratio” means [ ]
“Minimum Current Ratio” means [ |

“Minimum Liquidity” means | |
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“Minimum Net Income™ means greater than [ ] Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary herein, Minimum Net Income covenant is waived for 2022 and is to be
tested quarterly beginning Q1 2023 and build to TTM.

“Minimum Net Worth™ means | ] ATNW (ATNW = Total assets less Total
liabilities).
“Maximum Trust Release Amount™ means | | of the Facility Amount.

“Permitted Dividend Percentage” No Restrictions

“Required Amount” means none, the amount required to be deposited into the Cash
Pledge Account by Paragraph 5(b) (and subparagraph 7(a)(vi)) of the Agreement.

“Seller’s Operating Account” means the following NexBank deposit account:

Bank: NexBank

Address: 2515 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1100, Dallas Texas 75201
ABA Number: | |

Account Name: | |

Account Number: | ]

Reference: [ |

4, Seller’s Subsidiaries. Grapetree Lending LLC is a wholly owned Subsidiary of Altisource
Asset Management Corporation.

tn

Seller’s Names. The only names used by Altisource Asset Management Corporation in
its tax returns for the past ten (10) years are: Altisource Asset Management Corporation.

The only names used by Grapetree Lending LLC in its tax returns for the past ten (10)
years are: Grapetree Lending LLC.

6. Interim Servicing. Buyer hereby engages Seller to interim service the Purchased
Mortgage Loans as contemplated by Paragraph 12 of the Agreement.

7. Purchase Price.

For purposes of the Agreement and all other Transaction Documents, “Purchase Price”
means, on any date:

(i) for any Eligible Mortgage Loan that will be repurchased by Seller and sold to NexBank,
| ] of the lowest of (i) the Outstanding Principal Balance of such Mortgage
Loan on such date, (ii) the Market Value of such Mortgage Loan on such date and (iii) the
Takeout Value for such Mortgage Loan on such date; or

(ii) for any Eligible Mortgage Loan that will be repurchased by Seller and sold to an
Approved Investor other than NexBank, [ ] of the lowest of (i) the Outstanding
Principal Balance of such Mortgage Loan on such date, (ii) the Market Value of such Mortgage
Loan on such date and (iii) the Takeout Value for such Mortgage Loan on such date.
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(iii) for any Non-QM or DSCR Eligible Mortgage Loan that will be repurchased by Seller and

sold to an Approved Investor other than NexBank, [ ] of the lowest of

(i) the Outstanding Principal Balance of such Mortgage Loan on such date, (ii) the Market Value

of such Mortgage Loan on such date and (iii) the Takeout Value for such Mortgage Loan on such
date.

(iv) for any Eligible Mortgage Loan for Transactions involving Mortgage Property
consisting of Fix and Flip property or small balance five (5) to twenty-five (25) multifamily
units that will be repurchased by Seller and sold to an Approved Investor other than NexBank,
[ | of the lowest of (i) the Outstanding Principal Balance of such Mortgage Loan on
such date, (ii) the Market Value of such Mortgage Loan on such date and (iii) the Takeout Value
for such Mortgage Loan on such date.

8. Pricing Rate,

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, for Term Sublimit Purchased Mortgage
Loans as of any date of determination for each day during the peried from such Term Sublimit
Purchased Mortgage Loan’s Purchase Date, a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) the 1 Month
CME Term SOFR rate plus [ ] and (b) [ ], but not to exceed the
Ceiling Rate for that day.

9. Maximum LTV,

The Maximum LTV for:

(a) a Conventional Conforming Loan is [ ]; and
(b) a Government Loan is | I:

(or, in each case, such other percentage as shall be determined by Buyer in its sole discretion and
specified in a written notice from Buyer to Seller from time to time).

10. Permitted Debt. As provided for in subparagraph 10(q)(vi) of the Agreement, Buyer

consents to the following existing Debt of Seller:

No restrictions.

11. Underwriting Fee.

Seller shall pay to Buyer on the date hereof a (the “Underwriting Fee”) of [ ]. The
Underwriting Fee is not refundable in whole or in part for any reason whatsoever.

12. Margin Percentage.

For purposes of the Agreement and all other Transaction Documents, “Margin
Percentage” means, on any date (i) [ | for Purchased Mortgage Loans that will be
repurchased by Seller and sold to NexBank and [ | for Purchased Mortgage
Loans that will be repurchased by Seller and sold to an Approved Takeout Investor other than
NexBank,
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13. Wire Transfer Fee.

Seller shall pay to Buyer a fee of [ ] for each Purchased Mortgage Loan whose purchase
by Buyer is funded by a wire transfer to a Seftlement Agent.

14. Non-Usage Fee.

None

15. Package and Funding Fee.

Seller shall pay to Buyer an amount (the “Package and Funding Fee”) equal to (i) [ ]
for each Purchased Mortgage Loan repurchased by Seller for sale to any Approved
Takeout Investor other than NexBank or (ii) [ | for each Purchased Mortgage Loan
repurchased by Seller for sale to NexBank, plus Buyer’s standard wire transfer and shipping
fees, as applicable, due and payable on the Repurchase Date for each such Purchased Mortgage
Loan. Package and Funding Fees are not refundable in whole or in part for any reason
whatsoever.

16. Change in Facility Amount:; Calculation of Fees.

(a) In the event that the Agreement is amended pursuant to its terms so as to increase
or decrease the Facility Amount, all calculations of fees under this Terms Annex that are based on
the Facility Amount shall be adjusted accordingly as of the date such amendment becomes effective.

(b) Buyer shall calculate the amount of the Pricing Rate, and the Non-Usage Fee and
the results of such calculations shall be incontestable absent manifest error. Buyer shall advise
Seller of the periodic amounts of such rate and fees at least one (1) Business Day before payment
is due.

17. Depository Relationship.

Seller agrees to establish and maintain a significant banking depository and disbursement
relationship with Buyer.

18. Controlling Agreement.

In the event of any inconsistency between the terms and provisions contained herein and
those in the Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Terms Annex shall govern.

19. Additional Fees.

All fees payable pursuant to this Terms Annex are in addition to any fees, expenses and
indemnification amounts payable pursuant to the terms of the Agreement.
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20. Confidentiality.

Buyer and Seller agree that this Terms Annex, the documents referred to herein or relating
hereto and the transactions contemplated hereby are confidential in nature and the parties agree
that, unless otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction, each shall limit the distribution
of such documents and the discussion of such transactions to such of its officers, employees,
attorneys, accountants and agents as is required in order to fulfill its obligations under such
documents and with respect to such transactions.
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MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT

Dated as of December 2, 2022

Between:

Altisource Asset Management Corporation and Grapetree Lending LLC, as Sellers
and

NexBank, as Buyer

1. Applicability

From time to time prior to the Termination Date, the parties hereto may enter into
transactions in which Altisource Asset Management Corporation and Grapetree Lending
LLC, as Sellers (collectively the “Seller” or “Sellers™) agree to transfer to NexBank (together
with its successors and assigns, “Buyer”) Mortgage Loans (including the Servicing Rights, as
defined below, to them) on a servicing released basis against the transfer of funds by Buyer, with
a simultancous agreement by Buyer to transfer to Seller those Mortgage Loans (including the
Servicing Rights to them) on a servicing released basis at a date certain or on demand, against the
transfer of funds by Seller. Each such transaction shall be referred to in this Agreement as a
“Transaction” and shall be governed by this Agreement. Buyer shall have no obligation to enter
into any Transaction on or after the Termination Date.

2. Definitions

“Accounts” means, collectively, the Cash Pledge Account, if required by Buyer, and
Seller’s Operating Account, any interest, additions and proceeds due or to become due on such
accounts, which accounts are held at Financial Institution and include all of the above described
deposits, deposit accounts, payment intangibles, financial assets and other obligations of Financial
Institution, whether they are deposit accounts, negotiable or non-negotiable or book entry
certificates of deposit, book entry investment time deposits, savings accounts, money market
accounts, transaction accounts, time deposits, negotiable order of withdrawal accounts, share draft
accounts, demand deposit accounts, instruments, general intangibles, chattel paper or otherwise,
and all funds held in or represented by any of the foregoing, and any successor accounts howsoever
numbered and all accounts issued in renewal, extension or increase or decrease of or replacement
or substitution for any of the foregoing; and all promissory notes, checks, cash, certificates of
deposit, passbooks, deposit receipts, instruments, certificates and other records from time to time
representing or evidencing the accounts described above and any supporting obligations relating
to any of the foregoing property.

“Act of Insolvency” means with respect to any Person (a) the commencement by that
Person as debtor of any case or proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
liquidation, dissolution or similar law, or a request by that Person for the appointment of a receiver,
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trustee, custodian or similar official for that Person or any substantial part of its property; (b) the
commencement of any such case or proceeding against that Person, or another’s seeking such
appointment, or the filing against that Person of an application for a protective decree which (i) is
consented to or not timely contested by that Person. or (ii) results in the entry of an order for relief,
such an appointment, the issuance of such a protective decree or the entry of an order having
similar effect, or (iii) is not dismissed within fifteen (15) days; (c) the making by that Person of a
general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (d) the admission in writing by that Person that it
is unable to pay its debts as they become due, or the nonpayment of its debts generally as they
become due; or (e) the board of directors, managers, members or partners, as the case may be, of
that Person taking any action in furtherance of any of the foregoing.

“Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans” means Mortgage Loans provided by Seller to
Buyer pursuant to Paragraph 4(a).

“Affiliate” means, as to a specified Person, any other Person (a) that directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the
specified Person; (b) that is a director, manager, trustee, general partner or executive officer of the
specified Person or serves in a similar capacity in respect of the specified Person; (c) that, directly
or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, is the beneficial owner of ten percent (10%) or
more of any class of equity securities of the specified Person; or (d) of which the specified Person
is directly or indirectly the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of any class of equity securities (or
equivalent equity interests).

“Agency” (and, with respect to two or more of the following, “Agencies””) means FHA,
Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac, RHS or VA.

“Agency Guidelines” means those requirements, standards and procedures which may be
adopted by the Agencies from time to time with respect to their purchase or guaranty of residential
mortgage loans, which requirements govern the Agencies’ willingness to purchase or guaranty
such loans.

“Aggregate Purchase Price” means, at any time, the sum of the Purchase Prices paid by
Buyer for all Purchased Mortgage Loans that are subject to Transactions outstanding at that time.

“Agreement” means this Master Repurchase Agreement (including the supplemental
terms or conditions contained in the Terms Annex and in the Exhibits to this Agreement), as
supplemented, amended or restated from time to time.

“Approved Takeout Investor” means any of (i) Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and any of the
other entities listed on Schedule I, as such schedule is updated from time to time by Buyer, in its
sole discretion, with written notice to Seller; (ii) NexBank, or (iii) an entity which is acceptable to
Buyer, as indicated by Buyer to Seller in writing; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing,
any entity described in the foregoing clauses (i) or (iii) that fails to perform any of its obligations
under its Takeout Agreement shall cease to be an Approved Takeout Investor upon such failure,

“Assignment of Mortgage” means an assignment of the Mortgage, notice of transfer or
equivalent instrument in recordable form sufficient under the laws of the jurisdiction wherein the
related Mortgaged Property is located to effect the transfer of the Mortgage to the party indicated
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therein. Each Assignment of Mortgage shall either (i) have the blank for the County Clerk’s File
Number of the deed of trust being assigned thereby completed, (ii) have the description of the
Mortgaged Property covered by that deed of trust attached as Exhibit A to such Assignment of
Mortgage or (iii) have both such File Number blank completed and such property description so
attached fo it.

“Authorized Signers” means each of the officers of Seller listed on Schedule II or
otherwise designated by the officer of Seller, as such schedule may be updated by Seller from time
to time with prior written notice to Buyer.

“Available Warehouse Facilities” means, at any time, the aggregate amount of used and
unused available warehouse lines of credit, purchase facilities, repurchase facilities and off-
balance sheet funding facilities (whether committed or uncommitted) available to Seller at such
time.

“Bailee Letter” means a bailee letter in the form attached hereto as Exhibit J or such other
form as is satisfactory to Buyer in its sole discretion.

“Bankruptey Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code (11 U.S.C. Paragraph 101
et seq.), as amended by the Bankruptcy Reform Act and as further amended from time to time, or
any successor statute.

“Bankruptcy Reform Act” means the Bankruptcy Abuse Prevention and Consumer
Protection Act of 20053, effective as of October 17, 2005.

“Blanket Bond and E&O Required Endorsement” means endorsement of Seller’s
mortgage banker’s blanket bond insurance policies to (i) provide that for any loss affecting Buyer’s
interest, Buyer will be named on the loss payable draft as its interest may appear and (ii) provide
Buyer access to coverage under the theft of secondary market institution’s money or collateral
clause of such banker’s blanket bond insurance policy.

“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) when (i) banks in Dallas,
Texas are generally open for commercial banking business and (ii) federal funds wire transfers can
be made.

“Cash Equivalents” means any of the following: (a) marketable direct obligations issued
by, or unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States Government or issued by any agency
thereof and backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, in each case maturing within
three (3) months or less after the date of the applicable financial statement reporting such amounts;
and (b) certificates of deposit, time deposits, or overnight bank deposits, issued by any commercial
bank organized under the laws of the United States, or any state thereof, whose deposits are insured
by the FDIC.

“Cash Pledge Account” means, if required by Buyer, the blocked Seller’s account (under
the sole dominion and control of Buyer) with NexBank styled as follows:

Altisource Asset Management Corporation
NexBank Bank Secured Party
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Cash Pledge Account

“Ceiling Rate™ means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the maximum nonusurious
rate of interest permitted for that day by whichever of applicable federal or Texas law permits the
higher interest rate. On each day, if any, that applicable Texas law establishes the Ceiling Rate,
the Ceiling Rate shall be a rate per annum equal to the “weekly ceiling” (as defined in §303 of the
Texas Finance Code — the “Texas Finance Code™ — as amended) for that day. Buyer may from
time to time, as to current and future balances, implement any other ceiling under the Texas
Finance Code by notice to Seller, if and to the extent permitted by, the Texas Finance Code.

“Change in Control” means either of the following events (a) the acquisition by any
Person, or two or more Persons acting in concert, of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of
Rule 13d-3 of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended) of outstanding shares of voting stock (or equivalent equity interests) of Seller
or Guarantor at any time if after giving effect to such acquisition such Person or Persons owns
fifty percent (50%) or more of such outstanding voting stock (or equivalent equity interests) or (b)
the Controlling Owner shall for any reason cease to own and control, directly or indirectly, all of
the outstanding equity interests of Seller.

“Change in Requirement of Law™ means (a) the adoption of a Requirement of Law after
the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in a Requirement of Law or (¢) compliance by Buyer
(or by any applicable lending office of Buyer) with any Requirement of Law made or issued after
the date of this Agreement.

“Completed Repurchase Advice” means with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan,
receipt by Buyer of:

(i) funds in an amount equal to or greater than the Repurchase Price of such Purchased
Mortgage Loan;

(ii) in the event that the funds described in clause (i) above are less than an amount equal
to the Repurchase Price of such Purchased Mortgage Loan, confirmation that funds in an amount
equal to such deficiency are on deposit in the Seller’s Operating Account and available for payment
to Buyer after taking into account all other payments required to be made by Seller out of funds
on deposit in the Seller’s Operating Account;

(i11) confirmation, in a form acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion, from the related
Approved Takeout Investor that the funds received by Buyer are for the purchase of that Purchased
Mortgage Loan; and

(iv) an updated Loan Purchase Detail from Seller showing the removal of that Purchased
Mortgage Loan from the list of Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to the outstanding Transactions
under this Agreement.

“Compliance Certificate” means a compliance certificate substantially in the form of
Exhibit C, completed, executed and submitted by Seller’s chief financial officer.
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“Confirmation” means a confirmation substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit A and delivered pursuant to Paragraph 3.

“Controlling Owner” is defined in the Terms Annex.

“Conventional Conforming Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which conforms to Agency
Guidelines. The term Conventional Conforming Loan shall not include a Mortgage Loan which
is a Government Loan.

“Credit File” means, with respect to a Mortgage Loan, all of the paper and documents
required to be maintained pursuant to the related Takeout Commitment, if a Takeout Commitment
is required by Buyer, and all other papers and records of whatever kind or description, whether
developed or created by Seller or others, required to Originate, document or service the Mortgage
Loan.

“Current Assets” means, with respect to any Person at any date, those assets set forth in
the consolidated balance sheet of the Person, prepared in accordance with GAAP, as current assets,
defined as those assets that are now cash or that, by their terms or disposition, will be converted
to cash within one year from the date of calculation.

“Current Liabilities” means, with respect to any Person at any date, those liabilities set
forth in the consolidated balance sheet of the Person, prepared in accordance with GAAP, as
current liabilities, defined as those liabilities due upon demand or within one year from the date of
calculation.

L1

“Current Ratio” means the sum of the amounts set forth in Seller’s balance sheet, prepared
in accordance with GAAP, as Current Assets divided by the sum of the amounts set forth in such
balance sheet as Current Liabilities.

“Debt” means, with respect to any Person, at any date (a) all indebtedness or other
obligations of such Person (and, if applicable, that Person’s Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis)
which, in accordance with GAAP, would be included in determining total liabilities as shown on
the liabilities side of a balance sheet of such Person at such date; and (b) all indebtedness or other
obligations of such Person (and, if applicable, that Person’s Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis)
for borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of property or services; provided that, for
purposes of this Agreement, loan loss reserves shall be excluded from Debt.

“Default” means any condition or event that, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or
both, would constitute an Event of Default.

“Defaulted Loan™ means a Mortgage Loan (i) as to which any payment, escrow payment,
or part thereof, remains unpaid for ninety (90) days or more from the original due date for such
payment (whether or not Seller has allowed any grace period or extended the due date thereof by
any means), (ii) as to which another material default has occurred and is continuing, including the
commencement of foreclosure proceedings; (iii) as to which an Act of Insolvency has occurred
with respect to its Mortgagor or any cosigner, guarantor, endorser, surety, assumptor or grantor,
or (iv) which, consistent with Seller’s collection policies, has been or should be written off as
uncollectible in whole or in part.
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“Defective Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan that is not an Eligible Mortgage
Loan.

“DSCR Loan” means a Debt Service Coverage Ratio Mortgage Loan where the underlying
borrower qualified for their mortgage using investment earnings, rather than their personal income.

“Early Repurchase Date” is defined in subparagraph 3(i)(ii).

“Electronic Tracking Agreement” means the Electronic Tracking Agreement dated on
or about the date hereof by and among Buyer, Seller, MERS and MERSCORP, Inc. (the
“Electronic Agent”), as supplemented, amended or restated from time to time. The Electronic
Tracking Agreement is required only if Seller is a MERS member.

“Eligible Mortgage Loan” is defined in the Terms Annex.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and all rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time and any successor statute, rules
and regulations.

“Event of Default” is defined in Paragraph 11.

“Facility Amount” is defined in the Terms Annex.

“Fannie Mae” means the Federal National Mortgage Association or any successor.
“FDIC™ means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any successor.

“FHA” means the Federal Housing Administration, which is a sub-division of HUD, or
any successor. The term “FHA™ is used interchangeably in this Agreement with the term “HUD”.

“FICO Score” means, with respect to any Mortgagor, the statistical credit score prepared
by Fair Isaac Corporation, Experian Information Solutions, Inc., TransUnion LLC or such other
Person as may be approved in writing by Buyer in its sole discretion.

“Financial Institution™ means NexBank in its capacity of the bank at which the Accounts
are held.

“Freddie Mac™ means the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or any successor.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied in the
United States.

“Ginnie Mae” means the Government National Mortgage Association or any successor.

“GLB Act” means the Gramm-Leach Bliley Act of 1999 (Public Law 106-102, 113 Stat
1338), as it may be amended from time to time.

Master Repurchase Agreement — Page 6
(Rev. 03/09/2022)
HB: 4860-6036-1208.9




“Government Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which is insured by the FHA or guaranteed
by the Department of Veterans Affairs or RHS. The term Government Loan shall not include any
Mortgage Loan which is a Conventional Conforming Loan.

“Governmental Authority” means and includes the government of the United States of
America, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any
agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, central bank or other entity exercising
executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or
pertaining to government, any governmental or quasi-governmental department, commission,
board, bureau or instrumentality, any court, tribunal or arbitration panel, and, with respect to any
Person, any private body having regulatory jurisdiction over any Person or its business or assets
(including any insurance company or underwriter through whom that Person has obtained
insurance coverage).

“Guarantor” means the Guarantor or Guarantors, whether one or more, specified in the
Terms Annex and also includes any other Person who hereafter executes a guaranty to support the
obligations of Seller under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

“Guaranty” means a guaranty dated the date hereof, executed by the Guarantor named in
the Terms Annex in favor of Buyer and also includes any other guaranty executed and delivered
to Buyer by a Guarantor, in each case, as supplemented, amended or restated from time to time.

“HUD” means the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development or any successor
department or agency.

“Indemnified Party” is defined in Paragraph 15(b).

“Insured Closing Letter” means a letter of indemnification from a title insurer addressed
to Seller and, for each Wet Loan, Buyer, with coverage that is customarily acceptable to Persons
engaged in the Origination of mortgage loans, identifying the Settlement Agent covered thereby
and indemnifying Seller and/or Buyer against losses incurred due to malfeasance or fraud by the
Settlement Agent or the failure of the Settlement Agent to follow the specific closing instructions
specified by Buyer in the escrow letter with respect to the closing of one or more Mortgage Loans.
The Insured Closing Letter shall be either with respect to the individual Mortgage Loan being
purchased pursuant hereto or a blanket Insured Closing Letter which covers closings conducted by
the Settlement Agent in the jurisdiction in which the closing of such Mortgage Loan takes place.

“Interim Servicing Term” is defined in Paragraph 12(b).

“IRC” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time and any
successor statute.

“Jumbo Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which conforms to all Agency Guidelines except
that its principal amount is greater than Agency limits for Conventional Conforming Loans.
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“Last Endorsee” means with respect to each Mortgage Loan, the last Person to whom such
Mortgage Loan was assigned or the related Mortgage Note was endorsed, as applicable.

“Leverage Ratio” means that ratio of Seller’s Debt (including off balance sheet
financings) to its Net Worth.

“Lien” means any security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, charge, pledge, hypothecation,
assignment, deposit arrangement, equity, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), preference,
priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever,
including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any financing
lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing and the filing of any
financing statement under the UCC (other than any such financing statement filed for
informational purposes only) or comparable law of any jurisdiction to evidence any of the
foregoing.

“Liquidity” means, at any time, Seller’s unencumbered and unrestricted cash and Cash
Equivalents (including the balance on deposit in the Cash Pledge Account, if required by Buyer,
but excluding any restricted cash or cash pledged to third parties) at such time plus, with respect
to any Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to this Agreement, the excess, if any, of the maximum
Purchase Price available to Seller pursuant to the terms hereof for such Purchased Mortgage Loans
over the aggregate outstanding Purchase Price for such Purchased Mortgage Loans at such time.

“Litigation” means, as to any Person, any action, lawsuit, investigation, claim, proceeding,
judgment, order, decree or resolution pending or threatened against or affecting such Person or the
business, operations, properties or assets of such Person before, or by, any Governmental
Authority.

“Loan File” means, with respect to each Mortgage Loan, the following documents:

(i) if a Wet Loan, a fully executed Insured Closing Letter from the related
Settlement Agent involved in the Wet Funding of that Mortgage Loan;

(ii)  if a Government Loan, a valid eligibility certification from VA or FHA, as
applicable, or such other documentation as may be required by Buyer in its sole discretion
and specified in a written notice from Buyer to Seller from time to time, with respect to
such Purchased Mortgage Loan;

(iii)  if a Conventional Conforming Loan, a valid eligibility certification from
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or RHS, as applicable, or such other documentation as may be
required by Buyer in its sole discretion and specified in a written notice from Buyer to
Seller from time to time, with respect to such Mortgage Loan;

(iv)  unless NexBank is the Approved Takeout Investor, evidence satisfactory to
Buyer, in its sole discretion, that such Mortgage Loan is subject to a valid and binding
Takeout Commitment, if Buyer so requires, which may include a copy of the related
Takeout Agreement and such other documents required by Buyer in its sole discretion;
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(v) the original Mortgage Note, endorsed in blank without recourse by its Last
Endorsee, together with all intervening endorsements showing an unbroken chain of
endorsement from the originator of such Mortgage Loan to the Last Endorsee;

(vi)  the original recorded Mortgage, or, if the original has been lost or if such
Mortgage is in the process of being recorded, a copy of the original Mortgage together with
an Officer’s Certificate (which may be included on the face of such copy) certifying (x) that
such copy is a true, correct and complete copy and (y) that such Mortgage has been
transmitted to the appropriate recording office for recordation;

(vii)  the originals of all assumption, modification, consolidation, substitution and
extension agreements, if any, with evidence of recordation thereon, or copies of such
original agreements together with an Officer’s Certificate certifying (x) that such copy is a
true, correct and complete copy and (y) that such agreements have been transmitted to the
appropriate recording office for recordation;

(viii) all guarantees, supporting obligations and collateral, if any, received with
respect to, or supporting repayment of, such Purchased Mortgage Loan;

(ix)  the original, or a copy (together with an Officer’s Certificate, which may be
included on the face of such copy, certifying that such copy is a true, correct and complete
copy) of the policy of lender’s title insurance described in item (r) of Exhibit B or of a
commitment to issue such title insurance;

(x) evidence satisfactory to Buyer:

(i) that such Mortgage Loan is a MERS Designated Mortgage Loan, such
evidence to be either:

(A) confirmation that such Mortgage Loan is a MOM Loan; or

(B) if such Mortgage Loan is not a MOM Loan, a copy of an Assignment
of Mortgage assigning the Mortgage from Seller, as the original named
mortgagee, to MERS, and (1) either (x) showing the relevant recording
information, (y) having the legal description of the real property covered by
the deed of trust assigned attached as Exhibit A thereto or (z) both showing
such recording information and having such legal description attached, and
(2) accompanied by an Officer’s Certificate, which may be included on the
face of such copy, certifying that such copy is a true, correct and complete
copy and that such Assignment of Mortgage has been transmitted to the
appropriate recording office for recordation; and

(ii) that if Seller:

(A) isa MERS member, Buyer is designated on the MERS
System as “Interim Funder” with respect to such Mortgage Loan; or
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(B) is not a MERS member, Buyer is designated on the MERS
System as owner of such Mortgage Loan;

(xi)  only if, at any point in the future, Buyer, by giving at least ten (10) Business
Days’ written notice to Seller, elects that, on a going forward basis, Seller will be
responsible for giving such notices (it being understood and agreed that unless and until
Buyer gives such notice to Seller, Buyer will be responsible for giving such notices to
Mortgagors and this item will not be included in the Loan Files), a notice letter in form and
substance acceptable to Buyer in its sole discretion, delivered at Buyer’s request by Seller
on behalf of Buyer to Mortgagor setting forth the information regarding Buyer as the “new
creditor” and such other information required by Section 404 of The Helping Families Save
Their Homes Act of 2009 (amending the Truth in Lending Act of 1968 (as amended)), and
acknowledged in writing by Mortgagor unless Buyer has notified Seller in writing that such
notice is no longer required; and

(xii) such additional documents as shall be required by Buyer in its sole
discretion from time to time by written notice to Seller.

“Loan Purchase Detail” means a schedule of information prepared and transmitted by
Seller to Buyer in the format and in the manner specified by Buyer, and with the items of
information set forth in Exhibit I regarding the Purchased Mortgage Loans, as such required
format, manner of delivery or items of required information may be changed from time to time by
Buyer with prior written notice to Seller.

“Loan-to-Value Ratio” or “LTV” means, for each Mortgage Loan as of the related
Purchase Date, a fraction (expressed as a percentage) having as its numerator the original principal
amount of the Mortgage Note and as its denominator the lesser of (x) the sales price of the related
Mortgaged Property and (y) the appraised value of the related Mortgaged Property indicated in the
appraisal obtained in connection with the Origination of such Mortgage Loan.

“Manufactured Home” means a single-family home constructed at a factory and shipped
in one or more sections to a housing site.

“Margin Amount” means at any time with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan, the
amount equal to (a) the applicable Margin Percentage for that Purchased Mortgage Loan at that
time multiplied by (b) the Market Value for that Purchased Mortgage Loan at that time.

*“Margin Deficit” is defined in Paragraph 4(a).
“Margin Percentage” is defined in the Terms Annex.

“Margin Stock™ has the meaning assigned to that term in Regulation U of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System as in effect from time to time.

“Market Value” means, at any time with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan, the
fair market value of such Purchased Mortgage Loan at such time as determined by Buyer in its
sole discretion.
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“Material Adverse Effect” means any (i) material adverse effect upon the validity,
performance or enforceability of any Transaction Document, (ii) material adverse effect upon the
reputation, properties, business, condition or prospects, financial or otherwise, of Seller (and its
Subsidiaries, if any, on a consolidated basis) or Guarantor, (iii) material adverse effect upon the
ability of Seller to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement or the ability of Guarantor to fulfill
its obligations under the Guaranty, or (iv) material adverse effect on the value or salability of the
Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to this Agreement, taken as a whole, as determined in each
case by Buyer in Buyer’s sole discretion.

“MERS” means Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. and its successors and
assigns.

“MERS Designated Mortgage Loan’ means a Mortgage Loan that satisfies the definition
of the term “MERS Designated Mortgage Loan” contained in the Electronic Tracking Agreement
(if any).

“MERS® System” means MERSCORP, Inc.’s mortgage electronic registry system
described in  the “MERS Procedures Manual” found on the MERS website,
http://www.mersinc.org.

“MIN" means the eighteen digit MERS Identification Number permanently assigned to
each MERS Designated Mortgage Loan.

“MOM Loan™ means a MERS Designated Mortgage Loan that was registered on the
MERS" System at the time of its Origination and for which MERS appears as the record mortgagee
or beneficiary on the related Mortgage.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service and any successor.

“Mortgage” means a mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument creating a Lien
on Mortgaged Property.

“Mortgage Assets” is defined in Paragraph 6.

“Mortgage Loan” means a whole mortgage loan which is secured by a Mortgage on
residential real estate, and includes all of its Servicing Rights.

“Mortgage Loan Documents” means the Mortgage Note, the Mortgage and all other
documents evidencing, securing, guaranteeing or otherwise related to a Mortgage Loan.

“Mortgage Note” means the original executed promissory note or other primary evidence
of indebtedness of a Mortgagor on a Mortgage Loan.

“Mortgaged Property” means the residential real estate securing the Mortgage Note,
which shall be a fee simple estate in the real property located in any state of the United States
(including, without limitation, all buildings, improvements and fixtures thereon and all additions,
alterations and replacements made at any time with respect to the foregoing) purchased with the
proceeds of the Mortgage Loan.
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“Mortgagor” means the obligor on a Mortgage Note or the grantor or mortgagor on a
Mortgage, as the context requires.

“NexBank” means NexBank, a Texas state financial institution, in its individual capacity,
and its successors and assigns.

“Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of Seller and
delivered to Buyer.

“Originate” or “Origination” means a Person’s actions in taking applications for,
underwriting and closing Mortgage Loans.

“Origination Date” means the date of the Mortgage Note and the related Mortgage.

“Qutstanding Principal Balance” of a Mortgage Loan means, at any time, the then unpaid
outstanding principal balance of such Mortgage Loan.

“Party” means each of Buyer and Seller.
“Permitted Debt” is defined in Paragraph 10(q).

“Permitted Dividend™ means (a) as to any taxable period of Seller for which Seller, if a
corporation, makes an S corporation election, or if a multi-member limited liability company or a
partnership, does not makes an election with the Internal Revenue Service to be treated as a
corporation, an annual or quarterly distribution necessary to enable each shareholder, partner or
member, as applicable, of Seller to pay federal or state income taxes attributable to such
shareholder, partner or member resulting solely from the allocated share of income of Seller for
such period (“Permitted Tax Distributions”) and (b) a regular cash dividend declared by Seller
and paid to its shareholders, partners or members, as applicable, provided that such regular cash
dividends do not exceed, in the aggregate, during any fiscal year the Permitted Dividend
Percentage (as defined in the Terms Annex) of Seller’s net income for such fiscal year after
payment of the Permitted Tax Distributions (as calculated on its annual statement of income).

“Permitted Tax Distributions” is defined in the definition of “Permitted Dividend”.

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation (including a business trust),
joint-stock company, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture,
any Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Post-Origination Period” means the period of time between a Mortgage Loan’s
Origination Date and its subsequent sale to an Approved Takeout Investor.

“Price Differential” means with respect to any Transaction hereunder, for each month (or
portion thereof) during which that Transaction is outstanding, the sum of the following amount for
each day during that month (or portion thereof): the weighted average of the applicable Pricing
Rates for such day multiplied by the aggregate outstanding Purchase Price on such day divided by
360. The Price Differential for each Transaction shall accrue during the period commencing on
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(and including) the day when the Purchase Price is transferred or otherwise paid to Seller for such
Transaction and ending on (but excluding) the day when the Repurchase Price is paid to Buyer.

“Pricing Rate”” means the per annum percentage rate (or rates) to be applied to determine
the Price Differential, which rate (or rates) shall be determined in accordance with the Terms
Annex.

“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest per annum announced from time to time by Buyer
as its prime rate. The Prime Rate is a variable rate and each change in the Prime Rate is effective
from and including the date the change is announced as being effective. THE PRIME RATE IS
A REFERENCE RATE AND MAY NOT BE BUYER’S LOWEST RATE.

“Privacy Requirements” means (a) Title V of the GLB Act, (b) federal regulations
implementing such act codified at 12 CFR Parts 40, 216, 332 and 573, (c) the Interagency
Guidelines Establishing Standards For Safeguarding Customer Information and codified at 12
CFR Parts 30, 208, 211, 225, 263, 308, 364, 568 and 570 and (d) any other applicable federal, state
and local laws, rules, regulations and orders relating to the privacy and security of Seller’s
Customer Information, as such statutes, regulations, guidelines, laws, rules and orders may be
amended from time to time.

“Property Charges” means all taxes, fees, assessments, water, sewer and municipal
charges (general or special) and all insurance premiums, leasehold payments or ground rents.

“Purchase Date” means the date with respect to each Transaction on which the Mortgage
Loans subject to such Transaction are transferred by Seller to Buyer hereunder, which shall be
ordinarily be the Origination Date of each such Mortgage Loan and, unless Buyer, on a case-by-
case basis, shall approve in writing a later day, the Purchase Date for any Mortgage Loan shall not
be later than the Business Day next following its Origination Date.

“Purchase Price” is defined in the Terms Annex.

“Purchased Mortgage Loans” means, with respect to any Transaction, the Mortgage
Loans sold by Seller to Buyer in such Transaction hereunder (each of which sales shall be on a
servicing released basis), including any Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans delivered pursuant
to Paragraph 4(a) and excluding any Purchased Mortgage Loans repurchased by Seller or
transferred to Seller. Unless the context shall otherwise require, the term “Purchased Mortgage
Loans” shall refer to all Purchased Mortgage Loans under all Transactions.

“REOQO Property” means a Mortgaged Property acquired by Seller through foreclosure or
deed in lieu of foreclosure.

“Repurchase Date” means, with respect to each Transaction, the date on which Seller is
required to repurchase from Buyer the Purchased Mortgage Loans which are subject to that
Transaction. The Repurchase Date shall occur (i) for Transactions terminable on a date certain,
on the date specified in the Confirmation, (ii) for Transactions to be terminable on demand, the
earlier to occur of (a) the date specified in Buyer’s demand or (b) the date specified in the
Confirmation on which Seller is required to repurchase the Purchased Mortgage Loans if no
demand is sooner made and (iii) for repurchases of Defective Mortgage Loans under Paragraph
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3(i), the Early Repurchase Date; provided that in any case, the Repurchase Date with respect to
each Transaction shall occur no later than the earlier of (1) the Termination Date and (2) ninety
(90) days after the Purchase Date of such Transaction, excepting Mortgage Loans subject to the
Term Sublimit.

“Repurchase Price” means, with respect to each Transaction, the price at which Purchased
Mortgage Loans subject to such Transaction are to be resold by Buyer to Seller upon termination
of such Transaction, which will be determined in each case (including Transactions terminable
upon demand) as the sum of (x) the Purchase Price plus (y) the accrued and unpaid Price
Differential as of the date of such termination minus (z) all principal and interest, if any, on such
Purchased Mortgage Loans paid (or paid over) to and retained by Buyer.

“Required Amount” is defined in the Terms Annex.

“Requirement(s) of Law™ means any law, treaty, ordinance, decree, requirement, order,
judgment, rule, regulation (or interpretation of any of the foregoing) of any Governmental
Authority having jurisdiction over Buyer, Seller, Guarantor or any Approved Takeout Investor,
any of their respective Subsidiaries or their respective properties or any agreement by which any
of them is bound.

“Rescission” means the Mortgagor’s exercise of any right to rescind the related Mortgage
Note and related documents pursuant to applicable law.

“Responsible Officer” means, as to any Person, the chief executive officer or, with respect
to financial matters, the chief financial officer of such Person; provided that in the event any such
officer is unavailable at any time he or she is required to take any action hereunder, Responsible
Officer means any officer authorized to act on such officer’s behalf as demonstrated by a certificate
of corporate resolution or similar document and an incumbency certificate.

“RHS” means the Rural Housing Service of the USDA Rural Development Agency.

“Seller’s Operating Account” means the Seller’s account with NexBank styled as
follows:

Altisource Asset Management Corporation
NexBank Bank Secured Party
Seller’s Operating Account

“S&P” means Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill
Companies, Inc., and any successor.

“Seller’s Accounts” means each of the Cash Pledge Account, if required by Buyer, and
the Seller’s Operating Account.

“Seller’s Customer” means any natural person who has applied to Seller for a financial
product or service, has obtained any financial product or service from Seller or has a Mortgage
Loan that is serviced or subserviced by Seller.
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“Seller’s Customer Information” means any information or records in any form (written,
electronic or otherwise) containing a Seller’s Customer’s personal information or identity,
including such Seller’s Customer’s name, address, telephone number, loan number, loan payment
history. delinquency status, insurance carrier or payment information, tax amount or payment
information and the fact that such Seller’s Customer has a relationship with Seller.

“Servicing File” means with respect to each Mortgage Loan, all documents relating to its
servicing, which may consist of (i) copies of the documents contained in the related Credit File
and Loan File, as applicable, (ii) the credit documentation relating to the underwriting and closing
of such Mortgage Loan(s), (iii) copies of all related documents, correspondence, notes and all other
materials of any kind, (iv) copies of computer tapes, proof of insurance coverage, insurance
policies, appraisals, other closing documentation and payment history records, (v) all other
information or materials necessary or required to board such Mortgage Loan onto the applicable
servicing system and (vi) all other related documents required to be delivered pursuant to any of
the Transaction Documents.

“Servicing Records” means all servicing records created and/or maintained by Seller in
its capacity as interim servicer for Buyer with respect to a Purchased Mortgage Loan, including
but not limited to any and all servicing agreements, files, documents, records, databases, computer
tapes, copies of computer tapes, proof of insurance coverage, insurance policies, appraisals, other
closing documentation, payment history records and any other records relating to or evidencing its
servicing.

“Servicing Rights” means all rights and interests of Seller or any other Person, whether
contractual, possessory or otherwise, to service, administer and collect income with respect to
Mortgage Loans, and all rights incidental thereto.

“Settlement Agent” means a title company, escrow company or attorney that is acceptable
to Buyer in its sole discretion and that is (i) unaffiliated with Seller, unless pre-approved in writing
by Buyer, (ii) a division, subsidiary or licensed agent of a title insurance company reasonably
acceptable to Buyer and (iii) insured against errors and omissions in such amounts and covering
such risks as are at all times customary for its business and with industry standards, to which the
proceeds of any purchase of a Mortgage Loan are to be wired in accordance with local law and
practice in the jurisdiction where such Mortgage Loan is being Originated.

“Shipping Instructions” means the advice in the form of Exhibit D, or other process
designated by Buyer, sent by Seller to Buyer which instructs Buyer to send one or more Mortgage
Notes and the related Mortgages to an Approved Takeout Investor.

“Subservicer” is defined in subparagraph 12(b)(ii).

“Subservicer Instruction Letter” means a letter agreement between Seller and each
Subservicer in a form mutually acceptable to Buyer and Seller.

“Subservicing Agreement” is defined in subparagraph 12(b)(ii).

“Subsidiary” means any corporation, association or other business entity in which more
than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power or shares of stock (or equivalent equity interest)
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entitled to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or
controlled, directly or indirectly, by any Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that
Person or a combination thereof.

“Successor Servicer” is defined in Paragraph 12(f).

“Takeout Agreement” means an agreement, in form and substance acceptable to Buyer,
between an Approved Takeout Investor and Seller, pursuant to which such Approved Takeout
Investor has committed to purchase from Seller certain of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, as such
agreement may be supplemented, amended or restated from time to time with the prior written
consent of Buyer.

“Takeout Commitment” means, with respect to each Approved Takeout Investor, the
commitment to purchase a Purchased Mortgage Loan from Seller pursuant to a Takeout
Agreement, and that specifies (a) the type of Purchased Mortgage Loan to be purchased, (b) a
purchase date or purchase deadline date and (c) a purchase price or the criteria by which the
purchase price will be determined.

“Takeout Guidelines” means (i) the eligibility requirements established by the Approved
Takeout Investor that must be satisfied by a Mortgage Loan originator to sell Mortgage Loans to
the Approved Takeout Investor and (ii) the specifications that a Mortgage Loan must meet, and
the requirements that it must satisfy, to qualify for the Approved Takeout Investor’s program of
Mortgage Loan purchases, as such requirements and specifications may be revised, supplemented
or replaced from time to time.

“Takeout Value” means the price that an Approved Takeout Investor has agreed to pay
Seller for such Purchased Mortgage Loan.

“Termination Date” means the earliest of (i) the Business Day, if any, that Seller or Buyer
designates as the Termination Date by written notice to the other Party at least one (1) day before
such date or (ii) the date of declaration of the Termination Date pursuant to Paragraph 11(b) or (¢).

“Terms Annex” means the Terms Annex attached to this Agreement and hereby made a
part hereof, as supplemented, amended or restated from time to time.

“Term Sublimit” refers to the portion of the Facility Amount for loans that are allowed
to dwell up to twenty-four (24) months from origination. Term Sublimit Purchased Mortgage
Loans where the underlying homeowner is ninety (90) days in default are required to be bought
off the line.

“Third Party Originator” means any Person, other than a permanent employee of Seller,
who engages in the solicitation, procurement, packaging, processing or performing of any other
Origination function with regard to a Mortgage Loan.

“TPO Loan” means a Mortgage Loan which has been solicited, procured, packaged,
processed or otherwise Originated by a Third Party Originator.

“Transaction” is defined in Paragraph 1.
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“Transaction Documents™ means this Agreement (including the Terms Annex and all
exhibits and schedules attached hereto), each Confirmation, each Bailee Letter, each Trust Release
Letter, the Electronic Tracking Agreement (required only if Seller is a MERS member), any
required Takeout Agreement or Takeout Commitment, each Insured Closing Letter, the Guaranty
and each other agreement, document or instrument executed or delivered in connection therewith,
in each case as supplemented, amended or restated from time to time.

“Trust Release Letter” means a letter in substantially the form of Exhibit L, appropriately
completed and authenticated by Seller, or such other form as may be approved by Buyer in writing
in its sole discretion.

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code, as amended from time to time, as in effect
in the relevant jurisdiction.

“VA” means the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs or any successor department or
agency.

“Wet Funding” means the purchase of a Mortgage Loan that is Originated by Seller on
the Purchase Date under escrow arrangements satisfactory to Buyer pursuant to which Seller is
permitted to use the Purchase Price proceeds to close the Mortgage Loan prior to Buyer’s receipt
of the complete Loan File.

“Wet Funding Deadline” means, with respect to any Wet Loan, the fifth (5th) Business
Day after the Origination Date for such Wet Loan, or such later Business Day, if any, as Buyer, in
its sole discretion, may specify from time to time.

“Wet Loan” means a Mortgage Loan for which the completed Loan File was not delivered
to Buyer prior to funding of the related Purchase Price.

3. Initiation; Confirmations; Stale Purchased Loans; Termination

(a) Initiation. Any agreement to enter into a Transaction shall be made in writing at
the initiation of Seller before the Termination Date. If Seller desires to enter into a Transaction,
Seller shall deliver to Buyer no earlier than three (3) Business Days before, and no later than
4:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the Business Day before the proposed Purchase Date, unless Buyer
provides written instructions otherwise, a request for Buyer to purchase one or more Eligible
Mortgage Loans on such Purchase Date, together with the Loan Purchase Detail for each such
Mortgage Loan as set forth on Exhibit I(a) attached hereto. In connection therewith, and for quality
control purposes, Buyer has the right, but not the obligation, to require the Loan Purchase
Documentation, as set forth on Exhibit I(b) attached hereto, from Seller for any proposed
Transaction prior to funding. All such purchases shall be on a servicing released basis and shall
include the Servicing Rights with respect to such Eligible Mortgage Loan. Such request shall state
the Purchase Price and shall include the Confirmation in form and substance acceptable to Buyer
related to the proposed Transaction.

(b) Purchase by Buyer. Subject to the terms of the Terms Annex and satisfaction of
the conditions precedent set forth in this Paragraph 3 and in Paragraph 7, on the requested Purchase
Date for each Transaction, Buyer shall transfer to Seller an amount equal to the Purchase Price for
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purchase of each Eligible Mortgage Loan that is the subject of such Transaction on that Purchase
Date, less any amounts to be netted against such Purchase Price. The transfer of funds to the
Settlement Agent to be used to fund the Mortgage Loan, and if applicable, the netting of amounts
for value, on the Purchase Date for any Transaction will constitute full payment by Buyer of the
Purchase Price for such Mortgage Loan. Within one (1) Business Day following the Purchase Date,
Seller shall (i) take such steps as are necessary and appropriate to effect the transfer to Buyer on the
MERS® System of the Purchased Mortgage Loans so purchased, and to cause Buyer to be
designated as “Interim Funder” on the MERS® System with respect to each such Purchased
Mortgage Loan and (ii) in the case of a Wet Funding, deliver all remaining items of the related Loan
File to Buyer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document, Buyer shall have no obligation to enter into any Transaction on or after the Termination
Date.

(c) Confirmations. The Confirmation for each Transaction shall (i) include the Loan
Purchase Detail with respect to the Mortgage Loans subject to such Transaction, (ii) identify Buyer
and Seller and (iii) set forth (A) the Purchase Date, (B) the Purchase Price, (C) the Repurchase Date,
(D) the Pricing Rate applicable to the Transaction and (E) any additional terms or conditions of the
Transaction mutually agreeable to Buyer and Seller. In the event of any conflict between the terms
of a Confirmation that has been affirmatively accepted by Buyer and this Agreement, such accepted
Confirmation shall prevail.

(d) Failed Fundings. Seller agrees to report to Buyer by facsimile transmission or
electronic mail as soon as practicable, but in no event later than one (1) Business Day after each
Purchase Date, any Mortgage Loans which failed to be funded to the related Mortgagor, otherwise
failed to close for any reason or failed to be purchased hereunder. Seller further agrees to (i) return,
or cause the Settlement Agent to return, to Buyer the portion of the Purchase Price allocable to such
Mortgage Loans as soon as practicable, but in no event later than one (1) Business Day after the
related Purchase Date, and (ii) indemnify Buyer for any loss, cost or expense incurred by Buyer as
a result of the failure of such Mortgage Loans to close or to be delivered to Buyer.

(e) Stale Purchased Loans. If and in each instance where Buyer elects to require it by
written notice to Seller, for any Purchased Loan that Seller has not repurchased on or before ninety
(90) days after its Purchase Date Seller shall reduce the Aggregate Purchase Price by paying to
Buyer an amount equal [ ] of the Purchase Price, resulting in the Purchase Price being [ ]
of the original Purchase Price. For any Purchased Loan that Seller has not repurchased on or
before [ ] days after its Purchase Date, the Seller shall reduce the Aggregate Purchase Price by
paying to Buyer an additional [ ] of the Purchase Price, resulting in the Purchase Price being
| Jof the original Purchase Price.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, for any Purchased Loan where the

underlying homeowner is [ | days in default, Seller shall reduce the Aggregate Purchase
Price by paying to Buyer an amount equal to [ ] of the Purchase Price. Purchased
Mortgage Loans where the underlying homeowner is [ | days in default are required to be

bought off the line.
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All cash required to be delivered to Buyer pursuant to this Paragraph 3(e) shall be deposited
by Seller into the Seller’s Operating Account on or before the Business Day next following the
date of Buyer’s notice requiring it.

5] Repurchase Required. Seller shall repurchase from Buyer Purchased Mortgage
Loans conveyed to Buyer on or before each related scheduled Repurchase Date. Each obligation to
repurchase exists without regard to any prior or intervening liquidation or foreclosure with respect
to any Purchased Mortgage Loan. Seller is obligated to obtain the Purchased Mortgage Loans from
Buyer or its designee at Seller’s expense on the related Repurchase Date. On the Repurchase Date,
termination of the Transaction will be effected by resale by Buyer to Seller or its designee of the
Purchased Mortgage Loans on a servicing released basis against Seller’s submission to Buyer of a
Completed Repurchase Advice, all in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer. After receipt of the
payment of the Repurchase Price from Seller, Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Seller
all Mortgage Loan Documents previously delivered to Buyer and not already delivered to Seller
and take such steps as are necessary and appropriate to effect the transfer of the Purchased Mortgage
Loan to Seller on the MERS® System.

(g) Repurchase Advice. If Buyer receives the Completed Repurchase Advice with
respect to a Purchased Mortgage Loan at or before 1:00 p.m. Dallas, Texas time, on any Business
Day, then the Repurchase Date for that Purchased Mortgage Loan will be on that same day. If
Buyer receives the Completed Repurchase Advice with respect to any Purchased Mortgage Loan
after 1:00 p.m. Dallas, Texas time, on any Business Day, then the Repurchase Date for that
Purchased Mortgage Loan will be on the next Business Day. Without limiting Seller’s obligations
hereunder, at any time after the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default or an Event of
Default, Seller shall not be permitted to repurchase less than all of the Purchased Mortgage Loans
without the prior written consent of Buyer.

(h) Reliance. With respect to any Transaction, Buyer may conclusively rely upon, and
shall incur no liability to Seller in acting upon, any request or other communication that Buyer
reasonably believes to have been given or made by a Person authorized to enter into a Transaction
on Seller’s behalf.

(i) Defective Mortgage Loans.

(i) If, after Buyer purchases a Mortgage Loan, Buyer determines or receives
notice (whether from Seller or otherwise) that a Purchased Mortgage Loan is (or has
become) a Defective Mortgage Loan, Buyer shall promptly notify Seller, and Seller shall
repurchase such Purchased Mortgage Loan at the Repurchase Price on the Early
Repurchase Date (as such term is defined below).

(ii) If Seller becomes obligated to repurchase a Mortgage Loan pursuant to
subparagraph 3(i)(i), Buyer shall promptly give Seller notice of such repurchase
obligation and a calculation of the Repurchase Price therefor. On the same day Seller
receives such notice (the “Early Repurchase Date™), Seller shall repurchase the
Defective Mortgage Loan by paying Buyer the Repurchase Price therefor, and shall
submit a Completed Repurchase Advice. Buyer is authorized to charge any of Seller’s
Accounts for such amount unless the Parties have agreed in writing to a different method
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of payment and Seller has paid such amount by such agreed method. If Seller’s Accounts
do not contain sufficient funds to pay in full the amount due Buyer under this
subparagraph 3(i)(ii), or if the amount due is not paid by any applicable alternative
method of payment previously agreed to by the Parties, Seller shall promptly deposit
funds in the Seller’s Operating Account sufficient to pay such amount due Buyer and
notify Buyer of such deposit. After receipt of the payment of the Repurchase Price
therefor from Seller, Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Seller all documents
for the Mortgage Loan previously delivered to Buyer and take such steps as are necessary
and appropriate to effect the transfer of the Purchased Mortgage Loan to Seller on the
MERS® System.

4. Margin Maintenance

(a) Margin Deficit. If at any time the sum of the Margin Amounts of all Purchased
Mortgage Loans is less than the Aggregate Purchase Price (a “Margin Deficit”), then Buyer, by
notice to Seller (a “Margin Call”), may require Seller to transfer to Buyer, at Buyer’s option, either
(x) cash to be applied by Buyer to the payment of the Repurchase Prices of the Purchased Mortgage
Loans that are subject to the related Transactions, (y) additional Eligible Mortgage Loans
reasonably acceptable to Buyer (“Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans”) or (z) a combination,
as determined by Buyer, of cash and Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans, so that, immediately
after such transfer(s), the sum of (i) such cash, if any, so transferred to Buyer plus (ii) the aggregate
of the Margin Amounts of all Purchased Mortgage Loans for all Transactions outstanding at that
time, including any such Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans, will be at least equal to the
Aggregate Purchase Price at that time.

(b) Margin Maintenance. If the notice to be given by Buyer to Seller under
Paragraph 4(a) is given at or before 9:00 a.m. Dallas, Texas time on a Business Day, Seller shall
transfer cash or Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer prior to 5:00 p.m. Dallas, Texas
time on the date of such notice, and if such notice is given after 9:00 a.m. Dallas, Texas time, Seller
shall transfer cash or Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans prior to 12:00 p.m. Dallas, Texas time
on the Business Day following the date of such notice. All cash required to be delivered to Buyer
pursuant to this Paragraph 4(b) shall be deposited by Seller into the Seller’s Operating Account.
Buyer’s election, in its sole and absolute discretion, not to make a Margin Call at any time there is
a Margin Deficit shall not in any way limit or impair its right to make a Margin Call at any other
time a Margin Deficit exists.

(c) Margin Excess. If on any day after Seller has transferred cash or Additional
Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer pursuant to Paragraph 4(b), the sum of (i) the cash paid to
Buyer and (ii) the aggregate of the Margin Amounts of all Purchased Mortgage Loans for all
Transactions at that time, including any such Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans, exceeds the
sum of the outstanding Purchase Prices for all outstanding Transactions at that time, then at the
request of Seller, Buyer shall return a portion of the cash or Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans
to Seller so that the remaining sum of (i) and (ii) does not exceed the sum of the outstanding
Purchase Prices for all outstanding Transactions at that time; provided that the sum of the cash plus
the value of Additional Purchased Mortgage Loans returned shall be strictly limited to an amount,
after the return of which, no Margin Deficit will exist.
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(d) Market Value Determinations. Buyer may determine the Market Value of any
Purchased Mortgage Loans from time to time and with such frequency and taking into consideration
such factors, as it may elect, in its sole discretion, including, but not limited to, current market
conditions and the fact that the Purchased Mortgage Loans may be sold or otherwise disposed of
under circumstances where Seller is in default under this Agreement; provided that a Market Value
of zero shall be assigned to any Purchased Mortgage Loan that, at the time of determination, is not
an Eligible Mortgage Loan. Buyer’s determination of Market Value shall be conclusive upon the
Parties.

B Accounts; Income Payments

(a) Accounts. Prior to the date hereof, Seller shall establish or cause to be established
each of Seller’s Accounts at Financial Institution. Seller’s taxpayer identification number will be
designated as the taxpayer identification number for each of Seller’s Accounts and Seller shall be
responsible for reporting and paying taxes on any income earned with respect to Seller’s Accounts.
Seller agrees that Financial Institution may comply with instructions originated by Buyer directing
disposition of the funds in the Accounts without further consent of Seller. Employees of Buyer
shall be signers with respect to the Accounts. Pursuant to Paragraph 6, Seller has pledged, assigned,
transferred and granted a security interest to Buyer in all Accounts in which Seller has rights or
power to transfer rights and all Accounts in which Seller later acquires ownership, other rights or
the power to transfer rights. Seller and Buyer hereby agree that Buyer has “control” of the Accounts
within the meaning of Section 9-104 of the UCC. Any provision hereof to the contrary
notwithstanding and for the avoidance of doubt, Seller agrees and acknowledges that Buyer is not
required to return funds on deposit in an Account to Seller if any amounts are owed to Buyer
hereunder by Seller.

(b) Cash Pledge Account. On or prior to the date hercof, Seller shall deposit the
Required Amount (as defined in, and if required by, the Terms Annex) into the Cash Pledge
Account. Seller shall cause an amount not less than the Required Amount to be on deposit in the
Cash Pledge Account at all times. If on any Remittance Date, the amount on deposit in the Cash
Pledge Account is greater than the Required Amount, provided that no Default or Event of Default
has occurred, upon Seller’s request such excess will be disbursed to Seller on such Remittance Date
after application by Buyer to the payment of any amounts owing by Seller to Buyer on such date.
At any time upon or after the occurrence of an Event of Default, Buyer, in its sole discretion, may
apply the amounts on deposit in the Cash Pledge Account in accordance with the provisions of
Paragraph 5(f). Although Seller may cause amounts to be deposited into the Cash Pledge Account,
Seller agrees that the Cash Pledge Account shall be under the sole dominion and control of Buyer
and Seller shall have no right or authority to withdraw or otherwise give any directions with respect
to the Cash Pledge Account or the disposition of any funds held in the Cash Pledge Account.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Paragraph 8(b) is only applicable
to the extent a Cash Pledge Account is required by Buyer.

(c) This subsection left intentionally blank.

(d) This subsection left intentionally blank.
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(e) Seller’s Operating Account. The Seller’s Operating Account shall be used for the
purposes of (i) Seller’s funding of any shortfall between (x) the proceeds of a Purchased Mortgage
Loan to be disbursed at its Origination and (y) the Purchase Price to be paid by Buyer for that
Purchased Mortgage Loan; (ii) Seller’s payment of any excess between (x) the Repurchase Price
for a Purchased Mortgage Loan (including accrued Price Differential, and as reduced by the amount
of any income in respect of the related Purchased Mortgage Loan deposited in the income Account
and retained by Buyer) and (y) the amount received by Buyer from the applicable Approved Takeout
Investor in connection with the repurchase of that Purchased Mortgage Loan; and (iii) Payment of
curtailments as may be required under Paragraph 3(e). Funds deposited by Seller in the Seller’s
Operating Account to cover the shortfall, if any, referred to in clause (i) of the immediately
preceding sentence will be disbursed to the Settlement Agent together with the Purchase Price for
closing of the Origination of the related Purchased Mortgage Loan. Funds deposited by Seller in
the Seller’'s Operating Payment Account to pay the excess amount, if any, referred to in clause (ii)
of the immediately preceding sentence will be withdrawn from the Seller’s Operating Account by
Buyer, aggregated with the amount received by Buyer from the applicable Approved Takeout
Investor and together retained by Buyer as payment of the Repurchase Price for the related
Purchased Mortgage Loan. If the funds on deposit in the Seller’s Operating Account are insufficient
to fund any such Origination shortfall described in clause (i) of the first sentence of this Paragraph
S(e). or to pay any such excess amount described in clause (ii) of that same sentence, Seller shall
pay the amount of such shortfall or excess, as the case may be, on the date such payment is due by
wire transfer of such amount to the Seller’s Operating Account. At any time after the occurrence
and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Buyer, in its sole discretion, may apply the
amounts on deposit in the Seller’s Operating Account in accordance with the provisions of

Paragraph 5(1).

(H) Application of Funds. After the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event
of Default, at such times as Buyer may direct in its sole discretion, Buyer shall apply all amounts
on deposit in all or any of the Accounts in the same order and manner as is provided in Paragraph
11(d) for proceeds of dispositions of Purchased Mortgage Loans after an Event of Default.

(g) This subsection left intentionally blank.

(h) Seller’s Obligations. Nothing in this Paragraph 5 or elsewhere in this Agreement
shall relieve Seller from its obligations to pay the Repurchase Price on the applicable Repurchase
Date and to satisfy any other payment obligation of Seller hereunder or under any other Transaction
Document.

6. Security Interest; Assignment of Takeout Commitments

(a) Security Interest. Although the Parties intend that all Transactions be absolute sales
and purchases and not loans, to secure the payment and performance by Seller of its obligations,
liabilities and indebtedness under each such Transaction and Seller’s obligations, liabilities and
indebtedness under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, Seller hereby pledges,
assigns, transfers and grants to Buyer a security interest in the Mortgage Assets in which Seller has
rights or power to transfer rights and all of the Mortgage Assets in which Seller later acquires
ownership, other rights or the power to transfer rights. “Mortgage Assets” means (i) the Purchased
Mortgage Loans with respect to all Transactions hereunder (including, without limitation, all
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Servicing Rights with respect thereto), (ii) all Servicing Records, Loan Files, Mortgage Loan
Documents, including, without limitation, the Mortgage Note and Mortgage, and all of Seller’s
claims, liens, rights, title and interests in and to the Mortgaged Property related to such Purchased
Mortgage Loans, (iii) all Liens securing repayment of such Purchased Mortgage Loans, (iv) all
income with respect to such Purchased Mortgage Loans, (v)the Accounts, (vi)the Takeout
Commitments and Takeout Agreements, if applicable and to the extent Seller’s rights thereunder
relate to the Purchased Mortgage Loans, (vii) all hedging arrangements, if any, relating to the
Purchased Mortgage Loans and (vii) all proceeds of the foregoing. Seller hereby authorizes Buyer
to file such financing statements and amendments relating to the Mortgage Assets as Buyer may
deem appropriate, and hereby irrevocably appoints Buyer as Seller’s attorney-in-fact to take such
other actions as Buyer deems necessary or appropriate to perfect and continue the Lien granted
hereby and to protect, preserve and realize on the Mortgage Assets (this appointment is coupled
with an interest). Seller shall pay all fees and expenses associated with perfecting such Liens
including, without limitation, the cost of filing financing statements and amendments under the
UCC, registering each Purchased Mortgage Loan with MERS and registering Buyer as either
“interim funder” or owner thereof on the MERS® System and recording assignments of the
Mortgages as and when required by Buyer in its sole discretion.

(b) Assignment of Takeout Commitment. If a Takeout Commitment is required by
Buyer, the sale of each Mortgage Loan to Buyer shall include Seller’s rights (but none of the
obligations) under the applicable Takeout Commitment and Takeout Agreement to deliver the
Mortgage Loan to the Approved Takeout Investor and to receive the net sum therefor specified in
the Takeout Commitment from the Approved Takeout Investor. Effective on and after the Purchase
Date for each Mortgage Loan purchased by Buyer hereunder, Seller assigns to Buyer, free and clear
of any Lien, all of Seller’s right, title and interest in any applicable Takeout Commitment and
Takeout Agreement for such Mortgage Loan; provided that Buyer shall not assume or be deemed
to have assumed any of the obligations of Seller under any Takeout Agreement or Takeout
Commitment.

7. Conditions Precedent

(a) Conditions Precedent to the Effectiveness of this Agreement. The effectiveness of
this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions precedent:

(i) on or before the date hereof, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered
each of the documents listed on Exhibit E in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and
its counsel;

(ii) as of the date hereof, there has been no Material Adverse Effect on the
financial condition of Seller or Guarantor since the most recent financial statements of such
Person delivered to Buyer;

(iii)  as of the date hereof, no material action, proceeding or investigation shall
have been instituted or threatened, nor shall any material order, judgment or decree have
been issued or proposed to be issued by any Governmental Authority with respect to Seller
or Guarantor;
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(iv)  Seller shall have delivered to Buyer opinions of counsel substantially in the
form of Exhibit F and in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer and its counsel;

(v) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer such other documents, opinions of
counsel and certificates as Buyer may reasonably request;

(vi)  Seller shall have established the Accounts at Financial Institution and shall
have deposited the Required Amount to the Cash Pledge Account, if a Cash Pledge
Account is required by Buyer;

(vil)  on or before the date hereof, Seller shall have paid to the extent due all fees
and out-of-pocket costs and expenses required to be paid under this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document;

(viii)  This subsection left intentionally blank.
(ix) This subsection left intentionally blank.

(b) Conditions Precedent to Each Transaction. Buyer’s obligation to pay the Purchase
Price for each Transaction shall be subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions
precedent:

(i) with respect to each Purchase Date, Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a
Confirmation and the Loan Purchase Detail with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans
subject to such Transaction;

(i1) in the case of a Mortgage Loan subject to a Wet Funding, Buyer shall have
received the documents described in items (i) through (iv) of the definition of Loan File,
and, in the case of any other Mortgage Loan subject to such Transaction, Buyer shall have
received the complete Loan File for such Mortgage Loan, in each case in form and
substance satisfactory to Buyer;

(iii)  no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;

(iv)  no Margin Deficit shall exist either before or after giving effect to such
Transaction;

(v) this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents shall be in full
force and effect, and the Termination Date shall not have occurred;

(vi)  each Mortgage Loan subject to such Transaction is an Eligible Mortgage
Loan;

(vii) each of Seller’s and Guarantor’s representations and warranties in this
Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and in any
Officer’s Certificate delivered to Buyer in connection therewith shall be true and correct
on and as of the date herecof and such Purchase Date, with the same effect as though such
representations and warranties had been made on and as of such date (except for those
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representations and warranties and Officer’s Certificates which are specifically made only
as of a different date, which representations and warranties and Officer’s Certificates shall
be correct on and as of the date made), and Seller and Guarantor shall have complied with
all the agreements and satisfied all the conditions under this Agreement, each of the other
Transaction Documents and the Mortgage Loan Documents to which it is a party on its part
to be performed or satisfied at or prior to the related Purchase Date;

(viii) no Requirement of Law would prohibit the consummation of any
transaction contemplated hereby, or would impose limits on the amounts that Buyer may
legally receive or would impose a material tax or levy on such Transaction or the Purchase
Price, Repurchase Price or any payments received in respect thereof;

(ix) no action, proceeding or investigation shall have been instituted or
threatened, nor shall any order, judgment or decree have been issued or proposed to be
issued by any Governmental Authority to set aside, restrain, emjoin or prevent the
consummation of any Transaction contemplated hereby or secking material damages
against Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction
Documents;

(x) the Purchase Date for each Mortgage Loan proposed to be included in such
Transaction shall be no later than the Business Day next following its Origination Date
unless Buyer, acting in its sole discretion, shall approve a later Purchase Date;

(xi)  Buyer shall have determined that the amounts on deposit in the Seller’s
Operating Account are sufficient to fund any shortfall between the proceeds of a Purchased
Mortgage Loan to be funded at its Origination and the Purchase Price to be paid by Buyer
for that Mortgage Loan, after taking into account the other obligations of Seller to be
satisfied with the amounts on deposit in the Seller’s Operating Account on such Purchase
Date;

(xii)  after giving effect to such Transaction, the aggregate Purchase Price for all
outstanding Transactions will not exceed the Facility Amount;

(xiii) Buyer shall have received such other documents, information, reports and
certificates as it shall have reasonably requested; and

(xiv) Seller shall have deposited the amounts required by Paragraph 5 into each
of the Cash Pledge Account, if required by Buyer, and the Seller’s Operating Account.

(c) The acceptance by Seller, or by any Settlement Agent at the direction of Seller, of
any Purchase Price proceeds shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by Seller
that the foregoing conditions have been satisfied.

8. Segregation of Documents Relating to Purchased Mortgage Loans

All documents in the possession of Seller relating to Purchased Mortgage Loans shall be
segregated from other documents and securities in its possession and shall be identified as being
subject to this Agreement. Segregation may be accomplished by appropriate identification on the
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books and records of the holder, including a financial or securities intermediary or a clearing
corporation. All of Seller’s interest in the Purchased Mortgage Loans (including, without
limitation, the Servicing Rights) shall pass to Buyer on the Purchase Date and nothing in this
Agreement shall preclude Buyer from engaging in repurchase transactions with the Purchased
Mortgage Loans or otherwise selling, transferring, pledging or hypothecating the Purchased
Mortgage Loans, but no such transaction shall relieve Buyer of its obligations to transfer the
Purchased Mortgage Loans or other Mortgage Loans with substantially identical terms to Seller

pursuant to Paragraph 3(f). 4(c) or 21(b).

9. Representations and Warranties.

(a) To induce Buyer to enter into this Agreement and the Transactions hereunder,
Seller represents and warrants as of the date of this Agreement and as of each Purchase Date that
each of the following statements is and shall remain true and correct throughout the term of this
Agreement and until all obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of Seller under this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents are paid in full.

(i) Representations and Warranties Concerning Purchased Mortgage Loans.
By each delivery of a Confirmation, Seller shall be deemed, as of the Purchase Date of the
described sale of each Purchased Mortgage Loan (or, if another date is expressly provided
in such representation or warranty, as of such other date), and as of each date thereafter
that such Purchased Mortgage Loan remains subject to this Agreement, to represent and
warrant that each Purchased Mortgage Loan sold to Buyer is an Eligible Mortgage Loan.

(ii) Organization and Good Standing: Subsidiaries. Seller is a corporation,
limited liability company or partnership, as specified on its signature page to this
Agreement, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction under which it was organized, has full legal power and authority to own its
property and to carry on its business as currently conducted, and is duly qualified as a
foreign entity to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction in which the
transaction of its business makes such qualification necessary, except in jurisdictions, if
any, where a failure to be in good standing has no material adverse effect on the business,
operations, assets or financial condition of Seller or its Subsidiaries, if any. For the
purposes hereof, good standing shall include qualification for any and all licenses and
payment of any and all taxes required in the jurisdiction of its organization and in each
jurisdiction in which Seller or a Subsidiary transacts business. Seller has no Subsidiaries
except those identified by Seller to Buyer in Exhibit G. With respect to Seller and each
such Subsidiary, Exhibit G correctly states its name as it appears in its articles of formation
filed in the jurisdiction of its organization, address, place of organization, each state in
which it is qualified as a foreign corporation or entity, and in the case of the Subsidiaries,
the percentage ownership (direct or indirect) of Seller in such Subsidiary.

(iii)  Authority and Capacity. Seller has all requisite power, authority and
capacity to enter into this Agreement and each other Transaction Document and to perform
the obligations required of it hereunder and thereunder. This Agreement constitutes a valid
and legally binding agreement of Seller enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization,
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conservatorship and similar laws, and by equitable principles. No consent, approval,
authorization, license or order of or registration or filing with, or notice to, any
Governmental Authority is required under any Requirement of Law prior to the execution,
delivery and performance of or compliance by Seller with this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document or the consummation by Seller of any transaction contemplated
thereby, except for those which have already been obtained by Seller, and the filings and
recordings in respect of the Liens created pursuant to this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents. If Seller is a depository institution, this Agreement is a part of,
and will be maintained in, Seller’s official records.

(iv)  No Conflict. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, nor compliance with
its terms and conditions, shall conflict with or result in the breach of, or constitute a default
under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien of any nature upon the properties
or assets of Seller under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of Seller’s
organizational documents, or any mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, loan or credit
agreement or other agreement or instrument to which Seller is now a party or by which it
is bound (other than this Agreement).

(v) Performance. Seller does not believe, nor does it have any reason or cause
to believe, that it cannot perform, and Seller intends to perform, each and every covenant
which it is required to perform under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

(vi)  Ordinary Course Transaction. The consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement are in the ordinary course of business of Seller, and neither
the sale, transfer, assignment and conveyance of Mortgage Loans to Buyer nor the pledge,
assignment, transfer and granting of a security interest to Buyer in the Mortgage Assets, by
Seller pursuant to this Agreement is subject to the bulk transfer or any similar Requirement
of Law in effect in any applicable jurisdiction.

(vii) Litigation; Compliance with Laws. There is no Litigation pending or, to
Seller’s knowledge threatened, that could reasonably be expected to cause a Material
Adverse Effect or that might materially and adversely affect the Mortgage Loans sold or
to be sold pursuant to this Agreement, except as referenced in Altisource Asset
Management Corporation’s SEC filings. Seller has not violated any Requirement of Law
applicable to Seller which, if violated, would materially and adversely affect the Mortgage
Loans to be sold pursuant to this Agreement or could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(viii) Statements Made. The information, reports, financial statements, exhibits
and schedules furnished in writing by or on behalf of Seller to Buyer in connection with
the negotiation, preparation or delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents or included herein or therein or delivered pursuant hereto or thereto, when
taken as a whole, do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any
material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. All written information
furnished after the date hereof by or on behalf of Seller to Buyer in connection with this
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Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby
and thereby will be true, complete and accurate in every material respect, or (in the case of
projections) based on reasonable estimates, on the date as of which such information is
stated or certified. There is no fact known to a Responsible Officer that, after due inquiry,
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect that has not been disclosed
herein, in the other Transaction Documents or in a report, financial statement, exhibit,
schedule, disclosure letter or other writing furnished to Buyer for use in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

(ix)  Approved Company. Seller currently holds all approvals, authorizations
and other licenses from the Approved Takeout Investors and the Agencies required under
the Takeout Guidelines (or otherwise) to Originate, purchase, hold, service and sell
Mortgage Loans of the types to be offered for sale to Buyer hereunder.

(x) Fidelity Bonds. Seller has purchased fidelity bonds and policies of
insurance, all of which are in full force and effect, insuring Seller, Buyer and the successors
and assigns of Buyer in the greatest of (a) [ 1. (b) the amount required by the
Approved Takeout Investor and (c) the amount required by any other Takeout Guidelines,
against loss or damage from any breach of fidelity by Seller or any officer, director,
employee or agent of Seller, and against any loss or damage from loss or destruction of
documents, fraud, theft or misappropriation, or errors or omissions.

(xi)  Solvency. Both as of the date hereof and immediately after giving effect to
each Transaction hereunder, the fair value of the assets of Seller is greater than the fair
value of the liabilities (including, without limitation, contingent liabilities if and to the
extent required to be recorded as a liability on the financial statements of Seller in
accordance with GAAP) of Seller, and Seller is solvent, is able to pay and intends to pay
its debts as they mature and does not have an unreasonably small capital to engage in the
business in which it is engaged and proposes to engage. Seller does not intend to incur, or
believe that it has incurred, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature. Seller
is not transferring any Loans with any intent to hinder, delay or defraud any Person.

(xii) Reporting. In its financial statements, Seller intends to report each sale of
a Mortgage Loan hereunder as a financing in accordance with GAAP. Seller has been
advised by or confirmed with its independent public accountants that such sales can be so
reported under GAAP on its financial statements.

(xiii) Financial Condition. The balance sheets of Seller provided to Buyer
pursuant to Paragraph 10(g) (and, if applicable, its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated and
consolidating basis) as at the dates of such balance sheets, and the related statements of
income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the periods ended on the dates
of such balance sheets heretofore furnished to Buyer, fairly present the financial condition
of Seller and its Subsidiaries as of such dates and the results of its and their operations for
the periods ended on such dates. On the dates of such balance sheets, Seller had no known
material liabilities, direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, or
liabilities for taxes, long-term leases or unusual forward or long-term commitments not
disclosed by, or reserved against on, said balance sheets and related statements, and at the
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present time there are no material unrealized or anticipated losses from any loans, advances
or other commitments of Seller except as heretofore disclosed to Buyer in writing. Said
financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis
throughout the periods involved. Since the date of such balance sheet, there has been no
Material Adverse Effect, nor is Seller aware of any state of facts particular to Seller which
(with or without notice or lapse of time or both) could reasonably be expected to result in
any such Material Adverse Effect.

(xiv) Regulation U. Seller is not engaged principally, or as one of its important
activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying
margin stock, and no part of the proceeds of any sales made hereunder will be used to
purchase or carry any margin stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of
purchasing or carrying any margin stock.

(xv) Investment Company Act. Neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries is an
“investment company” or controlled by an “investment company” within the meaning of
the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

(xvi) Agreements. Neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any
agreement, instrument or indenture, or subject to any restriction, materially or adversely
affecting its business, operations, assets or financial condition, except as disclosed in the
financial statements described in Paragraph 10(g). None of Seller’s Subsidiaries is subject
to any dividend restriction imposed by a Governmental Authority other than those under
applicable statutory law. Neither Seller nor any of its Subsidiaries is in default in the
performance, observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions
contained in any agreement, instrument or indenture which default could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No holder of any Debt of Seller or of any
of its Subsidiaries has given notice of any alleged default thereunder, or, if given, the same
has been cured or will be cured by Seller or the relevant Subsidiary within the cure period
provided therein. No Act of Insolvency with respect to Seller, any of its Subsidiaries or
any Guarantor, or any of their respective properties is pending, contemplated or, to the
knowledge of Seller, threatened.

(xvii) Title to Properties. Seller and each Subsidiary of Seller has good, valid,
insurable (in the case of real property) and marketable title to all of its properties and assets
(whether real or personal, tangible or intangible) reflected on the financial statements
described in Paragraph 10(g), and all such properties and assets are free and clear of all
Liens except (i) the lien of current (nondelinquent) real and personal property taxes and
assessments, (ii) covenants, conditions and restrictions, rights or way, easements and other
similar matters to which like properties and assets are commonly subject that do not
materially interfere with the use of the property or asset as it is currently being used and
(iii) such other Liens as are disclosed in such financial statements and not prohibited under
this Agreement.

(xviii) ERISA. All plans (“Plans”) of a type described in Paragraph 3(3) of ERISA
in respect of which Seller or any Subsidiary of Seller is an “employer,” as defined in
Paragraph 3(5) of ERISA, are in substantial compliance with ERISA, and none of such
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Plans is insolvent or in reorganization, has an accumulated or waived funding deficiency
within the meaning of Paragraph 412 of the IRC, and neither Seller nor any Subsidiary of
Seller has incurred any material liability (including any material contingent liability) to or
on account of any such Plan pursuant to Paragraphs 4062, 4063, 4064, 4201 or 4204 of
ERISA. No proceedings have been instituted to terminate any such Plan, and no condition
exists which presents a material risk to Seller or a Subsidiary of Seller of incurring a
liability to or on account of any such Plan pursuant to any of the foregoing Paragraphs of
ERISA. No Plan or trust forming a part thereof has been terminated since December 1,
1974.

(xix) Proper Names. Seller does not operate in any jurisdiction under a trade
name, division, division name or name other than those names previously disclosed in
writing by Seller to Buyer, and all such names are utilized by Seller only in the
jurisdiction(s) identified in such writing. The only names used by Seller in its tax returns
for the last ten (10) years are set forth in Exhibit K.

(xx) No Undisclosed Liabilities. Other than as disclosed in the financial
statements delivered pursuant to Paragraph 10(g), Seller does not have any liabilities or
Debt, direct or contingent.

(xxi) Tax Returns and Payments. All federal, state and local income, excise,
property and other tax returns required to be filed with respect to Seller’s operations and
those of its Subsidiaries in any jurisdiction have been filed on or before the due date thereof
(plus any applicable extensions); all such returns are true and correct; all taxes,
assessments, fees and other governmental charges upon Seller, and Seller’s Subsidiaries
and upon their respective properties, income or franchises, which are, or should be, shown
to be due and payable on such tax returns have been paid, including, without limitation, all
Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) payments and withholding taxes, if
appropriate, other than those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings, diligently pursued and as to which Seller has established adequate reserves
determined in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied. The amounts reserved, as a
liability for income and other taxes payable, in the financial statements described in
Paragraph 10(g) are sufficient for payment of all unpaid federal, state and local income,
excise, property and other taxes, whether or not disputed, of Seller and its Subsidiaries,
accrued for or applicable to the period and on the dates of such financial statements and all
years and periods prior thereto and for which Seller and Seller’s Subsidiaries may be liable
in their own right or as transferee of the assets of, or as successor to, any other Person.

(xxii) No Warrants; Shares Valid, Paid and Non-assessable. Seller has not issued,
and does not have outstanding, any warrants, options, rights or other obligations to issue
or purchase any shares of its capital stock or other securities (or other equity equivalent).
The outstanding shares of capital stock (or other equity equivalent) of Seller have been
duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable.

(xxiii) Credit Information. Seller has full right and authority and is not precluded
by law or contract from furnishing to Buyer the applicable consumer report (as defined in
the Fair Credit Reporting Act, Public Law 91-508) and all other credit information relating
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to each Purchased Mortgage Loan sold hereunder, and Buyer will not be precluded from
furnishing such materials to the related Approved Takeout Investor by such laws. Neither
the foregoing nor any other provision of this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document shall be construed to impose any obligation on Buyer to keep the above
described materials confidential or to otherwise comply with the Fair Credit Reporting Act
or any similar laws,

(xxiv) No Discrimination. Seller makes credit accessible to all qualified applicants
in accordance with all Requirements of Law. Seller has not discriminated, and will not
discriminate, against credit applicants on the basis of any prohibited characteristic,
including race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital or familial status, age (provided
that the applicant has the ability to enter into a binding contract), handicap, sexual
orientation or because all or part of the applicant’s income is derived from a public
assistance program or because of the applicant’s good faith exercise of rights under the
Federal Consumer Protection Act. Furthermore, Seller has not discouraged, and will not
discourage, the completion of any credit application based on any of the foregoing
prohibited bases. In addition, Seller has complied with all anti-redlining provisions and
equal credit opportunity laws applicable under all Requirements of Law.

(xxv) Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act. There is no litigation,
proceeding or governmental investigation existing or pending or to the knowledge of Seller
threatened, or any order, injunction or decree outstanding against or relating to Seller,
relating to any violation of the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act or any state,
city or district high cost home mortgage or predatory lending law.

(xxvi) Place of Business and Formation. The principal place of business of Seller
is located at the address set forth for Seller in Paragraph 14. As of the date hereof, and
during the four (4) months immediately preceding that date, the chief executive office of
Seller and the office where it keeps its financial books and records relating to its property
and all contracts relating thereto and all accounts arising therefrom is and has been located
at the address set forth for Seller in Paragraph 14. As of the date hereof, Seller’s
jurisdiction of organization is the state specified in Paragraph 14.

(xxvii) No Adverse Selection. Seller used no selection procedures that identified
the Purchased Mortgage Loans offered to Buyer for purchase hereunder as being less
desirable or valuable than other comparable Mortgage Loans owned by Seller.

(xxviii) MERS. Each Approved Takeout Investor is a member of MERS in good
standing, except as Buyer may approve in writing in its sole discretion.

(xxix) Seller is Principal. Seller is engaging in the Transactions as a principal.

(xxx) No Default. No Default or Event of Default has occurred.

(b) Mortgage Loan Representations. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that
(1) each Purchased Mortgage Loan is an Eligible Mortgage Loan on and as of the Purchase Date
therefor, (i1) each Mortgage Loan to be transferred from Seller to Buyer as an Additional Purchased
Mortgage Loan is an Eligible Mortgage Loan on and as of the date of transfer thereof and (iii) each
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Purchased Mortgage Loan identified as an Eligible Mortgage Loan by Seller in any report or other
information delivered to Buyer is an Eligible Mortgage Loan. Seller further makes the
representations and warranties regarding each Purchased Mortgage Loan (including each Additional
Purchased Mortgage Loan) as are set forth in Exhibit B.

(c) Survival of Representations. All the representations and warranties made by Seller
to Buyer in this Agreement are binding on Seller regardless of whether the subject matter thereof
was under the control of Seller or a third party. Seller acknowledges that Buyer will rely upon all
such representations and warranties with respect to each Purchased Mortgage Loan purchased by
Buyer hereunder, and Seller makes such representations and warranties in order to induce Buyer to
purchase the Mortgage Loans. The representations and warranties by Seller in this Agreement with
respect to a Purchased Mortgage Loan shall be unaffected by, and shall supersede and control over,
any provision in any existing or future endorsement of any Purchased Mortgage Loan or in any
assignment with respect to such Purchased Mortgage Loan to the effect that such endorsement or
assignment is without recourse or without representation or warranty. All Seller representations
and warranties shall survive delivery of the Loan Files and the Confirmations, purchase by Buyer
of Purchased Mortgage Loans, transfer of the servicing for the Purchased Mortgage Loans to a
successor servicer, delivery of Purchased Mortgage Loans to an Approved Takeout Investor,
repurchases of the Purchased Mortgage Loans by Seller and termination of this Agreement. The
representations and warranties of Seller in this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of Buyer and its
successors and assigns, notwithstanding any examination by Buyer of any Mortgage Loan
Documents, related files or other documents delivered to Buyer.

10. Seller’s Covenants.

Seller shall perform, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to perform, the following
duties at all times during the term of this Agreement:

(a) Maintenance of Existence: Conduct of Business. Seller and each of its Subsidiaries
shall preserve and maintain its existence in good standing and all of its rights, privileges, licenses
and franchises necessary in the normal conduct of its business, including without limitation its
eligibility as lender, seller/servicer and issuer described under subparagraph 9(a)(ix); and each of
Seller and its Subsidiaries shall conduct its business in an orderly and efficient manner and shall
keep adequate books and records of its business activities, and make no material change in the
nature or character of its business or engage in any business in which it was not engaged on the date
of this Agreement. Seller will not make any material change in its accounting treatment and
reporting practices except as required by GAAP. Seller will remain a member of MERS in good
standing.

(b) Compliance with Applicable Laws. Seller and each of its Subsidiaries shall comply
with all Requirements of Law, a breach of which would or could reasonably be expected to
adversely affect the Mortgage Loans to be sold pursuant to this Agreement, or that could reasonably
be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect except where contested in good faith and by
appropriate proceedings, and with adequate book reserves determined in accordance with GAAP,
consistently applied, established therefor. Seller and each of its Subsidiaries shall comply with all
Requirements of Law applicable to it and the Purchased Mortgage Loans or any part thereof
(including, without limitation, any Agency Guidelines, all anti-money laundering laws and
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regulations, including, without limitation, the USA Patriot Act of 2001, as amended, the GLB Act
and all consumer protection laws and regulations).

(c) Inspection of Properties and Books. Seller shall permit authorized representatives
of Buyer to (i) discuss the business, operations, assets and financial condition of Seller and Seller’s
Subsidiaries with their officers and employees and to examine their books of account, records,
reports and other papers and make copies or extracts thereof, (ii) inspect all of Seller’s property
and all related information and reports, and (iii) audit Seller’s operations to ensure compliance with
the terms of the Transaction Documents, the GLB Act and other privacy laws and regulations, all
at Seller’s expense and at such reasonable times as Buyer may request. Seller will provide its
accountants with a photocopy of this Agreement promptly after the execution hereof and will
instruct its accountants to answer candidly any and all questions that the officers of Buyer or any
authorized representatives of Buyer may address to them in reference to the financial condition or
affairs of Seller and Seller’s Subsidiaries. Seller may have its representatives in attendance at any
meetings between the officers or other representatives of Buyer and Seller’s accountants held in
accordance with this authorization.

(d) Notices. Seller will promptly notify Buyer of the occurrence of any of the following
and shall provide such additional documentation and cooperation as Buyer may request with respect
to any of the following:

(i) any change in the business address and/or telephone number of Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor;

(ii)  any merger, consolidation or reorganization of Seller, any Subsidiary of
Seller or any Guarantor, or any changes in the ownership of Seller, any Subsidiary of
Seller or any Guarantor by direct or indirect means. “Indirect” means any change in
ownership of a controlling interest of the relevant Person’s direct or indirect parent;

(iii)  any change of the name or jurisdiction of organization of Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor;

(iv)  any significant adverse change in the financial position of Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor;

(v) entry of any court judgment or regulatory order in which Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor is or may be required to pay a claim or claims
which could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor, on the ability of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or
any Guarantor to perform its obligations under any Transaction Document, or on the
ability of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor to continue its operations in a
manner similar to its current operations;

(vi)  the filing of any petition, claim or lawsuit against Seller, any Subsidiary of
Seller or any Guarantor which could have a material adverse effect on the financial
condition of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor, on the ability of Seller,
any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor to perform its obligations under any
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Transaction Document, or on the ability of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any
Guarantor to continue its operations in a manner similar to its current operations;

(vii)  Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor admits to committing, or
is found to have committed, a material violation of any Requirement of Law relating to
its business operations, including but not limited to, its loan generation, sale or servicing
operations;

(viii) the initiation of any investigations, audits, examinations or reviews of
Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor by any Agency, Governmental
Authority, trade association or consumer advocacy group relating to the Origination, sale
or servicing of mortgage loans by Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor or the
business operations of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor, with the
exception of normally scheduled audits or examinations by the regulators of Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor;

(ix)  any disqualification or suspension of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or
any Guarantor by an Agency, including any notification or knowledge, from any source,
of any disqualification or suspension, or any warning of any such disqualification or
suspension or impending or threatened disqualification or suspension;

(x) the occurrence of any actions, inactions or events upon which an Agency
may, in accordance with Agency Guidelines, disqualify or suspend Seller, any Subsidiary
of Seller or any Guarantor as a seller or servicer, including, but not limited to, those
events or reasons for disqualification or suspension enumerated in Chapter 5 of the
Freddie Mac Single Family Seller/Servicer Guide;

(xi)  the filing, recording or assessment of any federal, state or local tax Lien
against Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor, or any of their assets;

(xii)  any demand received from any investor in Mortgage Loans originated or
sold by Seller that Seller buy back any Mortgage Loan (Seller shall provide a copy of
each such demand to Buyer on the same day Buyer receives it or on the next Business
Day at the latest);

(xiii) any notice from any Approved Takeout Investor rejecting a Mortgage
Loan tendered or delivered for sale to such Approved Takeout Investor, or notifying
Seller of any early payoff of, or early default under, any Mortgage Loan originated or
sold by Seller and requiring Seller to pay or perform any warranty or recourse obligation
in respect thereto (Seller shall provide a copy of each such demand to Buyer within five
(5) Business Days of Buyer’s receipt of it);

(xiv) the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder or the occurrence of any
Default,

(xv) the suspension, revocation or termination of any licenses or eligibility as
described under subparagraph 9(a)(ix) of Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any
Guarantor,
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(xvi) any other action, event or condition of any nature which could reasonably
be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or which, with or without notice or
lapse of time or both, will constitute a default under any other agreement, instrument or
indenture to which Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor is a party or to
which its properties or assets may be subject; or

(xvii) any alleged breach by Buyer of any provision of this Agreement or of any
of the other Transaction Documents.

(¢) Payment of Debt, Taxes, etc.

(i) Seller shall pay and perform all obligations and Debt of Seller, and cause
to be paid and performed all obligations and Debt of its Subsidiaries in accordance with
the terms thereof, and pay and discharge or cause to be paid and discharged all taxes,
assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon Seller, its Subsidiaries, or
upon their respective income, receipts or properties, before the same shall become past
due, as well as all lawful claims for labor, materials or supplies or otherwise which, if
unpaid, might become a Lien upon such properties or any part thereof; provided that
Seller and its Subsidiaries shall not be required to pay obligations, Debt, taxes,
assessments or governmental charges or levies or claims for labor, materials or supplies
for which Seller or its Subsidiaries shall have obtained an adequate bond or adequate
insurance or which are being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings that are
being reasonably and diligently pursued, if such proceedings do not involve any
likelihood of the sale, forfeiture or loss of any such property or any interest therein while
such proceedings are pending and if adequate book reserves determined in accordance
with GAAP, consistently applied, are established therefor.

(i)  (A)  All payments made by Seller under this Agreement shall be made
free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for or on account of, any present
or future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities
(including penalties, interest and additions to tax) with respect thereto imposed by any
Governmental Authority, excluding taxes imposed on (or measured by) Seller’s net
income (however denominated) or capital, branch profits taxes, franchise taxes or any
other tax imposed on the net income by the United States, a state or a foreign jurisdiction
under the laws of which Seller is organized or of its applicable lending office, or any
political subdivision thereof (collectively, “Taxes™), all of which shall be paid by Seller
for its own account not later than the date when due. If Seller is required by any
Requirement of Law to deduct or withhold any Taxes from or in respect of any amount
payable hereunder, it shall (a) make such deduction or withholding, (b) pay the amount so
deducted or withheld to the appropriate Governmental Authority not later than the date
due, (¢) deliver to Buyer, promptly, original tax receipts and other evidence satisfactory
to Buyer of the payment when due of the full amount of such Taxes and (d) pay to Buyer
such additional amounts as may be necessary so that such Buyer receives, free and clear
of all Taxes, a net amount equal to the amount it would have received under this
Agreement, as if no such deduction or withholding had been made.
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(B) In addition, Seller agrees to pay to the relevant Governmental
Authority in accordance with all applicable Requirements of Law any current or future
stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies
(including, without limitation, mortgage recording taxes, transfer taxes and similar fees)
imposed by the United States or any taxing authority thereof or therein that arise from any
payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or registration of, or otherwise
with respect to, this Agreement (“Other Taxes™).

(C)  Seller agrees to indemnify Buyer for the full amount of Taxes and
Other Taxes (including additional amounts with respect thereto), and the full amount of
Taxes of any kind imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Paragraph
10(e), and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or
with respect thereto, provided that Buyer shall have provided Seller with evidence,
reasonably satisfactory to Seller, of payment of Taxes or Other Taxes, as the case may be.

(H Insurance. Seller shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, maintain (a) errors and
omissions insurance or mortgage impairment insurance and blanket bond coverage, with such
companies and in such amounts as to satisfy prevailing Agency Guidelines requirements applicable
to a qualified mortgage originating institution and with Seller’s policy endorsed with the Blanket
Bond and E&O Required Endorsement; (b) liability insurance and fire and other hazard insurance
on its properties, with responsible insurance companies acceptable to Buyer, in such amounts and
against such risks as is customarily carried by similar businesses operating in the same vicinity; and
(¢) within thirty (30) days after notice from Buyer, obtain such additional insurance as Buyer shall
reasonably require, all at the sole expense of Seller. Photocopies of such policies shall be furnished
to Buyer without charge upon obtaining such coverage or any renewal of or modification to such
coverage.

() Financial Statements and Other Reports. Seller shall deliver or cause to be
delivered to Buyer:

(i) As soon as available and in any event not later than thirty (30) days after
the end of each quarter of Seller’s fiscal year, statements of income and changes in
stockholders’ equity and cash flow of Seller (and, if applicable, Seller’s Subsidiaries on a
consolidated and consolidating basis) for the immediately preceding quarter, and related
balance sheet(s) as at the end of the immediately preceding quarter, all in reasonable detail,
prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis, and certified as to the
fairness of presentation by the chief financial officer of Seller, subject, however, to normal
year-end audit adjustments;

(i) As soon as available and in any event not later than ninety (90) days after
Seller’s fiscal year end, statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash
flows of Seller (and, if applicable, Seller’s Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) for the
preceding fiscal year, the related balance sheet as at the end of such year (setting forth in
comparative form the corresponding figures for the preceding fiscal year), all in reasonable
detail, prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the
periods involved, and accompanied by an opinion in form and substance satisfactory to
Buyer and prepared by an accounting firm reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, or other
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independent certified public accountants of recognized standing selected by Seller and
acceptable to Buyer, as to said financial statements and a certificate signed by the chief
financial officer of Seller stating that said financial statements fairly present the financial
condition, results and cash flows of operations of Seller (and, if applicable, Seller’s
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) as at the end of, and for, such year;

(i)  Together with each delivery of financial statements required in this
Paragraph 10(g), a Compliance Certificate executed by the chief financial officer of Seller;

(iv)  Upon request from Buyer, and, if not requested, by attaching to the next
Compliance Certificate, photocopies of each “report card” or performance report received
from Seller’s correspondents or takeout investors summarizing volumes by type of
Mortgages sold by Buyer, their quality, FICO score brackets of the related Mortgagors,
related outstanding documents experience, registrations, pull throughs and other
information regarding such Mortgages;

(v) Photocopies of all regular or periodic financial and other reports, if any,
which Seller, any Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor shall file with the SEC or any other
Governmental Authority (other than routine tax and corporate or organizational filings),
not later than five (5) days after filing,

(vi)  Photocopies of any audits completed by any Agency of Seller, any
Subsidiary of Seller or any Guarantor, not later than five (5) days after receiving such audit;

(vii)  If Seller is interim servicing any Purchased Mortgage Loans, then not less
frequently than once every week (and more often if requested by Buyer), a report in form
and substance satisfactory to Buyer summarizing the Hedging Arrangements, if any, then
in effect with respect to all Mortgage Loans, if any, then owned by Buyer and interim
serviced by Seller; and

(viii) From time to time, with reasonable promptness, such further information
regarding the Mortgage Assets, or the business, operations, properties or financial
condition of Seller and any Guarantor as Buyer may reasonably request.

(h) Limits on Distributions. Seller shall not pay, make or declare or incur any liability
to pay, make or declare any dividend (excluding stock dividends) or other distribution, direct or
indirect, on or on account of any shares of its stock (or equivalent equity interest) or any redemption
or other acquisition, direct or indirect, of any shares of its stock (or equivalent equity interest) or of
any warrants, rights or other options to purchase any shares of its stock (or equivalent equity
interest), nor purchase, acquire, redeem or retire any stock (or equivalent equity interest) in itself
whether now or hereafter outstanding, except that, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists
at such time or will occur as a result of such payment, Seller may pay Permitted Dividends.

(i) Use of NexBank’s Name. Seller shall and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, confine
its use of Buyer’s logo and the “NexBank™ name to those uses specifically authorized in advance
by Buyer in writing. Except where required by the federal Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
or HUD’s Regulation X thereunder, or the Helping Families Save Their Homes Act of 2009, as
amended from time to time, in no instance may Seller or any of its Subsidiaries disclose to any
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prospective Mortgagor, or the agents of the Mortgagor, that such Mortgagor’s Mortgage Loan will
be offered for sale to Buyer. None of Seller or its Subsidiaries, if any, may use Buyer’s name or
logo to obtain any mortgage-related services without the prior written consent of Buyer.

() Reporting. In its financial statements, Seller will report each sale of a Mortgage
Loan hereunder as a financing in accordance with GAAP.

(k) Transactions with Affiliates. Seller will not and will not permit any of its
Subsidiaries, if any, to (i) enter into any transaction, including, without limitation, any purchase,
sale, lease or exchange of property or the rendering of any service, with any Affiliate unless such
transaction is (a) otherwise permitted under this Agreement, (b) in the ordinary course of Seller’s
or such Subsidiary’s business and (c) upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to Seller or
such Subsidiary than it would obtain in a comparable arm’s-length transaction with a Person which
is not an Affiliate, or (i) make a payment that is not otherwise permitted by this Paragraph 10 to
any Affiliate.

() Defense of Title: Preservation of Mortgage Assets. Seller warrants and will defend
the right, title and interest of Buyer in and to all Mortgage Assets against all adverse claims and
demands of all Persons whomsoever. Seller shall do all things necessary to preserve the Mortgage
Assets so that such Mortgage Assets remain subject to a first priority perfected Lien hereunder.
Without limiting the foregoing, Seller will comply with all Requirements of Law applicable to Seller
or relating to the Mortgage Assets and cause the Mortgage Assets to comply with all applicable
Requirements of Law. Seller will not allow any default to occur for which Seller is responsible
under any Mortgage Assets or any Transaction Documents and Seller shall fully perform or cause
to be performed when due all of its obligations under any Mortgage Assets and the Transaction
Documents.

(m) Limitation on Sale of Assets. Seller shall not convey, sell, lease, assign, transfer or
otherwise dispose of (collectively, “Transfer”), all or substantially all of its property, business or
assets (including, without limitation, receivables and leasehold interests) whether now owned or
hereafter acquired or allow any of its Subsidiaries to Transfer all or substantially all of its assets to
any Person.

(n) No Amendment or Compromise. Without Buyer’s prior written consent, none of
Seller or those acting on Seller’s behalf shall amend or modify, or waive any term or condition of,
or settle or compromise any claim in respect of, any item of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, any
related rights or any of the Transaction Documents.

(0) Loan Determined to be Defaulted or Defective. Upon discovery by Seller that any
Purchased Mortgage Loan is a Defaulted Loan or a Defective Mortgage Loan, Seller shall promptly
give notice of such discovery to Buyer.

(p) Further Assurances. Seller agrees to do such further acts and things and to execute
and deliver to Buyer such additional assignments, acknowledgments, agreements, powers and
instruments as are reasonably required by Buyer to carry into effect the intent and purposes of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, to perfect the interests of Buyer in the Mortgage

Master Repurchase Agreement — Page 38
(Rev. 03/09/2022)
HB: 4860-6056-1208.9




Assets or to better assure and confirm unto Buyer its rights, powers and remedies hereunder and
thereunder.

(q) Only Permitted Debt. Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries
to, incur, permit to exist or commit to incur any Debt that has not been approved by Buyer in
writing in advance, except the following (collectively, “Permitted Debt™):

(1) Seller’s obligations under this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents;

(ii)  obligations to pay taxes;

(iii)  liabilities for accounts payable, non-capitalized equipment or operating
leases and similar liabilities, but only if incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(iv)  accrued expenses, deferred credits and loss contingencies that are properly
classified as liabilities under GAAP;

(v) Debt incurred in the ordinary course of business to hedge the risk of interest
rate fluctuations of Seller’s portfolio or pipeline of Mortgage Loans; and

(vi)  other Debt approved by Buyer, including the Permitted Debt, if any,
described in the Terms Annex (Buyer shall have no obligation to approve any other Debt, and
may approve or disapprove it, in writing or otherwise, in the Buyer’s sole and absolute discretion).

(r) Reserved.

(s) No Guaranties. Without the prior written consent of Buyer, Seller shall not, and
shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, guaranty any Debt other than Debt incurred by a
Subsidiary for a warehouse or repurchase facility for Mortgage Loans.

(t) Underwriting Guidelines. Seller will underwrite each Mortgage Loan offered for
sale to Buyer herecunder in compliance with Agency Guidelines and, to the extent a Takeout
Commitment is required by Buyer, in compliance with the Takeout Guidelines of the Approved
Takeout Investor to whom such Mortgage Loan is intended to be sold, and with the underwriting
requirements of the Takeout Commitment that covers such Mortgage Loan.

(u) No Mergers, Acquisitions, Subsidiaries. Seller will not, and will not permit any of
its Subsidiaries to, consolidate or merge with or into any entity (unless Seller is the surviving entity
and any of Seller’s Subsidiaries may merge with or into Seller), consolidate, acquire any interest in
any Person or create, form or acquire any Subsidiary not listed in Exhibit G.

(v) UCC. Seller will not change its name, identity, corporate structure or location
(within the meaning of Paragraph 9-307 of the UCC) unless it shall have (i) given Buyer at least
forty-five (45) days’ prior written notice thereof and (ii) delivered to Buyer all financing statements,
amendments, instruments, legal opinions and other documents requested by Buyer in connection
with such change. Seller will keep its principal place of business and chief executive office at the
location specified in Paragraph 14, and the office where it maintains any physical records of the
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Purchased Mortgage Loans at a corporate facility of Seller, or, in any such case, upon thirty (30)
days’ prior written notice to Buyer, at another location within the United States.

(w) Takeout Commitments. Except to the extent superseded by this Agreement, for
Purchaser Mortgage Loans where Buyer requires a Takeout Commitment, Seller covenants that it
shall continue to perform all of its duties and obligations to the Approved Takeout Investor, under
any applicable Takeout Commitment and Takeout Agreement and otherwise, with respect to a
Purchased Mortgage Loan as if such Mortgage Loan were still owned by Seller and to be sold
directly by Seller to the Approved Takeout Investor pursuant to such Takeout Commitment on the
date provided therein without the intervening ownership of Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller shall timely assemble all records and
documents concerning the Mortgage Loan required under any applicable Takeout Commitment
(except that photocopies instead of originals shall be used for those documents already provided to
Buyer in the Loan File) and all other documents and information that may have been required or
requested by the Approved Takeout Investor, and Seller shall make all representations and
warranties required to be made to the Approved Takeout Investor under the applicable Takeout
Commitment and Takeout Agreement.

(x) Financial Covenants.

(i) Leverage Ratio. Seller shall not permit the Leverage Ratio of Seller (and,
if applicable, its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis) to exceed the Maximum Leverage
Ratio specified in the Terms Annex computed as of the end of each calendar month.

(ii) Minimum Net Worth. Seller shall not permit the Net Worth of Seller (and,
if applicable, its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis), computed as of the end of each
calendar month, to be less than the Minimum Net Worth specified in the Terms Annex.

(iii)  Minimum Current Ratio. Seller shall not permit the Current Ratio of Seller
(and, if applicable, its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis), computed as of the end of
each calendar month, to be less than the Minimum Current Ratio specified in the Terms
Annex.

(iv)  Maintenance of Liquidity. Seller shall maintain at all times unencumbered
Liquidity in an amount greater than or equal to the percentage of its actual total assets
(including the balance on deposit in the Cash Pledge Account, if required by Buyer, but
excluding any restricted cash or cash pledged to third parties) specified as the Minimum
Liquidity Percentage in the Terms Annex.

(v) Net Income. Seller shall not permit its net income before taxes, for Twelve
Trailing Months (TTM), to be less than the Minimum Net Income specified in the Terms
Annex.

(y) Government Regulation. Seller shall not (1) be or become subject at any time to
any Requirement of Law (including, without limitation, the U.S. Office of Foreign Asset Control
list) that prohibits or limits Buyer from making any advance or extension of credit to Seller or from
otherwise conducting business with Seller, or (2) fail to provide documentary and other evidence of
Seller's identity as may be requested by Buyer at any time to enable Buyer to verify Seller's identity
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or to comply with any applicable Requirement of Law, including, without limitation, Section 326
of the USA Patriot Act of 2001, 31 U.S.C. Section 5318.

11. Events of Default; Remedies.

(a) Each of the following events shall, upon its occurrence and during it continuance,
be an “Event of Default”:

(i) Seller fails to remit any Price Differential, income, fees, Repurchase Price,
escrow payment or any other amount due to Buyer pursuant to the terms hereof or any
other Transaction Document or fails to cure any Margin Deficit as provided in Paragraph
4;or

(ii) Seller fails to repurchase any Purchased Mortgage Loan at the time and for
the amount required hereunder; or

(iii)  (A) any representation or warranty made by Seller or Guarantor in, or in
connection with, this Agreement or any other Transaction Document is inaccurate or
incomplete on or as of the date made or hereafter becomes untrue or (B) any information
contained in any written statement, report, financial statement or certificate made or
delivered by Seller or Guarantor (either before or after the date hereof) to Buyer pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document is untrue or incorrect as
of the date when made or deemed made; or

(iv)  Seller shall fail to comply with any of the requirements set forth in

Paragraph 10(b) (Inspection of Properties and Books), Paragraph 10(o) (Loan Determined
to be Defaulted or Defective) or Paragraph 10(x) (Financial Covenants); or

(v) Seller or Guarantor, as applicable, shall fail to observe, keep or perform any
duty, responsibility or obligation imposed or required by this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document other than one of the Events of Default specified or described in
another subparagraph of this Paragraph 11(a)), and such failure continues unremedied for
a period of five (5) days; or

(vi)  any Act of Insolvency occurs with respect to Seller, any of its Subsidiaries
or Guarantor; or

(vil) one or more judgments or decrees are entered against Seller, any of its
Subsidiaries or Guarantor involving claims not paid or not fully covered by insurance and
all such judgments or decrees are not vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending
appeal within thirty (30) days after its entry; or

(viii) any Agency, private investor or any other Person seizes or takes control of
the servicing portfolio of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, any Subservicer or Guarantor for
breach of any servicing agreement applicable to such servicing portfolio or for any other
reason whatsoever; or
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(ix) any Agency or Governmental Authority revokes or materially restricts the
authority of Seller, any of Seller’s Subsidiaries, any Subservicer or Guarantor to Originate,
purchase, sell or service Mortgage Loans, or Seller, any of Seller’s Subsidiaries, any
Subservicer or Guarantor shall fail to meet all requisite servicer eligibility qualifications
promulgated by any Agency; or

(x) there is a default under any agreement other than a Transaction Document
that Seller or Guarantor, or any of their respective Affiliates or Subsidiaries, has entered
into with Buyer or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries; or

(xi)  Seller, any of its Subsidiaries or Guarantor fails to pay when due any other
Debt when due and beyond any period of grace provided, or there occurs any breach or
default with respect to any material term of any such Debt, if the effect of such failure,
breach or default is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders thereof (or a trustee on
behalf of such holder or holders) to cause, such Debt of such Person to become or be
declared due prior to its stated maturity (upon the giving or receiving of notice, lapse of
time or both, or satisfaction of any other condition to acceleration, whether or not any such
condition to acceleration has been satisfied); or

(xi1)  there is a Material Adverse Effect; or

(xiii) Seller or any of its Subsidiaries defaults under any mortgage loan
repurchase arrangement similar to this Agreement, including off balance sheet repurchase
arrangements, or under any warchouse lending arrangement, including off balance sheet
warehouse lending arrangements, which it may have with any other Person, beyond any
applicable notice and grace periods; or

(xiv) (A) Seller or Guarantor shall assert that any Transaction Document is not
in full force and effect or shall otherwise seek to terminate or disaffirm its obligations under
any such Transaction Document at any time following the execution thereof or (B) any
Transaction Document ceases to be in full force and effect, or any of Seller’s or Guarantor’s
material obligations under any Transaction Document shall cease to be in full force and
effect, or the enforceability thereof shall be contested by Seller or Guarantor; or

(xv) any Governmental Authority or any Person acting or purporting to act under
Governmental Authority shall have taken any action to condemn, seize or appropriate, or
to assume custody or control of, all or any substantial part of the assets of Seller, any of its
Subsidiaries or Guarantor, or shall have taken any action to displace the management of
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries or to curtail its authority in the conduct of the business of
Seller or any of its Subsidiaries, or to restrict the payment of dividends to Seller by any
Subsidiary of Seller, and such action shall not have been discontinued or stayed within
thirty (30) days; or

(xvi) Guarantor defaults under the Guaranty, or a default or an event of default
shall have occurred under any other Transaction Document; or

(xvii) any Change in Control of Seller or any of its Subsidiaries shall have
occurred without Buyer’s prior written consent or a material change in the management of
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Seller or any of its Subsidiaries shall have occurred which has not been approved by Buyer
in writing; or

(xviii) without Buyer’s prior written consent, any Key Person specified in the
Terms Annex shall cease for any reason whatsoever, including death or disability, to be,
and to continuously perform the duties of his or her office with Seller specified in the Terms
Annex or, if such cessation shall occur as a result of death or disability, no successor
satisfactory to Buyer, in its reasonable judgment, shall have become, and shall have
commenced to perform the duties of such office within ninety (90) days after such
cessation; provided that if any such satisfactory successor shall have been so elected and
shall have commenced performance of such duties within such period, then the name of
such successor or successors shall be deemed to have been inserted in place of the Key
Person, as applicable, in the Terms Annex; or

(xix) any failure by Seller to deliver assignments executed in blank to Buyer or
its designee for each Purchased Mortgage Loan then held by Buyer within five (5) Business
Days following any termination of Seller’s MERS membership; or

(xx) a downgrade of any of Seller’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ servicer ratings
below the ratings held by Seller or such Subsidiary as of the date of this Agreement; or

(xxi) the initiation of any investigation of Seller or Guarantor by any
Governmental Authority, which is reasonably likely to have a material effect on Seller’s or
Guarantor’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or the other Transaction
Documents; provided that Seller is not prohibited by law from disclosing the fact of the
investigation; or

(xxii) the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corp. shall, or shall indicate its intention to,
file notice of a Lien pursuant to Section 4068 of ERISA with regard to any of the assets of
Seller, any of its Subsidiaries or Guarantor; or

(xxii1) Seller shall become subject to registration as an “investment company™ as
defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended; or

(xxiv) Buyer shall fail to have a valid and perfected first priority security interest
in any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans, including the Servicing Rights thereto, or any
other Mortgage Assets, in each case free and clear of any other Lien.

(b) If an Event of Default occurs, Buyer, at its option, may at any time or times
thereafter while such Event of Default is continuing, elect by written notice to Seller to do any or
all of the following:

(i) accelerate the Repurchase Date of each outstanding Transaction whose
Repurchase Date has not already occurred and cancel the Purchase Date for any
Transaction whose Purchase Date has not yet occurred;
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(ii)  terminate and replace Seller as interim servicer with respect to any
Mortgage Assets at the cost and expense of Seller;

(iiiy  direct or cause Seller to direct, all Mortgagors to remit all income directly
to an account specified by Buyer; and

(iv)  terminate any commitment of Buyer to purchase Mortgage Loans under this
Agreement or otherwise.

(c) If Buyer has exercised the option referred to in subparagraph 11(b)(i), then
(i) Seller’s obligations hereunder to repurchase all Purchased Mortgage Loans shall thereupon
become immediately due and payable, (ii) to the extent permitted by applicable law, the Repurchase
Price with respect to each such Transaction shall be increased by the aggregate amount obtained by
daily application of (x) the greater of (i) the Pricing Rate for such Transaction and (ii) the lesser of
(1) the Prime Rate plus [ | and (2) the Ceiling Rate to (y) the Repurchase Price for such
Transaction as of the accelerated Repurchase Date as determined pursuant to Paragraph 11(b)
(decreased as of any day by (A) any amounts retained by Buyer with respect to such Repurchase
Price pursuant to clause (iii) or clause (iv) of this Paragraph 11(c) and (B) any proceeds from the
sale of Purchased Mortgage Loans pursuant to Paragraph 11(d), on a 360 day per year basis for the
actual number of days during the period from and including the date of the Event of Default giving
rise to such option to but excluding the date of payment of the Repurchase Price as so increased,
(iii) all principal and interest payments paid after such exercise or deemed exercise shall be payable
to and retained by Buyer and shall be applied to the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Prices and all
other amounts owed by Seller to Buyer or any other Indemnified Party under the Transaction
Documents, (iv) in accordance with Paragraphs 4 and 5, all amounts on deposit in the Accounts,
shall be applied by Buyer to the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Prices and all other amounts owed
by Seller to Buyer or any other Indemnified Party under the Transaction Documents, (v) Seller shall,
if directed by Buyer in writing, immediately deliver to Buyer any documents then in Seller’s
possession relating to any Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to such Transactions, (iv) Buyer may,
by notice to Seller, declare the Termination Date to have occurred.

(d) (i) Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, without prior notice to Seller,
Buyer may (A) immediately sell, on a servicing released or servicing retained basis as Buyer deems
desirable, in a recognized market at such price or prices as Buyer may in its sole discretion deem
satisfactory, any or all Purchased Mortgage Loans subject to such Transactions and apply the
proceeds thereof to the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Prices and any other amounts owing by Seller
to Buyer or any other Indemnified Party under the Transaction Documents or (B)in its sole
discretion elect, in lieu of selling all or a portion of such Purchased Mortgage Loans, to give Seller
credit for such Purchased Mortgage Loans in an amount equal to the Market Value therefor on such
date against the aggregate unpaid Repurchase Prices and any other amounts owing by Seller to
Buyer or any other Indemnified Party under the Transaction Documents,

(ii) The proceeds of any disposition described above shall be applied first, to the
costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with or as a result of an Event of Default
(including, without limitation, legal fees, consulting fees, accounting fees, file transfer and
inventory fees, costs and expenses incurred in respect of a transfer of the servicing of the Purchased
Mortgage Loans and costs and expenses incurred in connection with a disposition of the Purchased

Master Repurchase Agreement — Page 44
(Rev. 03/09/2022)
HB: 4860-6056-1208.9




Mortgage Loans); second, to costs of cover and/or related hedging transactions; third, to the
aggregate and accrued Price Differential owed hereunder, fourth, to the remaining aggregate
Repurchase Prices owed hereunder; fifth, to any other accrued and unpaid obligations of Seller
hereunder and under the other Transaction Documents, and sixth, any remaining proceeds shall be
paid to Seller or other Person legally entitled thereto.

(i11)) The Parties acknowledge and agree that (1) the Purchased Mortgage Loans
subject to any Transaction hereunder are instruments traded in a recognized market, (2) in the
absence of a generally recognized source for prices or bid or offer quotations for any Purchased
Mortgage Loans, Buyer may establish the source therefor in its sole discretion, (3) all prices, bids
and offers shall be determined together with accrued income (except to the extent contrary to
market practice with respect to the relevant Purchased Mortgage Loans) and (4) in soliciting price,
bid and offer quotations for any Purchased Mortgage Loan, it is reasonable for Buyer to use only
the Loan Purchase Detail provided by Seller. The Parties further recognize that it may not be
possible to purchase or sell all of the Purchased Mortgage Loans on a particular Business Day, or
in a transaction with the same purchaser, or in the same manner because the market for such
Purchased Mortgage Loans may not be liquid at such time. In view of the nature of the Purchased
Mortgage Loans, the Parties agree that liquidation of a Transaction or the underlying Purchased
Mortgage Loans does not require a public purchase or sale and that a good faith private purchase
or sale shall be deemed to have been made in a commercially reasonable manner. Accordingly,
Buyer may elect the time and manner of liquidating any Purchased Mortgage Loan and nothing
contained herein shall obligate Buyer to liquidate any Purchased Mortgage Loan on the occurrence
of an Event of Default or to liquidate all Purchased Mortgage Loans in the same manner or on the
same Business Day and no such exercise of any right or remedy shall constitute a waiver of any
other right or remedy of Buyer.

(e) Seller shall be liable to Buyer for (i) the amount of all reasonable legal or other
expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with or as a result of an Event of Default, (ii) damages in
an amount equal to the cost (including all fees, expenses and commissions reasonably incurred) of
entering into replacement transactions and entering into or terminating hedge transactions in
connection with or as a result of an Event of Default and (iii) any other loss, damage, cost or expense
directly arising or resulting from the occurrence of an Event of Default.

(H To the extent permitted by applicable law, Seller shall be liable to Buyer for interest
on any amounts owing by Seller hereunder, from the date Seller becomes liable for such amounts
hereunder until such amounts are (i) paid in full by or on behalf of Seller or (ii) satisfied in full by
the exercise of Buyer’s rights hereunder. Interest on any sum payable by Seller to Buyer under this
Paragraph 11(f) shall be at a rate equal to the greater of (x) the Pricing Rate for the relevant
Transaction and (y) the lesser of (1) the Prime Rate plus [ ] and (2) the Ceiling Rate.

() If an Event of Default occurs, Buyer shall have, in addition to its rights hereunder,
any rights otherwise available to it under any other agreement entered into in connection with the
Transactions contemplated by this Agreement, under applicable law or in equity.

(h) Seller hereby acknowledges, admits and agrees that Seller’s obligations under this
Agreement are recourse obligations of Seller.
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12.  Servicing Rights Are Owned by Buyer; Interim Servicing of the Purchased Mortgage
Loans

(a) Seller acknowledges that it has no right, title or interest in the Servicing Rights for
any Purchased Mortgage Loan, and agrees that Seller may not transfer or assign any rights to master
service, service, interim service, subservice or administer any Purchased Mortgage Loan prior to
Seller’s repurchase thereof from Buyer (by payment to Buyer of the Repurchase Price on the
applicable Repurchase Date) other than, if applicable, an interim servicing transfer to Buyer or to a
Subservicer approved by Buyer pursuant to a Subservicing Agreement approved by Buyer as
described in subparagraph 12(b)(ii) or a transfer to a Successor Servicer as provided for in Paragraph

12().

(b) If (and only if) the Terms Annex provides that Buyer engages Seller to interim
service the Purchased Mortgage Loans as agent for Buyer, then Seller is hereby engaged as interim
servicer for a term of thirty (30) days during the Post Origination Period (the “Interim Servicing
Term™), which is renewable as provided in subparagraph 12(b)(iv), on the following terms and
conditions:

(1) Seller shall interim service and temporarily administer the Purchased
Mortgage Loan on behalf of Buyer in accordance with prudent mortgage loan servicing
standards and procedures generally accepted in the mortgage banking industry and in
accordance with all applicable requirements of the Agencies, Requirements of Law, the
provisions of any applicable servicing agreement, and the requirements of any applicable
Takeout Agreement and the Approved Takeout Investor, so that the eligibility of the
Purchased Mortgage Loan for purchase under such Takeout Agreement is not voided or
reduced by such interim servicing and temporary administration;

(ii) If any Eligible Mortgage Loan that is proposed to be sold on a Purchase
Date is serviced by a servicer other than Seller or any of its Affiliates (a “Subservicer™),
or if the interim servicing of any Purchased Mortgage Loan is to be transferred to a
Subservicer, Seller shall provide a copy of the relaied subserwcmg agreement and a

Subservicer Instruction Letter :h

§!!!_3§grwgmg Agreement™) to Buycr prlor to c;uch Purchase Datf. or interim f;crwcmg
transfer date, as applicable. Each such Subservicing Agreement shall be in form and

substance acceptable to Buyer. _In addition, Seller shall have obtained the prior written
consent of Buyer for such Subservicer to subservice the Purchased Mortgage Loans, which
consent may be withheld in Buyer’s sole discretion. In no event shall Seller’s use of a
Subservicer relieve Seller of its obligations hereunder, and Seller shall remain liable under
this Agreement as if Seller were interim servicing such Purchased Mortgage Loans directly.
Any termination of Seller as interim servicer shall automatically terminate each
Subservicer. If any Agency or Governmental Authority revokes or materially restricts any
Subservicer’s authority to originate, sell or service Mortgage Loans, or if any Subservicer
shall fail to meet all requisite originator, seller and servicer eligibility qualifications
promulgated by any Agency, Buyer may direct Seller to immediately terminate such
Subservicer as a subservicer of any or all of the Purchased Mortgage Loans and Seller shall
promptly cause the termination of such Subservicer as directed by Buyer.
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(iii)  Seller shall deliver all physical and contractual servicing materials, files and
records for the servicing of each Purchased Mortgage [oan, together with all of the relat
Servicing Records that are not already in Buyer’s possession, to Buyer’s designee upon the
earliest of (w) the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default hereunder, (x) the
termination of Seller as interim servicer by Buyer_pursuant to subparagraph 12(b)(iv), (¥)
the expiration (and non-renewal) of the Interim Servicing Term, or (z) the transfer of
servicing to any entity approved by Buyer and the assumption thercof by such entity.
Seller’s transfer of the Servicing Records_and the physical and such contractual servicing
materials, files and records under this subparagraph 12(b)(iii) shall be in accordance with
customary standards in the industry and such transfer shall include the transfer of the gross
amount of all escrows held for the related mortgagors (without reduction for unreimbursed
advances or “negative escrows”).

(iv)  Buyer shall have the ught to terminate Seller as mtpnm serwcer of any of
the Purchased Mortgage Loz

d‘lSCI’CtlDI‘l; upon Wﬂlt(..n nOthE

(v) Thc Interim Servicing Term w1ll bc deemed J:enewcd on each Remlttance

t 1¢
interim servicer of all of thg Purchased Mortgaged Loans or gnl an Event of Default has
occurred on or before such Remittance Date, in which latter event the Interim Servicing

Term will expire on such Remittance Date unless Buyer gives written notice to Seller that
the Interim Servicing Term is renewed and specifying the renewal term.

(vi)  The Interim Servicing Term will automatically terminate and Seller shall

have no further obligation to interim service such Purchased Mortgage Loan as agent for
Buyer or to make the delivery of documents required under this Paragraph 12, upon receipt

by Buyer of the Repurchase Price therefor,

(vii) Buyer has no obligation to pay Seller a fee for the interim servicing
lelgatmns Seller agrees. o assume hereunder, no fee or other compcnsanou w111 ever

and such interim -;erwcmg r12ht<; have no monetary value.

(c) During the period Seller_is interim servicing the Purchased Mortgage Loans as
agent for Buyer, Seller agrees that Buyer is the owner of the related Servicing Rights, Credit Files
and Servicing Records and Seller, acting as interim servicer, shall at all times maintain and
safeguard, and cause any Subservicer to maintain and safeguard, the Credit File for the Purchased
Mortgage Loan (including photocopies or images of the documents delivered to Buyer), and
accurate and complete records of its interim servicing of the Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller’s
possession of the Credit Files and Servicing Records being for the sole purpose of interim servicing
such Purchased Mortgage Loans and such retention and possession by Seller being in a temporary
custodial capacity only.

(d) Seller further covenants as follows:
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(i) Buyer may, at any time during Seller’s business hours on reasonable notice
(provided that upon or during the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default, no notice
shall be required), examine and make copies of all such documents and records relating to
interim servicing and administration of the Purchased Mortgage Loans;

(ii) At Buyer’s request, Seller shall promptly deliver to Buyer reports regarding
the status of any Purchased Mortgage Loan being interim serviced by Seller, which reports
shall include, but shall not be limited to, a description of any event that would cause the
Purchased Mortgage Loan to become a Defaulted Loan or a Defective Mortgage Loan or
any other circumstances that could cause a material adverse effect on such Purchased
Mortgage Loan, Buyer’s title to such Purchased Mortgage Loan or the collateral securing
such Purchased Mortgage Loan; Seller may be required to deliver such reports until the
repurchase of the Purchased Mortgage Loan by Seller;

(iii)  Seller shall immediately notify Buyer if it becomes aware of any payment
default that occurs under any Purchased Mortgage Loan or any default under any
Subservicing Agreement that would materially and adversely affect any Purchased
Mortgage Loan subject thereto; and

(iv)  If, during the Post-Origination Period, any Mortgagor contacts Seller
requesting a payoff quote on the related Purchased Mortgage Loan, Seller shall ensure that
any payoff quote provided requires Mortgagor to wire payoff funds directly to the Buyer’s
Inbound Wire Account and includes wiring instructions therefor.

(e) Seller shall release its custody of the contents of any Credit File and any Loan File
only (i) in accordance with the written instructions of Buyer, (ii) upon the consent of Buyer when
such release is required as incidental to Seller’s servicing of the Purchased Mortgage Loan, or is
required to complete the Takeout Funding or comply with the Takeout Guidelines, or (iii) as
required by any Requirements of Law.

(H Buyer reserves the right to appoint a successor interim servicer, or a regular
servicer, at any time to service any Purchased Mortgage Loan (each a “Successor Servicer”) in its
sole discretion. If Buyer elects to make such an appointment after the occurrence of a Default or an
Event of Default, Seller shall be assessed all costs and expenses incurred by Buyer associated with
transferring the physical and contractual serwcmg ma,tenals, ﬁles and records for the servicing of
each Purchased Mortgag i ecords, to the Successor
Servicer. In the event of such an appomtmcnt Seller shall p pi.,rform all acts and take all action so
that any part of the Credit File and related Servicing Records held by Seller, together with all funds
in the Impound Collection Account and other receipts relating to such Purchased Mortgage Loan,
are promptly delivered to the Successor Servicer, and shall otherwise fully cooperate with Buyer in
effectuating such transfer. Seller shall have no claim for lost interim servicing income, any
termination fee, lost profits or other damages if Buyer appoints a Successor Servicer hereunder.
Buyer may, in its sole discretion if an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing,
without payment of any termination fee or any other amount to Seller, sell any or all of the
Purchased Mortgage Loans on a servicing released basis, at the sole cost and expense of Seller.
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(g) In the event Seller is terminated as interim servicer of any Purchased Mortgage
Loan, whether by expiry of the Interim Servicing Term or by any other means, Seller shall cooperate
with Buyer in effecting such termination and transferring all authority to interim service such
Purchased Mortgage Loan to the Successor Servicer. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Seller shall, in the manner and at such times as the Successor Servicer or Buyer shall
reasonably request (i) promptly transfer all data in its possession relating to the applicable
Purchased Mortgage Loans and other Mortgage Assets to the Successor Servicer in such electronic
format as the Successor Servicer may reasonably request, (ii) promptly transfer to the Successor
Servicer, Buyer or Buyer’s designee all other files, records, correspondence and documents relating
to the applicable Purchased Mortgage Loans and other Mortgage Assets and (iii) fully cooperate
and coordinate with the Successor Servicer and/or Buyer to comply with any applicable so-called
“goodbye™ letter requirements, notices or other applicable requirements of the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act or other applicable Requirements of Law applicable to the transfer of
the servicing of the applicable Purchased Mortgage Loans. Seller agrees that if Seller fails fo
cooperate wuth Buyer or any Successor Servicer mf.ﬁegtms_ the termlnatmn of Seller as servicer of

Loan to such Successor Servicer in accordance with the lem}s herelof= Buyer will be 1rregarablz"
harmed and entitled to injunctive relief and shall not be required to post bond.

(h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Transaction Document, Seller and
Buyer agree that all Servicing Rights with respect to the Purchased Mortgage Loans are being
transferred hereunder to Buyer on the applicable Purchase Date, the Purchase Price for the
Purchased Mortgage Loans includes full and fair consideration for such Servicing Rights and such
Servicing Rights shall be transferred by Buyer to Seller upon Seller’s payment of the Repurchase
Price for such Purchased Mortgage Loans.

13.  Single Agreement

Buyer and Seller acknowledge that, and have entered into this Agreement and will enter
into each Transaction hereunder in consideration of and in reliance upon the fact that, all
Transactions hereunder, together with the provisions of the Terms Annex, constitute a single
business and contractual relationship and have been made in consideration of each other.
Accordingly, each of Buyer and Seller agrees (i) to perform all of its obligations in respect of each
Transaction hereunder, and that a default in the performance of any such obligations shall
constitute a default by it in respect of all Transactions hereunder, (ii) that each of them shall be
entitled to set off claims and apply property held by them in respect of any Transaction against
obligations owing to them in respect of any other Transactions hereunder and (iii) that payments,
deliveries and other transfers made by either of them in respect of any Transaction shall be deemed
to have been made in consideration of payments, deliveries and other transfers in respect of any
other Transactions hereunder, and the obligations to make any such payments, deliveries and other
transfers may be applied against each other and netted.

14. Notices and Other Communications

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all such notices, statements, demands or
other communications shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given and received
(i) if sent by facsimile, upon the sender’s receipt of confirmation of transmission of such facsimile
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from the sending facsimile machine, (ii) by email, upon confirmation of receipt by the recipient,
(i11) if hand delivered, when delivery to the address below is made, as evidenced by a confirmation
from the applicable courier service of delivery to such address, but without any need of evidence
of receipt by the named individual required and (iv) if mailed by overnight courier, on the
following Business Day, in each case addressed as follows:

if to Seller, to Seller’s address set forth on its signature page to this Agreement
if to Buyer:

NexBank

2515 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1700
Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: | ]

Phone: | ]

Fax: [ ]

email: [ ]

Either Party may revise any information relating to it by notice in writing to the other Party, in
accordance with the provisions in this Paragraph 14.

15.  Fees and Expenses; Indemnity

(a) Seller will promptly pay all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Buyer,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, in connection with (i) administration of
this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and any amendment or waiver thereto and
purchase and resale of Mortgage Loans by Buyer hereunder, (ii) protection of the Purchased
Mortgage Loans (including, without limitation, all costs of filing or recording any assignments,
financing statements, amendments and other documents), (iii) performance of due diligence,
collateral audits and servicing appraisals by Buyer or any agent of Buyer conducted prior to and
after the date hereof, and (iv) enforcement of Buyer’s rights hereunder and under any other
Transaction Document (including, without limitation, costs and expenses suffered or incurred by
Buyer in connection with any Act of Insolvency related to Seller or Guarantor, appeals and any
anticipated post-judgment collection services).

(b) In addition to its other rights hereunder, Seller shall indemnify Buyer and Buyer’s
Affiliates and Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, agents, advisors and employees
(each, an “Indemnified Party” and collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) against, and hold
Buyer and cach of them harmless from, any losses, liabilities, damages, claims, costs and expenses
(including reasonable attorneys” fees and disbursements) suffered or incurred by any Indemnified
Party (“Losses™) relating to or arising out of this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or
any other related document, or any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby or any use or
proposed use of proceeds thereof and amendment or waiver thereof, or any breach of any covenant,
representation or warranty contained in any of such documents, or arising out of, resulting from, or
in any manner connected with, the purchase by Buyer of any Mortgage Loan or the servicing of any
Purchased Mortgage Loans by Seller or any Subservicer; provided that Seller shall not be required
to indemnify any Indemnified Party to the extent such Losses result from the gross negligence or
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willful misconduct of such Indemnified Party. The provisions of this Paragraph 15 shall survive
the termination of this Agreement.

16.  Shipment to Approved Takeout Investor; Trust Release Letters

(a) Shipping Instructions. If Seller desires that Buyer send a Mortgage Note and the
related Mortgage to an Approved Takeout Investor (other than NexBank), rather than to Seller
directly, in connection with Seller’s repurchase of the related Purchased Mortgage Loan, then Seller
shall prepare and send to Buyer Shipping Instructions to instruct Buyer when and how to send such
Mortgage Note and related Mortgage to such Approved Takeout Investor. Buyer shall use
reasonable efforts to send each Mortgage Note and related Mortgage on or before the date specified
for shipment in the Shipping Instructions in accordance with the cutoff times specified by Buyer to
Seller in writing from time to time. If Seller instructs Buyer to send a Mortgage Note and related
Mortgage before the Repurchase Date to any Approved Takeout Investor other than NexBank,
Buyer will send the Mortgage Note and related Mortgage under a Bailee Letter. If Seller does not
provide Buyer with Shipping Instructions with respect to a Mortgage Loan, Buyer shall send the
Mortgage Note and related Mortgage to Seller at such time as Buyer receives the Repurchase Price
therefor, Without any requirement for further consent or authorization, Seller authorizes Buyer,
and designates Buyer as its agent and delegatee, to make electronic entries on the MERS® System
of all transfers hereunder of Purchased Mortgage Loans to Buyer and, as direct transfers to the
relevant Approved Takeout Investors, all transfers of Purchased Mortgage Loans repurchased from
Buyer and sold to Approved Takeout Investors.

(b) Trust Release Letters. If Seller believes that a Mortgage Note contains one or more
errors or omissions that are correctable and the correction of which is necessary to facilitate the
purchase or enforceability of that Mortgage Note, then Seller may deliver a Trust Release Letter to
Buyer to request the release of the Mortgage Note to Seller for the purpose of making that
correction. If Buyer, in its sole discretion, deems the reason stated by Seller in the Trust Release
Letter to be sufficient to warrant return of the Mortgage Note to Seller for correction, then Buyer
will deliver the Mortgage Note to Seller at its earliest convenience. Seller shall return the corrected
Mortgage Note to Buyer no later than the fifth (5) Business Day after the date Seller receives such
Mortgage Note from Buyer. Whenever the Mortgage Note for any Purchased Mortgage Loan is in
the possession Seller pursuant to a Trust Release Letter or otherwise, Seller shall hold such
Mortgage Note in trust for the benefit of Buyer. At no time shall the aggregate original Outstanding
Principal Balance of all Mortgage Notes released to Seller pursuant to this Paragraph 16(b) exceed
the Maximum Trust Release Amount specified in the Terms Annex.

17. Further Assurances.

Seller shall (i) promptly provide such further assurances or agreements as Buyer may
request in good faith in order to effect the purposes of this Agreement and (ii) on or prior to the date
hereof, mark its systems and/or other data processing records evidencing the Purchased Mortgage
Loans with a legend or other identifier, acceptable to Buyer, evidencing that Buyer has acquired an
interest therein as provided in this Agreement.

18.  Buyer as Attorney-in-Fact
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Buyer is hereby appointed the attorney-in-fact of Seller for the purpose of carrying out the
provisions of this Agreement and taking any action and executing any instruments that Buyer may,
in good faith, deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes hereof, which appointment
as attorney-in-fact is irrevocable and coupled with an interest. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, Buyer shall have the right and power to receive, endorse and collect all checks made
payable to the order of Seller representing any income on any of the Purchased Mortgage Loans
and to give full discharge for the same.

19. Wire Instructions

(a) Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, any amounts to be transferred by
Buyer to Seller hereunder shall be sent by wire transfer in immediately available funds to the
account of Seller specified as Seller’s Operating Account in the Terms Annex

(b) Any amounts to be transferred by Seller to Buyer hereunder shall be sent by wire
transfer in immediately available funds to the Seller’s Operating Account specified in the Terms
Annex:

(c) Amounts received after 4:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas time, on any Business Day shall
be deemed to have been paid and received on the next succeeding Business Day.

20.  Entire Agreement; Severability

This Agreement supersedes any existing agreements between the Parties containing terms
and conditions for repurchase transactions. Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated
as separate and independent from any other provision or agreement herein and shall be enforceable
notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.

21.  Assignments; Termination

(a) The rights and obligations of Seller under this Agreement and under any
Transaction shall not be assigned by Seller without the prior written consent of Buyer and any such
assignment without the prior written consent of Buyer shall be null and void.

(b) Buyer may assign all or any portion of its rights, obligations and interest under this
Agreement and in the Mortgage Assets at any time without the consent of any Person, provided that
any such assignment, other than an assignment to an Affiliate of Buyer, is subject to the prior written
consent of Seller so long as an Event of Default or Default has not occurred and is not continuing.
Resales of Purchased Mortgage Loans by Buyer (subject to Seller’s right to repurchase the
Purchased Mortgage Loans or Mortgage Loans substantially similar to the Purchased Mortgage
Loans prior to the termination of this Agreement or the Buyer’s liquidation of the Purchased
Mortgage Loans pursuant to Paragraph 11) in accordance with applicable law, shall be permitted
without restriction. Buyer may sell participation interests in all or any portion of its rights,
obligations and interest under this Agreement and in the Mortgage Assets to any Person at any time
without the consent of any Person. In addition to, and notwithstanding any provision to the contrary
in, the foregoing, Buyer may assign its rights to enforce this Agreement as to any Mortgage Loan
to any Person that subsequently purchases such Mortgage Loan from Buyer or provides financing
to Buyer with respect to such Mortgage Loan.
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(c) In addition to the foregoing, Buyer may, at any time, pledge or grant a Lien in all
or any portion of its rights under this Agreement (including, without limitation, any rights to
Mortgage Assets and any rights to payment of the Repurchase Price) to secure obligations to a
Federal Reserve Bank, without notice to or consent of Seller; provided that no such pledge or grant
of a security interest would release Buyer from any of its obligations under this Agreement, or
substitute any such pledgee or grantee for Buyer as a party to this Agreement.

(d) Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement and any Transactions shall bind and
benefit the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.

(e) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of this Paragraph 21, Buyer shall
not be precluded from assigning, charging or otherwise dealing with all or any part of its interest in
any sum payable to it under Paragraph 11.

(H This Agreement and all Transactions outstanding hereunder shall terminate
automatically without any requirement for notice on the date occurring on or after the Termination
Date on which all Repurchase Prices and all other obligations of Seller under the Transaction
Documents have been paid in full.

22 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
counterparts shall be deemed to be an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but one and
the same instrument.

23.  GOVERNING LAW; CONSENT TO JURISDICTION; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL

(a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, WITHOUT GIVING
EFFECT TO TEXAS’ CONFLICT OF LAWS PRINCIPLES.

(b) SELLER HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
TEXAS AND OF ANY TEXAS STATE COURT SITTING IN THE CITY OF MCKINNEY
FOR PURPOSES OF ALL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING
TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
SELLER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT IT MAY
EFFECTIVELY DO SO, ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER
HAVE TO THE LAYING OF THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN
SUCH A COURT AND ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUCH PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN
SUCH A COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM. NOTHING
IN THIS PARAGRAPH 23 SHALL AFFECT THE RIGHT OF BUYER TO BRING ANY
ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST SELLER OR ITS PROPERTY IN THE COURTS
OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. EACH PARTY CONSENTS TO THE SERVICE OF ANY
AND ALL PROCESS IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY THE MAILING OF
COPIES OF SUCH PROCESS TO IT AT ITS ADDRESS FOR NOTICES HEREUNDER
SPECIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 14.
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() EACH OF SELLER AND BUYER (BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF)
HEREBY VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY
WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY
DISPUTE (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) BETWEEN
SELLER AND BUYER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT. THIS PROVISION IS A
MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO BUYER TO PROVIDE THE FACILITY EVIDENCED
BY THIS AGREEMENT.

24, No Waivers, Etc.

No express or implied waiver of any Event of Default by Buyer shall constitute a waiver
of any other Event of Default and no exercise of any remedy hereunder by Buyer shall constitute
a waiver of its right to exercise any other remedy hereunder. No modification or waiver of any
provision of this Agreement and no consent by any Party to a departure herefrom shall be effective
unless and until such shall be in writing and duly executed by both of the Parties hereto. Without
limitation on any of the foregoing, the failure to give a notice pursuant to Paragraph 4(a) will not
constitute a waiver of any right to do so at a later date.

25.  Use of Employee Plan Assets

(a) If assets of an employee benefit plan subject to any provision of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA™) are intended to be used by Seller in a
Transaction, Seller shall so notify Buyer prior to the Transaction. Seller shall represent in writing
to Buyer that the Transaction does not constitute a prohibited transaction under ERISA or is
otherwise exempt therefrom, and Buyer may proceed in reliance thereon but shall not be required
s0 to proceed.

(b) Subject to the last sentence of Paragraph 25(a), any such Transaction shall proceed
only if Seller furnishes or has furnished to Buyer its most recent available audited statement of its
financial condition and its most recent subsequent unaudited statement of its financial condition.

(c) By entering into a Transaction pursuant to this Paragraph 25, Seller shall be deemed
(i) to represent to Buyer that since the date of Seller’s latest such financial statements, there has
been no material adverse change in Seller’s financial condition which Seller has not disclosed to
Buyer, and (ii) to agree to provide Buyer with future audited and unaudited statements of its
financial condition as they are issued, so long as any such Transaction is outstanding.

26. Intent

(a) The Parties intend and acknowledge that each Transaction is a “repurchase
agreement™ as that term is defined in Paragraph 101 of the Bankruptcy Code, and a “securities
contract™ as that term is defined in Paragraph 741 of the Bankruptcy Code. Seller hereby agrees
that it shall not challenge the characterization of this Agreement as a “repurchase agreement” as
that term is defined in Paragraph 101 of the Bankruptcy Code, or as a “securities contract™ as that
term is defined in Paragraph 741 of the Bankruptcy Code in any dispute or proceeding.
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(b) It is understood that either Party’s right to accelerate or terminate this Agreement
or to liquidate Mortgage Loans delivered to it in connection with Transactions hereunder, or to
exercise any other remedies pursuant to Paragraph 11, is a contractual right to accelerate, terminate
or liquidate this Agreement or such Transaction as described in Paragraphs 555 and 559 of the
Bankruptcy Code.

(c) The Parties agree and acknowledge that if a Party hereto is an “insured depository
institution,” as such term is defined in the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended (“FDIA™),
then each Transaction hereunder is a “qualified financial contract,” as that term is defined in FDIA
and any rules, orders or policy statements thereunder (except insofar as the type of assets subject to
such Transaction would render such definition inapplicable).

(d) It is understood that this Agreement constitutes a “netting contract” as defined in
and subject to Title IV of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991
(“FDICIA”) and cach payment entitlement and payment obligation under any Transaction
hereunder shall constitute a “covered contractual payment entitlement™ or “covered contractual
payment obligation™, respectively, as defined in and subject to FDICIA (except insofar as one or
both of the Parties is not a “financial institution” as that term is defined in FDICIA).

(e) It is understood and agreed that this Agreement constitutes a “master netting
agreement” as that term is defined in Paragraph 101 of the Bankruptcy Code, and that either Party’s
right to cause the termination, liquidation, or acceleration of, or to offset net termination values,
payment amounts or other transfer obligations arising under or in connection with, this Agreement
or any Transaction is a contractual right to cause the termination, liquidation, or acceleration of, or
to offset net termination values, payment amounts or other transfer obligations arising under or in
connection with, this Agreement or any Transaction as described in Paragraph 561 of the
Bankruptcy Code.

27. Disclosure Relating to Certain Federal Protections
The Parties acknowledge that they have been advised that:

(a) in the case of Transactions in which one of the Parties is a broker or dealer
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under Paragraph 15 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (1934 Act”), the Securities Investor Protection Corporation has
taken the position that the provisions of the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970 (“SIPA™) do
not protect the other Party with respect to any Transaction hereunder;

(b) in the case of Transactions in which one of the Parties is a government securities
broker or a government securities dealer registered with the SEC under Paragraph 15C of the 1934
Act, SIPA will not provide protection to the other Party with respect to any Transaction hereunder;
and

(c) in the case of Transactions in which one of the Parties is a financial institution,
funds held by the financial institution pursuant to a Transaction hereunder other than funds on
deposit in an Account are not a deposit and therefore are not insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation or the National Credit
Union Share Insurance Fund, as applicable.
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28.  Confidentiality

(a) Confidential Terms. The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that all written or
computer-readable information provided by one Party to any other regarding the terms set forth in
any of the Transaction Documents or the Transactions contemplated thereby (the “Confidential
Terms”) shall be kept confidential and shall not be divulged to any Person (other than Affiliates
and Subsidiaries thereof) without the prior written consent of such other Party except to the extent
that (i) such Person is an Affiliate, division, or parent holding company of a Party or a director,
officer, employee or agent (including an accountant, legal counsel and other advisor) of a Party or
such Affiliate, division or parent holding company, (ii) in such Party’s opinion it is necessary to do
so in working with legal counsel, auditors, taxing authorities or other governmental agencies or
regulatory bodies or in order to comply with any applicable federal or state laws or regulations,
(iii) any of the Confidential Terms are in the public domain other than due to a breach of this
covenant, (iv) in the event of a Default or and Event of Default Buyer reasonably determines such
information to be necessary or desirable to disclose in connection with the marketing and sales of
the Purchased Mortgage Loans or otherwise to enforce or exercise Buyer’s rights hereunder, or (v)
to the extent Buyer deems necessary or appropriate, in connection with an assignment or
participation under Paragraph 21 or in connection with any hedging transaction related to Purchased
Mortgage Loans. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary contained herein or in
any other Transaction Document, the Parties may disclose to any and all Persons, without limitation
of any kind, the U.S. federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions, any fact that may be
relevant to understanding the U.S. federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions, and all
materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) relating to such U.S. federal, state
and local tax treatment and that may be relevant to understanding such tax treatment; provided that
Seller may not disclose (except as provided in clauses (i) through (iv) of this Paragraph 28) the
name of or identifying information with respect to Buyer or any pricing terms (including the Pricing
Rate, Facility Fee, Purchase Price Percentage and Purchase Price) or other nonpublic business or
financial information (including any sublimits and financial covenants) that is unrelated to the U.S.
federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions and is not relevant to understanding the
U.S. federal, state and local tax treatment of the Transactions, without the prior written consent of
Buyer. The provisions set forth in this Paragraph 28 shall survive the termination of this Agreement
for a period of one (1) year following such termination.

(b) Privacy of Customer Information.

29,  Seller’s Customer Information in the possession of Buyer, other than information
independently obtained by Buyer and not derived in any manner from or using information
obtained under or in connection with this Agreement, is and shall remain confidential and
proprietary information of Seller. Except in accordance with this Paragraph 28(b), Buyer shall not
use any Seller’s Customer Information for any purpose, including the marketing of products or
services to, or the solicitation of business from, Customers, or disclose any Seller’s Customer
Information to any Person, including any of Buyer’s employees, agents or contractors or any third
party not affiliated with Buyer. Buyer may use or disclose Seller’s Customer Information only to
the extent necessary (i) for examination and audit of Buyer’s activities, books and records by
Buyer’s regulatory authorities, (ii) to protect or exercise Buyer’s rights and privileges or (iii) to
carry out Buyer’s express obligations under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents
(including providing Seller’s Customer Information to Approved Takeout Investors), and for no
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other purpose; provided that Buyer may also use and disclose Seller’s Customer Information as
expressly permitted by Seller in writing, to the extent that such express permission is in accordance
with the Privacy Requirements. Buyer shall take commercially reasonable steps to ensure that
each Person to which Buyer intends to disclose Seller’s Customer Information, before any such
disclosure of information, agrees to keep confidential any such Seller’s Customer Information and
to use or disclose such Seller’s Customer Information enly to the extent necessary to protect or
exercise Buyer’s rights and privileges, or to carry out Buyer’s express obligations, under this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (including providing Seller’s Customer
Information to Approved Investors). Buyer agrees to maintain an information security program
and to assess, manage and control risks relating to the security and confidentiality of Seller’s
Customer Information pursuant to such program in the same manner as Buyer does in respect of
its own customers’ information, and shall implement the standards relating to such risks in the
manner set forth in the Interagency Guidelines Establishing Standards for Safeguarding Company
Customer Information set forth in 12 CFR Parts 30, 208, 211, 225, 263, 308, 364, 568 and 570.
Without limiting the scope of the foregoing sentence, Buyer shall use at least the same physical
and other security measures to protect all of Seller’s Customer Information in its possession or
control as it uses for its own customers’ confidential and proprietary information.

30.  Seller shall indemnify the Indemnified Parties against, and hold each of them harmless
from, any losses, liabilities, damages, claims, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’
fees and disbursements) suffered or incurred by any Indemnified Party relating to or arising out of
Seller’s loss, improper disclosure or misuse of any Sellers’ Customer Information.

31. Setoff

Except to the extent specifically permitted herein, Seller hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally waives all right to setoff that it may have under contract (including this
Agreement), applicable law, in equity or otherwise with respect to any funds or monies of Buyer
(or any disclosed principal for which Buyer is acting as agent) at any time held by or in the
possession of Seller.

Seller agrees that Buyer may setoff any funds or monies of Seller at any time held by or in
the possession of Buyer, whether in connection with this Agreement, any other Transaction
Document or otherwise, against any amounts Seller owes to Buyer pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement or any other Transaction Document.

32. WAIVER OF SPECIAL DAMAGES.

SELLER WAIVES, TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY LAW,
ANY RIGHT SELLER MAY HAVE TO CLAIM OR RECOVER FROM BUYER IN ANY
LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING ANY SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE OR
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES.

33.  USA PATRIOT ACT NOTIFICATION.

The following notification is provided to Seller pursuant to Section 326 of the USA Patriot Act of
2001, 31 U.S.C. Section 5318:
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT PROCEDURES FOR OPENING A NEW ACCOUNT.
To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law
requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each
person or enfity that opens an account, including any deposit account, treasury management
account, loan, other extension of credit, or other financial services product. What this means for
Seller: When Seller opens an account, if Seller is an individual, Buyer will ask for Seller's name,
taxpayer identification number, residential address, date of birth, and other information that will
allow Buyer to identify Seller, and if Seller is not an individual, Buyer will ask for Seller's name,
taxpayer identification number, business address, and other information that will allow Buyer to
identify Seller. Buyer may also ask, if Seller is an individual, to see Seller's driver’s license or
other identifying documents, and if Seller is not an individual to see Seller's legal organizational
documents or other identifying documents.

34. TEX.BUS. & COMM. CODE §26.02 NOTICE.

This written agreement represents the final agreement between the parties and may not be
contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporancous or subsequent oral agreements of the parties.
There are no unwritten oral agreements between the parties.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank.]
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Nexbank

By: I ]
Name: Paula Vardell
Title: SVP Warehouse Lending
Altisource Asset Managment Corporation
By: { ]

Name: Jason Kopcak

Title: Chief Executive Officer

5100 Tamarind Reef
Christiansted, US Virgin Islands 00820
Phone: [ ]

Email: [ ]
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF CONFIRMATION

CONFIRMATION
TO: Altisource Asset Management Corporation
FROM:  NexBank
RE: Confirmation under Master Repurchase Agreement (the “Agreement™) between

NexBank and Altisource Asset Management Corporation
NexBank (“Buyer”) is pleased to confirm your sale and its purchase of the Mortgage Loans

described below and listed on the attached Loan Purchase Detail pursuant to the Agreement under
the following terms and conditions:

ORIG. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF As set forth on attached Loan Purchase

MORTGAGE LOANS: Detail
CURRENT PRINCIPAL AMOUNT As set forth on attached Loan Purchase
OF MORTGAGE LOANS: Detail
PURCHASE DATE: The date specified as the Purchase Date

in the request related to this
Confirmation

REPURCHASE DATE: 90 days after the Purchase Date or such
earlier date as required by, or otherwise
determined in accordance with, the
Agreement

PURCHASE PRICE: The applicable Purchase Price set forth
in the Terms Annex

PRICING RATE: The applicable per annum percentage
rate set forth in the Terms Annex
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PRICE DIFFERENTIAL For each Purchased Mortgage Loan and
for each month (or portion thereof)
during which the related Transaction is
outstanding, the sum of the following
amount for each day during that month
(or portion thereof):  the applicable
Pricing Rate for such day multiplied by
the outstanding Purchase Price of such
Purchased Mortgage Loan on such day
divided by 360. The Price Differential
for the Transaction shall accrue during
the period commencing on (and
including) the day on which the
Purchase Price is ftransferred or
otherwise paid to Seller for the
Transaction and ending on (but
excluding) the date on which the
Repurchase Price is paid.

The Agreement is incorporated by reference into this Confirmation and made a part hereof as if it
were fully set forth herein. All capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have
the meanings specified in the Agreement.
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EXHIBIT B

MORTGAGE LOAN
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

With respect to each Mortgage Loan, (i) as of the Purchase Date for the purchase
of any Purchased Mortgage Loans by Buyer from Seller and as of the date of this Agreement and
any Transaction hereunder, and (ii) at all times while the Transaction Documents or any
Transaction hereunder is in force and effect, Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that each of
the statements set forth in the lettered paragraphs of this Exhibit B is true and correct. For purposes
of this Exhibit B and the representations and warranties set forth herein, a breach of a
representation or warranty shall be deemed to have been cured with respect to a Mortgage Loan if
and when Seller has taken or caused to be taken action such that the event, circumstance or
condifion that gave rise to such breach no longer adversely affects such Mortgage Loan. With
respect to those representations and warranties which are made to the best of Seller’s knowledge,
if it is discovered by Seller or Buyer that the substance of such representation and warranty is
inaccurate, notwithstanding Seller’s lack of knowledge with respect to the substance of such
representation and warranty, such inaccuracy shall be deemed a breach of the applicable
representation and warranty.

Mortgage Loans as Described. The information set forth in the related Loan Purchase Detail is
complete, true and correct.

(a) Valid First Lien. The Mortgage is properly recorded and is a valid, existing and
enforceable first Lien with respect to each Mortgage Loan which is indicated by Seller to be a first
Lien on the Mortgaged Property, including all improvements on the Mortgaged Property, free and
clear of all adverse claims, and Liens having priority over the Lien of the Mortgage, subject only to
(1) the Lien of current real property taxes and assessments not yet due and payable, (ii) covenants,
conditions and restrictions, rights of way, easements and other matters of the public record as of the
date of recording being acceptable to mortgage lending institutions generally and specifically
referred to in the lender’s title insurance policy delivered to Seller and which do not adversely affect
the purchase by, or the purchase price to be paid by, the Approved Takeout Investor, and (iii) other
matters to which like properties are commonly subject which do not individually or in the aggregate
materially interfere with the benefits of the security intended to be provided by the Mortgage or the
use, enjoyment, value or marketability of the related Mortgaged Property. Any security agreement,
chattel mortgage or equivalent document related to and delivered in connection with the Mortgage
Loan establishes and creates a valid, existing and enforceable first lien and first priority security
interest securing the related Mortgage Loan on the property described therein and Seller has full
right to sell and assign the related Mortgage Assets to Buyer.

(b) Validity of Mortgage Documents. With respect to each Mortgage Loan, Seller or
its designee has in its possession all Servicing Files, or any miscellaneous items (except for those
Servicing Files disclosed to Buyer by Seller as outstanding). The Mortgage Note and the related
Mortgage are original and genuine and cach is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Mortgagor thereof, enforceable in all respects in accordance with its terms except as enforceability
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may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, receivership, moratorium, reorganization
or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of the rights of creditors and (ii) general principles
of equity, whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or at law, and Seller has taken
all action necessary to transfer such rights of enforceability to Buyer. Neither the operation of any
of the terms of any Mortgage or Mortgage Note, nor the exercise by any holder of any right
thereunder, will render the Mortgage or Mortgage Note unenforceable, in whole or in part, or subject
to any right of rescission, setoff, counterclaim or defense, and no such right of rescission, setoff,
counterclaim or defense has been asserted with respect thereto. All parties to the Mortgage Note
and the Mortgage had the legal capacity to enter into the Mortgage Loan and to execute and deliver
the Mortgage Note and the Mortgage, and the Mortgage Note and the Mortgage have been duly and
properly executed by such parties. All items required to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement
shall be delivered to Buyer, within the time frames set forth in this Agreement, and if a document
is delivered in imaged format, such images must be of sufficient quality to be readable and able to
be copied. There is only one original executed Mortgage Note with respect to such Mortgage Loan.

(c) Customary Provisions. The Mortgage and related Mortgage Note contain
customary and enforceable provisions such as to render the rights and remedies of the holder thereof
adequate for the realization against the Mortgaged Property of the benefits of the security provided
thereby, including (i) in the case of a Mortgage designated as a deed of trust, by trustee’s sale, and
(i1) otherwise by judicial foreclosure. Upon default by a Mortgagor on a Mortgage Loan and
foreclosure on, or trustee’s sale of, the Mortgaged Property pursuant to the proper procedures, the
holder of the Mortgage Loan will be able to deliver good and merchantable title to the Mortgaged
Property. There is no homestead or other exemption or right available to the Mortgagor or any other
person which would interfere with the right to sell the Mortgaged Property at a trustee’s sale or the
right to foreclose the Mortgage. The Mortgage Note and Mortgage are on forms that are conforming
to the Agency Guidelines and the Takeout Guidelines, as applicable.

(d) Original Terms Unmodified. The terms of the Mortgage Note and the Mortgage
have not been impaired, waived, altered or modified in any respect, except by written instruments
which (a) have been recorded in the applicable public recording office if required by law or if
necessary to maintain the lien priority of the Mortgage, and (b) which have been delivered to Buyer;
the substance of any such waiver, alteration or modification has been approved by the insurer under
the private mortgage insurance policy, if any, and by the title insurer, to the extent required by the
related policy provided by Seller and is reflected appropriately on any and all documentation or data
and is true and accurate in all respects. No other instrument of waiver, alteration or modification
has been executed, and no Mortgagor has been released. in whole or in part, except in connection
with an assumption agreement approved by the insurer under the private mortgage insurance policy,
if any, and by the title insurer, to the extent required by the policy, and which assumption agreement
is a part of the loan file.

(e) No Defenses. The Mortgage Note and the Mortgage are not subject to any right of
rescission, set off, counterclaim or defense, including, without limitation, the defense of usury, nor
will the operation of any of the terms of the Mortgage Note and the Mortgage, or the exercise of
any right thereunder, render either the Mortgage Note or the Mortgage unenforceable, in whole or
in part, or subject to any right of rescission, set off, counterclaim or defense, including, without
limitation, the defense of usury, and no such right of rescission, set off, counterclaim or defense has
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been asserted with respect thereto; and neither the Mortgagor nor the Mortgaged Property is as of
the Purchase Date or was as of the Origination Date, subject to an Act of Insolvency.

(H No Outstanding Charges. There are no defaults by Seller or any Subservicer in
complying with the terms of the Mortgage, and (1) all taxes, ground rents, special assessments,
governmental assessments, insurance premiums, leasehold payments, water, sewer and municipal
charges which previously became due and owing have been paid, or escrow funds have been
established in an amount sufficient to pay for every such escrowed item which remains unpaid and
which has been assessed but is not yet due and payable prior to any “economic loss™ dates or
discount dates (or if payments were made after any “economic loss™ date or discount date, then
Seller has paid any penalty or reimbursed any discount out of Seller’s funds) and (2) if applicable,
all flood and hazard insurance premiums and private mortgage insurance premiums which are due,
have been paid without loss or penalty to the Mortgagor. As of the Purchase Date, no event which,
with the passage of time or with notice and the expiration of any grace or cure period, would
constitute a default, breach, violation or event of acceleration under a Mortgage Loan has occurred,
including but not limited to a violation of applicable law, local ordinances or city codes resulting
from a deterioration or defect existing in any Mortgaged Property, and neither Seller nor its
predecessors have waived any default, breach, violation or event of acceleration. Seller has received
no notice of, and has no knowledge of, any event, including but not limited to the bankruptcy filing
or death of a Mortgagor, which may or could give rise to a Mortgagor default under the Mortgage
Note or Mortgage. None of Seller or any Subservicer has advanced funds, or induced, solicited or
knowingly received any advance from any Person other than the Mortgagor, directly or indirectly,
for the payment of any amount due under the Mortgage Loan, unless otherwise permitted in the
Takeout Guidelines.

(g) No Satisfaction of Mortgage. The Mortgage has not been satisfied, canceled,
subordinated or rescinded, in whole or in part, and the Mortgaged Property has not been released
from the Lien of the Mortgage, in whole or in part, nor has any instrument been executed that would
effect any such satisfaction, cancellation, subordination, rescission or release. Neither Seller nor
any Subservicer has waived the performance by the Mortgagor of any action, if the Mortgagor’s
failure to perform such action would cause the Mortgage Loan to be in default, and neither Seller
nor any Subservicer has waived any default.

(h) No Default. There is no default, breach, violation or event of acceleration existing
under the Mortgage or the Mortgage Note and no event which, with the passage of time or with
notice and the expiration of any grace or cure period, would constitute a default, breach, violation
or event permitting acceleration, and neither Seller nor any Subservicer has waived any default,
breach, violation or event permitting acceleration. With respect to each Mortgage Loan (i) the first
Lien securing the Mortgage Loan is in full force and effect, (ii) there is no default, breach, violation
or event of acceleration existing under such first Lien Mortgage or the related Mortgage Note, and
(iii) no event which, with the passage of time or with notice and the expiration of any grace or cure
period, would constitute a default, breach, violation or event of acceleration thereunder.

(i) Reserved.
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() No Mechanics’ Liens. There are no mechanics” or similar Liens or claims filed for
work, labor or material (and no rights are outstanding that under law could give rise to such a Lien)
affecting the related Mortgaged Property which are or may be Liens prior to, or equal or coordinate
with, the Lien of the related Mortgage.

(k) No Additional Collateral. The Mortgage Note is not and has not been secured by
any collateral except the Lien of the corresponding Mortgage on the Mortgaged Property and the
security interest of any applicable security agreement.

)] Origination; Payment Terms. The Mortgage Loan originator is a mortgagee
approved by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development pursuant to Paragraphs 203 and 211
of the National Housing Act, a savings and loan association, a bank, a commercial bank, credit
union, insurance company or other similar institution which is supervised and examined by a federal
or state authority or duly licensed by state licensing authority, if applicable. Seller and all other
parties which have had any interest in the Mortgage Loan, whether as mortgagee, assignee, pledgee
or otherwise, are (or, during the period in which they held and disposed of such interest, were) in
compliance with any and all applicable licensing requirements of the laws of the state wherein the
Mortgaged Property is located, and either (1) organized under the laws of such state, (2) qualified
to do business in such state, (3) federal savings and loan associations or national banks having
principal offices in such state or (4) not doing business in such state.. The Mortgage Loan requires
interest payable in arrears on the first day of the month. Each Mortgage Note requires a monthly
payment which is sufficient (i) during the period prior to the first adjustment to the Mortgage interest
rate to pay interest at the related Mortgage interest rate, and (ii) during the period following each
interest rate adjustment date in the case of each adjustable rate Mortgage Loan, to pay interest at the
related Mortgage interest rate. The Mortgage Note does not permit negative amortization. Interest
on the Mortgage Note is calculated on the basis of a 360 day year consisting of twelve thirty-day
months. The Mortgage Note does not by its terms provide for the capitalization or forbearance of
nterest,

(m) Ownership. Immediately prior to Buyer’s payment of the Purchase Price, Seller
was the sole owner and holder of the Mortgage Loan and the indebtedness evidenced by the
Mortgage Note. The Mortgage Loan, including the Mortgage Note and the Mortgage, were not
assigned or pledged by Seller and Seller had good and marketable title thereto, and Seller had full
right to transfer and sell the Mortgage Loan to Buyer free and clear of any Lien, participation
interest, equity, pledge or claim and had full right and authority subject to no interest or participation
in, or agreement with any other Person to sell or otherwise transfer the Mortgage Loan. Following
the sale of the Mortgage Loan, Buyer will own such Mortgage Loan and the other Mortgage Assets
free and clear of any Lien and shall have a valid and perfected first priority security interest in such
Mortgage Loan and the other Mortgage Assets then existing and thereafter arising in each case free
and clear of any Lien. After the related Purchase Date, Seller will not have any right to modify or
alter the terms of the sale of the Mortgage Loan and Seller will not have any obligation or right to
repurchase the Mortgage Loan, except as provided in this Agreement or as otherwise agreed to by
Seller and Buyer. Seller has full right to sell, assign and transfer the Mortgage Loan without the
consent of the related Mortgagor or any other Person.
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(n) Transfer of Mortgage Loan. The Mortgage Loan is a MERS Designated Mortgage
Loan, except as Buyer may approve in writing in its sole discretion. The original Mortgage was
recorded in the appropriate jurisdictions wherein such recordation is necessary to perfect the Lien
thereof as against creditors of Seller, or is in the process of being recorded. As applicable, Seller
has designated Buyer as the “Interim Funder” on the MERS® System with respect to such Mortgage
Loan and unless otherwise authorized by Buyer, no Person is listed as interim funder on the MERS®
System with respect to such Mortgage Loan.

(0) Origination Date and Purchase Date. The Mortgage Loan was Originated no earlier
than the Business Day immediately preceding its Purchase Date, or such earlier day, if any, as
Buyer, acting in its sole discretion, shall have approved in writing. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary herein, this Subparagraph (o) does not apply to Mortgage Loans that were originated prior
to the Effective Date of this Agreement.

(p) Hazard Insurance. All buildings or other customarily insured improvements upon
the Mortgaged Property are insured by an insurer generally acceptable under the Takeout Guidelines
and to prudent mortgage lending institutions against loss by fire, hazards of extended coverage and
such other hazards as are required in the Takeout Guidelines pursuant to an insurance policy
conforming to the requirements of Takeout Guidelines and providing coverage in an amount equal
to the lesser of (1) the full insurable value of the Mortgaged Property or (i1) the outstanding principal
balance owing on the Mortgage Loan. All such insurance policies are in full force and effect and
contain a standard mortgagee clause naming the originator of the Mortgage Loan, its successors and
assigns as mortgagee and all premiums thereon have been paid. If the Mortgaged Property is in an
area identified on a flood hazard map or flood insurance rate map issued by the Federal Emergency
Management Agency as having special flood hazards (and such flood insurance has been made
available), a flood insurance policy meeting the requirements of the current guidelines of the Federal
Insurance Administration is in effect which policy conforms to the requirements of the Takeout
Guidelines. The Mortgage obligates the Mortgagor thereunder to maintain all such insurance at the
Mortgagor’s cost and expense, and on the Mortgagor’s failure to do so, authorizes the holder of the
Mortgage to maintain such insurance at the Mortgagor’s cost and expense and to seek
reimbursement therefor from the Mortgagor. Where required by state law or regulation, the
Mortgagor has been given an opportunity to choose the carrier of the required hazard insurance.
The hazard insurance policy is the valid and binding obligation of the insurer, is in full force and
effect, and will be in full force and effect and inure to the benefit of Buyer upon the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Seller has not engaged in, and has no
knowledge of the Mortgagor, any Subservicer or any prior servicer having engaged in, any act or
omission which would impair the coverage of any such policy, the benefits of the endorsement
provided for herein, or the validity and binding effect of either, including, without limitation, no
unlawful fee, commission, kickback or other unlawful compensation or value of any kind has been
or will be received, retained or realized by any attorney, firm or other person or entity, and no such
unlawful items have been received, retained or realized by Seller.

(q) Title Insurance. The Mortgage Loan is covered by an ALTA, CLTA or TLTA
lender’s title insurance policy, acceptable to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or as mandated by
applicable state law, if any, issued by a title insurer acceptable to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or
qualified as required under applicable state law and qualified to do business in the jurisdiction where
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the Mortgaged Property is located, insuring Seller, its successors and assigns the first priority of the
lien of the Mortgage in the original principal amount of the Mortgage Loan and, if such Mortgage
Loan is an adjustable rate Mortgage Loan, against any loss by reason of the invalidity or
unenforceability of the lien resulting from the provisions of the Mortgage providing for adjustment
in the Mortgage interest rate or monthly payment. Where required by state law or regulation, the
Mortgagor has been given the opportunity to choose the carrier of the required mortgage title
insurance. Additionally, such lender’s title insurance policy affirmatively insures ingress and
egress, and against encroachments by or upon the Mortgaged Property or any interest therein. The
title policy does not contain any special exceptions (other than the standard exclusions) for zoning
and uses and has been marked to delete the standard survey exception or to replace the standard
survey exception with a specific survey reading. Seller and its successors and assigns are the sole
insureds of such lender’s title insurance policy, and such lender’s title insurance policy is in full
force and effect and will be in full force and effect upon the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and will inure to the benefit of Buyer and its assigns without any
further act. No claims have been made under such lender’s title insurance policy, and Seller has not
done, by act or omission, anything which would impair the coverage of such lender’s title insurance
policy.

(r) Insured Closing Letter and Escrow Letter. There is, with respect to such Mortgage
Loan, a valid and enforceable Insured Closing Letter and escrow letter duly executed by the
Settlement Agent.

(s) Private Mortgage [nsurance Policy. In the event that a private mortgage insurance
policy is required by Buyer, the Mortgage Loan has a valid and transferable private mortgage
insurance policy. Unless the private mortgage insurance policy for a Mortgage Loan was cancelled
at the request of the Mortgagor or automatically terminated, in either case in accordance with
applicable law, all premiums have been paid and all provisions of such private mortgage insurance
policy have been and are being complied with. With respect to a purchase money Mortgage Loan,
both the original appraised value and the purchase price are accurately depicted as such on Seller’s
(or, as applicable, Subservicer’s) servicing system. Where a Mortgage Loan was closed as a
streamlined refinance and a new appraisal was not required, the prior appraised value that was relied
on in making the credit decision for the Mortgage Loan is accurately depicted on Seller’s (or, as
applicable, Subservicer’s) servicing system. Seller has not funded the private mortgage insurance
policy premium, if any, with respect to such Mortgage Loan. The Mortgage interest rate for the
Mortgage Loan is net of any such insurance premium.

(t) Optional Insurance. No single payment credit life insurance or other optional
insurance product that has been considered “predatory” by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac has been
obtained in connection with such Mortgage Loan. If such Mortgage Loan involved any type of
optional insurance, such insurance was properly serviced including, without limitation, by use of
the proper application and collection of premiums, the maintenance of complete and accurate
records, processing and payment of claims and the handling of correspondence. The Mortgage
Loan does not involve an optional insurance product that was or is being provided free of charge to
the Mortgagor.
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(u) Insurance. All required insurance policies, of whatever type, remain in full force
and effect. Seller has not engaged in, and has no knowledge of the Mortgagors having engaged in,
any act or omission which would impair the coverage validity or binding effect of any such policies.
No action, inaction, or event has occurred and no state of facts exists or has existed that has resulted
or will result in the exclusion from, denial of, or defense to coverage under any applicable special
hazard insurance policy, private mortgage insurance policy or bankruptcy bond, irrespective of the
cause of such failure of coverage. In connection with the placement of any such insurance, no
commission, fee, or other compensation has been or will be received by Seller or any Subservicer
or any designee of Seller or any Subservicer or any corporation in which Seller, any Subservicer or
any officer, director, or employee of Seller or any Subservicer had a financial interest at the time of
placement of such insurance.

(v) Mortgaged Property Undamaged; No Condemnation Proceedings. As of the related
Purchase Date, there are no uninsured casualty losses or casualty losses where coinsurance has been,
or Seller has reason to believe will be, claimed by the insurance company or where the loss,
exclusive of contents, is, or will be, greater than the recovery (less actual costs and expenses
incurred in connection with such recovery) from the insurance carrier. No casualty insurance
proceeds have been used to reduce Mortgage Loan balances or for any other purpose except to make
repairs to the Mortgaged Property, except as allowed pursuant to applicable law and the Mortgage
Loan documents. All damage with respect to which casualty insurance proceeds have been received
by or through Seller has been properly repaired or is in the process of being repaired using such
proceeds. There is no damage to the Mortgaged Property from waste, fire, windstorm, flood,
tornado, earthquake or earth movement, hazardous or toxic substances, other casualty, or any other
property related circumstances or conditions that would adversely affect the value or marketability
of any Mortgage Loan or Mortgaged Property, and adequate insurance is in place to cover all such
events. There is no proceeding pending or, to the best of Seller’s knowledge, threatened for the
partial or total condemnation of the Mortgaged Property that would adversely affect the Mortgage
Loan.

(w) Location of Improvements: No Encroachments. All improvements subject to the
Mortgage which were considered in determining the appraised value of the Mortgaged Property lie
wholly within the boundaries and building restriction lines of the Mortgaged Property (and wholly
within the project with respect to a condominium unit) and no improvements on adjoining properties
encroach upon the Mortgaged Property except those which are insured against by the title insurance
policy referred to in paragraph (r) above and all improvements on the Mortgaged Property comply
with all applicable zoning and subdivision laws and ordinances.

(x) Appraisal. The loan file contains an appraisal or an underwriting property valuation
using an automated valuation model of the related Mortgaged Property, in each case, in a form
acceptable to Buyer, any applicable Agency and the applicable Approved Takeout Investor and
consistent with the Takeout Guidelines, made and signed, prior to the approval of the Mortgage
Loan application, by a qualified appraiser, duly appointed by Seller, who had no interest, direct or
indirect in the Mortgaged Property or in any loan made on the security thereof, whose compensation
is not affected by the approval or disapproval of the Mortgage Loan and who met the minimum
qualifications of the applicable Agency. Each appraisal of the Mortgage Loan was made in
accordance with the requirements of Title XI of the Federal Institutions Reform, Recovery, and
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Enforcement Act of 1989 and the regulations promulgated thereunder, all as in effect on the Date
of Origination of the Mortgage Loan;

() Reserved.
(z) Reserved.

(aa) Type of Mortgaged Property. The Mortgaged Property is located in the United
States and consists of a single parcel of real property with a detached single family residence erected
thereon, or a two to four family dwelling, or a five to eight unit residential property, or an individual
condominium unit, or an individual unit in a planned unit development, or a Fix n Flip small balance
five-to-twenty-five multifamily unit; provided that any condominium project or planned unit
development generally conforms to the Takeout Guidelines regarding such dwellings. As of the
date of origination, no portion of the Mortgaged Property was used for commercial purposes, and
since the date of origination, no portion of the Mortgaged Property has been used for commercial
purposes; provided that Mortgaged Properties which contain a home office shall not be considered
as being used for commercial purposes as long as the Mortgaged Property has not been altered for
commercial purposes and is not storing any chemicals or raw materials other than those commonly
used for homeowner repair, maintenance and/or household purposes. If the Mortgaged Property is
a condominium unit or a planned unit development (other than a de minims planned unit
development) such condominium or planned unit development project is acceptable to Buyer. The
Mortgaged Property is not a Manufactured Home or a mobile home.

(bb) Environmental Matters. There is no pending action or proceeding directly
involving any Mortgaged Property of which Seller is aware in which compliance with any
environmental law, rule or regulation is an issue and nothing further remains to be done to satisty
in full all requirements of each such law, rule or regulation constituting a prerequisite to use and
enjoyment of said property. The Mortgaged Property is free from any and all toxic or hazardous
substances and there exists no violation of any local, state or federal environmental law, rule or
regulation.

(cc) Unacceptable Investment. Seller has no knowledge of any circumstances or
condition with respect to the Mortgage, the Mortgaged Property, the Mortgagor or the Mortgagor’s
credit standing that could reasonably be expected to cause investors to regard the Mortgage Loan
as an unacceptable investment, cause the Mortgage Loan to become delinquent or materially
adversely affect the value or the marketability of the Mortgage.

(dd) Servicemembers Civil Relief Act. The Mortgagor has not notified Seller or any
Subservicer, and Seller has no knowledge of any relief requested or allowed to the Mortgagor under
the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act of 2003, as amended, or other similar state or federal law.

(ee) No Fraud. No fraud, error, omission, misrepresentation, negligence or similar
occurrence with respect to the Mortgage Loan has taken place on the part of Seller, any Subservicer
or any other Person involved in the origination of the Mortgage Loan or in the application for any
insurance in relation to such Mortgage Loan, including without limitation the Mortgagor, any
appraiser, any builder or developer. The documents, instruments and agreements submitted for loan
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underwriting were not falsified and contain no untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the information and statements
therein not misleading. Seller has reviewed all of the documents constituting the Loan File and has
made such inquiries as it deems necessary to make and confirm the accuracy of the representations
set forth herein.

(f) Delinquency. All payments required to be made prior to the related Purchase Date
for such Mortgage Loan under the terms of the Mortgage Note have been made, the Mortgage Loan
has not been dishonored or declared to be in default and no payment has ever been more than thirty
(30) days past due.

(gg) Compliance with Applicable Laws. Mortgage Loan originator is now and will
continue to be in compliance with any and all requirements of any applicable federal, state or local
law including, without limitation, usury, truth in lending, real estate settlement procedures,
consumer credit protection, fair credit billing, fair credit reporting, fair debt collection practices,
predatory and abusive lending laws, equal credit opportunity, fair housing and disclosure laws or
unfair and deceptive practices laws applicable to the origination and servicing of the Mortgage Loan
including, without limitation, any provisions relating to prepayment penalties, have been complied
with, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not involve the violation of
any such laws or regulations. Mortgage Loan originator maintains, and shall maintain, evidence of
such compliance as required by applicable law or regulation and shall make such evidence available
for inspection at its office during normal business hours upon reasonable advance notice. Each
Mortgage Loan at the time it was made complied in all material respects with applicable local, state,
and federal laws, including, but not limited to, all applicable predatory and abusive lending laws.

Seller and the Mortgaged Property_are in compliance with (a) all applicable laws, judgments,
decrees and orders of any Governmental Authority, including without limitation all environmental
laws, in all material respects. All approvals under applicable laws have been obtained and are valid
and 1in full force and effect.

(hh) Disclosure and Rescission Materials. The Mortgagor has received all disclosure
materials required by applicable law with respect to the making of mortgage loans of the same type
as the Mortgage Loan and rescission materials required by applicable law and has acknowledged
receipt of such materials to the extent required by applicable law and such documents will remain
in the loan file.

(i1) Texas Refinance Loans. Each Mortgage Loan originated in the State of Texas
pursuant to Article XVI, Paragraph 50(a)(6) of the Texas Constitution (a “Texas Refinance Loan”)
has been originated in compliance with the provisions of Article XVI, Paragraph 50(a)(6) of the
Texas Constitution, Texas Civil Statutes and the Texas Finance Code. With respect to each Texas
Refinance Loan that is a cash out refinancing, the related Mortgage Loan Documents state that the
Mortgagor may prepay such Texas Refinance Loan in whole or in part without incurring a
prepayment penalty. Seller does not collect any such prepayment penalties in connection with any
such Texas Refinance Loan.
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(1) Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Seller and its agents have at all times complied
with all applicable federal, state and local anti-money laundering laws, orders and regulations to the
extent applicable to Seller or its agent, including without limitation the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001,
the Bank Secrecy Act and the regulations of the Office of Foreign Asset Control (collectively, the
“Anti-Money Laundering Laws”), in respect of the origination and servicing of each Mortgage
Loan; Seller has established an anti-money laundering compliance program as and to the extent
required by the Anti-Money Laundering Laws, has conducted the requisite due diligence in
connection with the origination and servicing of each Mortgage Loan for purposes of the Anti-
Money Laundering Laws to the extent applicable to Seller, and, to the extent required by applicable
law, maintains, and will maintain, either directly or through third parties, sufficient information to
identify the applicable Mortgagor for purposes of the Anti-Money Laundering Laws. No Mortgage
Loan is subject to nullification pursuant to Executive Order 13224 (the “Executive Order™) or the
regulations promulgated by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department
of the Treasury (“OFAC Regulations”) or in violation of the Executive Order or the OFAC
Regulations, and no Mortgagor is subject to the provisions of such Executive Order or the OFAC
Regulations nor listed as a “blocked person™ for purposes of the OFAC Regulations.

(kk) Predatory Lending Regulations. The Mortgage Loan is not classified as (a) a “high
cost” loan under the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act of 1994 (“HOEPA™) or (b) a “high
cost,” “threshold,” “covered,” or “predatory” loan under any other applicable state, federal or local
law. The Mortgage Loan does not have an “annual percentage rate” or total “points and fees”
payable by the related Mortgagor (as each such term is calculated under HOEPA) that exceed the
thresholds set forth by HOEPA and its implementing regulations, including 12 C.F.R. §
226.32(a)(1)(i). No predatory or deceptive lending practices, including, without limitation, the
extension of credit without regard to the ability of the Mortgagor to repay and the extension of credit
which has no apparent benefit to the Mortgagor, were employed in the origination of the Mortgage
Loan. No term or condition of, and no practice used in connection with the Origination of, such
Mortgage Loan has been categorized as an “unfair” or “deceptive” term, condition or practice under
any applicable federal, state or local law (or regulation promulgated thereunder) and the Mortgage
Loan does not have any terms which expose Buyer to regulatory action or enforcement proceedings,
penalties or other sanctions.

(D State Laws. No Mortgage Loan is a “High-Cost Home Loan™ as defined in the
Arkansas Home Loan Protection Act effective July 16, 2003 (Act 1340 of 2003); no Mortgage Loan
is a “High-Cost Home Loan” as defined in the Kentucky high-cost home loan statute effective June
24, 2003 (Ky. Rev. Stat. Paragraph 360.100); no Mortgage Loan is a “High-Cost Home Loan” as
defined in the New Jersey Home Ownership Act effective November 27, 2003 (N.J.S.A. 46:10B-
22 et seq.); no Mortgage Loan is a “High-Cost Home Loan” as defined in the New Mexico Home
Loan Protection Act effective January 1, 2004 (N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 58-21A-1 et seq.); no Mortgage
Loan is a “High-Risk Home Loan™ as defined in the Illinois High-Risk Home Loan Act effective
January 1, 2004 (815 I1l. Comp. Stat. 137/1 et seq.); no Mortgage Loan is a “High-Cost Home
Mortgage Loan™ as defined in the Massachusetts Predatory Home Loan Practices Act, effective
November 7, 2004 (Mass. Ann. Laws Ch. 183C); no Mortgage Loan is a “High Cost Home Loan”
as defined in the Indiana Home Loan Practices Act, effective January 1, 2005 (Ind. Code Ann.
Paragraphs 24-9-1 through 24-9-9); no Mortgage Loan that was originated on or after October 1,
2002 and on or prior to March 7, 2003, is secured by property located in the State of Georgia; no
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Mortgage Loan that was originated after March 7, 2003 is a “high cost home loan™ as defined under
the Georgia Fair Lending Act, as amended; and no Mortgage Loan is a “high cost home loan,” as
defined in Paragraph 6 L of the New York State Banking Law.

(mm)  Arbitration. No Mortgagor agreed to submit to arbitration to resolve any dispute
arising out of or relating in any way to the mortgage loan transaction; any breach of this
representation shall be deemed to materially and adversely affect the value of the Mortgage Loan
and shall require a repurchase of the affected Mortgage Loan.

(nn) Higher Cost Products. The Mortgagor was not encouraged or required to select a
Mortgage Loan product offered by the Mortgage Loan’s originator which is a higher cost product
designed for less creditworthy Mortgagors, unless at the time of the Mortgage Loan’s origination,
such Mortgagor did not qualify taking into account such facts as, without limitation, the Mortgage
Loan’s requirements and the Mortgagor’s credit history, income, assets and liabilities and debt-to-
income ratios for a lower-cost credit product then offered by the Mortgage Loan’s originator or any
affiliate of the Mortgage Loan’s originator. If, at the time of loan application, the Mortgagor may
have qualified for a lower-cost credit product then offered by any mortgage lending affiliate of the
Mortgage Loan’s originator, the Mortgage Loan’s originator referred the Mortgagor’s application
to such affiliate for underwriting consideration. For a Mortgagor who seeks financing through a
Mortgage Loan originator’s higher-priced nonprime lending channel, the Mortgagor was directed
towards or offered the Mortgage Loan originator’s standard mortgage line if the Mortgagor was
able to qualify for one of the standard products.

(00) Underwriting Methodology. With respect to delegated underwritten loans, the
methodology used in underwriting the extension of credit for each Mortgage Loan does not rely
solely on the extent of the Mortgagor’s equity in the collateral as the principal determining factor
in approving such extension of credit. The methodology employed objective criteria such as the
Mortgagor’s income, assets and liabilities, to the proposed mortgage payment and, based on such
methodology, the Mortgage Loan’s originator made a reasonable determination that at the time of
origination the Mortgagor had the ability to make timely payments on the Mortgage Loan.

(pp) Points and Fees. No Mortgagor was charged “points and fees” (whether or not
financed) in an amount greater than (i) One Thousand Dollars ($1,000), or (ii) five percent (5%) of
the principal amount of such Mortgage Loan, whichever is greater. For purposes of this
representation, such 5% limitation is calculated in accordance with Fannie Mae’s anti-predatory
lending requirements as set forth in the Agency Guidelines and “points and fees” (x) include
origination, underwriting, broker and finder fees and charges that the mortgagee imposed as a
condition of making the Mortgage Loan, whether they are paid to the mortgagee or a third party,
and (y) exclude bona fide discount points, fees paid for actual services rendered in connection with
the origination of the Mortgage Loan (such as attorneys’ fees, notaries fees and fees paid for
property appraisals, credit reports, surveys, title examinations and extracts, flood and tax
certifications, and home inspections), the cost of mortgage insurance or credit-risk price
adjustments, the costs of title, hazard, and flood insurance policies, state and local transfer taxes or
fees, escrow deposits for the future payment of taxes and insurance premiums, and other
miscellaneous fees and charges which miscellaneous fee and charges, in total, do not exceed twenty-
five basis points (0.25%) of the principal amount of such Mortgage Loan. All fees and charges
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(including finance charges) and whether or not financed, assessed, collected or to be collected in
connection with the origination and servicing of each Mortgage Loan has been disclosed in writing
to the Mortgagor in accordance with applicable state and federal law and regulation.

(qq) Prepayment Penalties. With respect to any Mortgage Loan that contains a provision
permitting imposition of a penalty upon a prepayment prior to maturity: (i) the Mortgage Loan
provides some benefit to the Mortgagor (e.g., a rate or fee reduction) in exchange for accepting such
prepayment penalty, (ii) the Mortgage Loan’s originator had a written policy of offering the
Mortgagor the option of obtaining a mortgage loan that did not require payment of such a penalty,
(iii) the prepayment penalty was adequately disclosed to the Mortgagor in the mortgage loan
documents pursuant to applicable state, local and federal law, and (v) notwithstanding any state or
federal law to the contrary, neither Seller nor any Subservicer shall impose such prepayment
premium in any instance when the mortgage debt is accelerated as the result of the Mortgagor’s
default in making the loan payments.

(r1) Single Premium Credit Insurance Policies. No Mortgagor was required to purchase
any single premium credit insurance policy (e.g., life, mortgage, disability, accident,
unemployment, or health insurance product) or debt cancellation agreement as a condition of
obtaining the extension of credit. No Mortgagor obtained a prepaid single premium credit insurance
policy (e.g., life, mortgage, disability, accident, unemployment, or health insurance product) in
connection with the origination of the Mortgage Loan. No proceeds from any Mortgage Loan were
used to purchase single premium credit insurance policies or debt cancellation agreements as part
of the origination of, or as a condition to closing, such Mortgage Loan; any breach of this
representation shall be deemed to materially and adversely affect the value of the Mortgage Loan
and shall require a repurchase of the affected Mortgage Loan.

(ss) Origination Practices: Servicing. The origination practices used by Mortgage Loan
originator with respect to each Mortgage Loan have been in all respects legal and customary in the
mortgage origination industry and the collection and servicing practices used by Mortgage Loan
originator and any Subservicer have been consistent with customary servicing procedures. The
Mortgage Loan satisfies, and has been originated and underwritten in accordance with, all
applicable requirements of applicable Takeout Guidelines.

(tt) Escrow Payments. With respect to escrow deposits and payments that the Mortgage
Loan originator is entitled to collect, all such payments are in the possession of, or under the control
of the Mortgage Loan originator, and there exist no deficiencies in connection therewith for which
customary arrangements for repayment thereof have not been made. All escrow payments have
been collected in full compliance with state and federal law and the provisions of the related
Mortgage Note and Mortgage. As to any Mortgage Loan that is the subject of an escrow, escrow
of funds is not prohibited by applicable law and has been established in an amount sufficient to pay
for every escrowed item that remains unpaid and has been assessed but is not yet due and payable.
No escrow deposits or other charges or payments due under the Mortgage Note have been
capitalized under any Mortgage or the related Mortgage Note.

(uu) Interest on Escrows. As of the related Purchase Date, the Mortgage Loan originator
has credited to the account of the related Mortgagor under the Mortgage Loan all interest required
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to be paid by applicable law or by the terms of the related Mortgage Note on any escrow account.
Evidence of such credit shall be provided to Buyer upon request.

(vv) Escrow Analysis. The Mortgage Loan originator has properly conducted an escrow
analysis for each escrowed Mortgage Loan in accordance with applicable law. All books and
records with respect to each Mortgage Loan comply with applicable law and regulations, and have
been adjusted to reflect the results of the escrow analyses. Except as allowed by applicable law, no
inflation factor was used in the escrow analysis. The Mortgage Loan originator has delivered
notification to the Mortgagor(s) under each Mortgage Loan of all adjustments resulting from such
escrow analyses.

(ww)  Escrow Holdbacks. The Mortgage Loan is not subject to outstanding escrow
holdbacks except those specifically allowed by (and identified to Buyer by Seller in) the Takeout
Guidelines.

(xx) Credit Reporting. If applicable, the Mortgage Loan originator has caused to be
fully furnished, in accordance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act and its implementing regulations,
accurate and complete information (i.e., favorable and unfavorable) on its Mortgagor loan files to
Equifax, Experian, and Trans Union Credit Information Company (three of the credit repositories),
on a monthly basis; any breach of this representation shall be deemed to materially and adversely
affect the value of the Mortgage Loan and shall require a repurchase of the affected Mortgage Loan.

(yy) Interest Rate Adjustments. If applicable, with respect to each adjustable rate
Mortgage Loan, all interest rate adjustments have been made in strict compliance with state and
federal law and the terms of the related Mortgage Note. Any interest required to be paid pursuant
to state and local law has been properly paid and credited. The Mortgagor has executed a statement
to the effect that the Mortgagor has received all disclosure materials required by applicable law with
respect to the making of adjustable rate mortgage loans.

(zz) Regarding the Mortgagor. The Mortgagor is one or more natural persons and/or
trustees for an Illinois land trust or a trustee under a “living trust” and such “living trust” is in
compliance with Agency Guidelines for such trusts. The Mortgagor is not a Guarantor, an owner,
officer, director, employee, relative or agent of Seller or Guarantor, or an Affiliate of Seller or
Guarantor, unless the Mortgagor’s relationship to Seller has been disclosed to Buyer in writing. The
Mortgagor is not a government or a governmental subdivision or agency. The Mortgagor occupies
the Mortgaged Property.

(aaa)  Fannie Mae Takeout Guidelines Announcement 95-19. Seller will transmit full
file credit reporting data for each Mortgage Loan pursuant to Fannie Mae Announcement 95-19 and
that for each Mortgage Loan, Seller agrees it shall report one of the following statuses each month
as follows: new origination, current, delinquent (30 or more days), foreclosed, or charged-off.

(bbb) Tax Identification/Back Up Withholding. All tax identifications for individual
Mortgagors, have been certified as required by law. Seller has complied with all IRS requirements
regarding the obtainment and solicitation of taxpayer identification numbers and the taxpayer
identification numbers provided to Buyer as reflected on the system are correct. To the extent a
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Mortgage Loan is on back up withholding, Seller has substantiated both the initial reason for the
back up withholding and the amount of such back up withholding and the reason for such back up
withholding in the amount currently withheld still exists.

(cec)  IRS Forms. All IRS forms, including, but not limited to, Forms 1099, 1098, 1041
and K-1, as appropriate, which are required to be filed with respect to activity occurring on or before
the year in which the Purchase Date occurs and have been filed or will be filed in accordance with
applicable law.

(ddd) Electronic Drafting of Payments. If Seller or a Subservicer drafts monthly
payments electronically from the Mortgagor’s bank account, such drafting occurs in compliance
with applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations; and the applicable agreement with the
Mortgagor; and such applicable agreement with the Mortgagor both legally and contractually can
be fully assigned to Buyer pursuant to the assignment provisions contained therein, and will be fully
assigned to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.

(eee) Reserved.

(ffH) U.S. Loan; Mortgagor. The Mortgage Loan is denominated and payable only in
United States dollars within the United States and with respect to which the related Mortgagor is a
natural person who is a United States citizen or resident alien or a corporation or other legal entity
organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia.

(ggg) Representations and Warranties to Approved Takeout Investor. Any
representations or warranties made by Seller to the Approved Takeout Investor upon final sale of
the Mortgage Loan are hereby incorporated into this Agreement, and Seller is deemed to make the
same representations and warranties to Buyer, as if such representations and warranties were fully
set forth herein.

(hhh) NexBank Eligible. The Mortgage Loan is eligible for sale to NexBank (even if
NexBank is not the Approved Takeout Investor).

(iii) Takeout Commitment. If Buyer requires a Takeout Commitment, the Mortgage
Loan is subject to a legally valid and binding Takeout Commitment and satisfies all of the
requirements related to such Takeout Commitment.

Gin Guidelines. The Mortgage Loan satisfies, and has been originated in accordance
with, all applicable requirements of the applicable Agency Guidelines or, for Purchased Mortgage
Loans to be sold to an Approved Takeout Investor that is not an Agency, the Takeout Guidelines of
the applicable Approved Takeout Investor;

(kkk)  Whole Loan. The Mortgage Loan is a whole loan and not a participation interest.

(111) UCC Characterization. The Mortgage Loan is an “account”, “chattel paper”,
“promissory note” or “payment intangible” within the meaning of Article 9 of the UCC of all
applicable jurisdictions;
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(mmm) Bankruptcy Code Characterization. The Mortgage Loan is a “mortgage loan”
within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Code.

(nnn)  Reserved.

(0oo) Ineligible Loan Types. The Mortgage Loan is not (i) a negative amortization loan,
(ii) a second lien loan, (iii) reserved, (iv) a home equity line of credit or similar loan, or (v) a reverse
mortgage.

(ppp)  No Equity Participation. No document relating to the Mortgage Loan provides for
any contingent or additional interest in the form of participation in the cash flow of the Mortgaged
Property or a sharing in the appreciation of the value of the Mortgaged Property. The indebtedness
evidenced by the Mortgage Note is not convertible to an ownership interest in the Mortgaged
Property or the Mortgagor and Seller has not financed nor does it own directly or indirectly, any
equity of any form in the Mortgaged Property or the Mortgagor.

(qqq) Condominiums/Planned Unit Developments. [If the Mortgaged Property is a
condominium, the related residential dwelling is a condominium unit or a unit in a planned unit
development (other than a de minimis planned unit development) and such condominium or planned
unit development project meets the eligibility requirements of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
including Fannie Mae eligibility requirements for sale to Fannie Mae or is located in a condominium
or planned unit development project which has received Fannie Mae project approval and the
representations and warranties required by Fannie Mae with respect to such condominium or
planned unit development have been made and remain true and correct in all respects.

(rr7) Downpayment. The source of the down payment with respect to such Mortgage
Loan has been fully verified by the Mortgage Loan originator.

(sss)  Due on Sale. The related Mortgage contains an enforceable provision for the
acceleration of the payment of the unpaid principal balance of the Mortgage Loan in the event that
the Mortgaged Property is sold or transferred without the prior written consent of the mortgagee
thereunder.

(ttt) Flood Certification Contract. Seller has obtained a life of loan, transferable flood
certification contract for such Mortgage Loan and such contract is assignable without penalty,
premium or cost to Buyer.

(uuu)  Reserved.
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EXHIBIT C

FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

SELLER: Altisource Asset Management Corporation
BUYER: NexBank

a Texas state financial institution
TODAY’S DATE: / /
REPORTING PERIOD ENDED: month(s) ended / /

This certificate is delivered to Buyer under the Master Repurchase Agreement dated effective as of [Date]
between Seller and Buyer (the “Agreement”), all the defined terms of which have the same meanings
when used herein.

I hereby certify that: (a) I am, and at all times mentioned herein have been, the duly elected,
qualified, and acting Chief Financial Officer of Seller; (b) to the best of my knowledge, the Financial
Statements of Seller from the period shown above (the “Reporting Period™) and which accompany this
certificate were prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly the financial condition of Seller as
of the end of the Reporting Period and the results of its operations for Reporting Period; (c) a review of
the Agreement and of the activities of Seller during the Reporting Period has been made under my
supervision with a view to determining Seller’s compliance with the covenants, requirements, terms, and
conditions of the Agreement, and such review has not disclosed the existence during or at the end of the
Reporting Period (and I have no knowledge of the existence as of the date hereof) of any Default or Event
of Default, except as disclosed herein (which specifies the nature and period of existence of each Default
or Event of Default, if any, and what action Seller has taken, is taking, and proposes to take with respect
to each); (d) the calculations described on the pages attached hereto evidence that Seller is in compliance
with the requirements of the Agreement at the end of the Reporting Period (or if Seller is not in
compliance, showing the extent of non-compliance and specifying the period of non-compliance and what
actions Seller proposes to take with respect thereto); (e) Seller was, as of the end of the Reporting Period,
in compliance and good standing with applicable Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac and HUD net
worth requirements.

By:
Name:
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SELLER:

REPORTING PERIOD:
All financial calculations set forth herein are as of the end of the Reporting Period

Please provide the following information, or write "N/A" where not applicable.

I. NET WORTH
The Net Worth of Seller is:

REQUIRED MINIMUM (through Termination Date)
In compliance?

NO
II. DEBT OF SELLER
Total Liabilities
Plus: off balance sheet debt:
Minus: loan loss reserves (if included in liabilities):
Minus: operating leases
DEBT: S0
1II. LEVERAGE RATIO: DEBT TO NET WORTH
Debt (from above): 50
Net Worth: $0
RATIO OF DEBT/NET WORTH: #DIV/0!
Maximum permitted [ !
In compliance? #DIV/0!
V. LIQUIDITY
Cash Equivalents:
LIQUIDITY S0
Minimum Required (through Termination Date)
In compliance? NO
V. CURRENT RATIO
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
RATIO OF CURRENT ASSETS TO CURRENT LIABILITIES #DIV/0!
Minimum required (through Termination Date) b /
In compliance? #DIV/0!
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VI. NET INCOME (tested each quarter)

Net income for the most recently-ended TTM

Minimum permitted £

In compliance?

VII. QUARTERLY FUNDINGS
Total dollar amount and number of units funded: #NUM! #NUM! January-00

Number of Units

Dollar Amount

IX. ACTIVE REPURCHASE DEMANDS*
Disclose active repurchase demands; (if none, write “None™):

*If active repurchase demands exist, please provide a detailed schedule of loans subject to repurchases that includes
the investor requesting, reason for repurchases, origination date, loan characteristics such as LTV, lien position,
occupancy etc., and valuation method if you have estimated your loss exposure.

X. LITIGATION*
Disclose pending litigation cases; (if none, write “None™):

*1f pending litigation cases exist, please provide a detailed list of any pending litigation including name of the parties
mvolved and the amount of expected losses on the litigation.

XI. DEFAULTS OR EVENTS OF DEFAULT
Disclose nature and period of existence and action being taken in connection therewith; (if

none, write “None™):
XII. CHANGES IN MANAGEMENT/OWNERSHIP

Please provide a description of any changes in ownership or management. (1f none, write "None"):
P ) | g p £

XIII. ANY OTHER SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE CHANGE
Disclose any significant changes such as changes in warehouse lines, the occurrence of any

XIV. OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED (Please check if attached or write "N/A" if not applivabiey
a. Quarterly and YTD Financial Statements

XV: CERTIFICATION
I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the information completed by the Seller above is a true and correct

By:

Title:
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EXHIBIT D

FORM OF SHIPPING INSTRUCTIONS

Shipping Instructions

These loans being shipped to a custodian?

Or to an

Please ship the following notes to:
Investor name

Street address

City, State, Zip

Attn:

Endorse the note as follows: Endorsement Instructions

Investor?

Loan Number Borrower Name

Loan Amount

Attach additional pages as required

Special Instructions:

For any questions, please contact:

Name:
Phone:
Fax Number:
Email:

Signature:
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4.

5.

EXHIBIT E

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT DOCUMENTS

. Master Repurchase Agreement with completed Terms Annex

Guaranty, if applicable

Electronic Tracking Agreement (not required if Seller is not a MERS member)

Certified Organizational Documents of Seller

UCC, tax lien and judgment searches, state of Seller’s organization, and tax lien and judgment

searches, county where Seller’s chief executive office is located

6.

7.

UCC-1 Financing Statements

Opinions of Counsel

8. Errors and omissions insurance and banker’s blanket bond coverage policy or certificate in lieu
of policy endorsed to (i) provide that for any loss affecting Buyer’s interest, Buyer will be named
on the loss payable draft as its interest may appear and (ii) provide Buyer access to coverage under
the theft of secondary market institution’s money or collateral clause of such bond.

Exhibit E, Page 1

HB: 4860-6056-1208.9




EXHIBIT F

REQUIRED OPINIONS OF COUNSEL
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EXHIBIT G

SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION

[TO BE PROVIDED BY SELLER]

SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION
Name Address Place of | State(s) in | Seller’s
Organization | which percentage
qualified ownership
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EXHIBIT H

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE TO MERS
(Not required for MOM Loans)

ASSIGNMENT OF LIEN

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Altisource Asset Management Corporation hereby transfers

and assigns to MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., P.O. Box 2026,

Flint, Michigan 48501-2026, its successors and assigns, (i) the deed of trust executed by

to , Trustee, dated December 2, 2022 and

recorded under File No. in the Office of the District Clerk of

District, the Territory of the U.S. Virgin Islands, and covering and affecting the real

property in said county described on Exhibit A, hereto attached and hereby made a part hereof,

and (i1) all other liens securing payment of the promissory note described in and secured by said
deed of trust.

EXECUTED on the date stated in the acknowledgment below, to be effective as of
December 2, 2022.

Altisource Asset Management Corporation
By:

Name:
Title:

Attached: Exhibit A — property description

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the
individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the
truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document.

TERRITORY OF THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS )

) ss.
DISTRICT OF )
On 2022, before me, .aNotary
Public in and for said District and Territory, personally appeared , who proved to me

on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within
mmstrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized
capacities, and that by his/her/their signatures on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.
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I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the Territory of the U.S. Virgin Islands
that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Notary Public in and for said State

| MIN: [insert 18-digit MIN] MERS Phone: 1-888-679-6377 |
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EXHIBIT I(a)
LOAN PURCHASE DETAIL

For each Mortgage Loan proposed for sale to Buyer, Seller shall provide Buyer with the following
Loan Purchase Detail:

Seller’s Loan number

Mortgagor’s name

City, state and Zip Code of the Mortgaged Property

Outstanding principal balance as of such date (or original principal amount if not yet closed)
Approved Takeout Investor

Takeout Value

Market Value (based on Buyer’s determination)

Loan-to-Value Ratio

Interest rate

Original principal amount

Current scheduled monthly payment of principal and interest,

Scheduled Origination date

Proposed purchase date

Such other information as Buyer requires from time to time in its sole discretion with notice to
Seller
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EXHIBIT I(b)

Upon Buyer’s request, for any Purchased Mortgage Loan Seller shall provide Buyer with the
following Loan Purchase Documentation:

¢ Original mortgage note endorsed in blank

e Copy of investor underwriting approval, including FNMA DU or FHLMC LP

e Copy of investor takeout commitment from an approved investor indicating mortgagor
name, price and expiration date, if so required by Buyer

e Copy of mortgagor application
¢ Copy of appraisal

e Copy insured closing protection letter evidencing that closing agent is approved to close
mortgages for an approved title company

¢ Such other information as Buyer requires from time to time in its sole discretion with notice
to Seller
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EXHIBIT J

FORM OF BAILEE LETTER
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EXHIBIT K
SELLER NAMES FROM TAX RETURNS

[SELLER TO PROVIDE]
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EXHIBIT L
FORM OF TRUST RELEASE LETTER
TO: NexBank

RE: Altisource Asset Management Corporation

DATE: ]

Reference is made to the Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of | | (as supplemented,
amended or restated from time to time, the “Agreement”), between NexBank (“Buyer”) and
Altisource Asset Management Corporation (“Seller”). Capitalized terms used herein and not
otherwise defined have the meanings given to those terms in the Agreement.

Seller hereby requests that the following Mortgage Note be returned to Seller at [address] for the
reason(s) set forth below:

Mortgagor last )
(I e ; Allonge, Rider or
Nnames name origage (odan
Loan ID number ) - o other docs to be | Reason(s)

sufficient if same | amount
‘ returned also?
name)

Seller agrees that Buyer continues to have the sole ownership interest in the listed Mortgage Note
and all other Mortgage Assets related to the Mortgage Note.

Seller shall return the corrected Mortgage Note to Buyer no later than the tenth (10™) Business
Day after the date of this Trust Release Letter. At all times the Mortgage Note listed above is in
the possession of Seller pursuant to this Trust Release Letter, Seller shall hold such Mortgage Note
in trust for the benefit of Buyer. Seller hereby certifies that after Buyer delivers the Mortgage
Note described above to Seller, the aggregate original Outstanding Principal Balance of all
Mortgage Notes released to Seller pursuant to Trust Release Letters as of the date of this Trust
Release Letter does not exceed | ].
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Seller has caused the information set forth in the table below to be accurately completed.

This Trust
Receipt prepared
by

(first &  last
name)

First & last name
of contact person
for questions (if
different  from
name to the left)

Contact
person’s
phone number

Contact
person’s
number

fax

Contact person’s e-
mail address

Sincerely,

Altisource Asset Management Corporation

By:

Name:

Title;

HB: 4860-6056-1208.9
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EXHIBIT M
APPROVED LOAN TYPES
“Approved Loan Types” include, on any date of determination, a Mortgage Loan:

e which is either a Conventional Conforming Loan, a Government Loan a Jumbo Loan, or a
Loan which is eligible for sale to an Approved Takeout Investor under the Takeout
Guidelines;

e which is a single-family 1-4 or multifamily Fix and Flip Loan, except New York Loans;

¢ whichis DSCR Loan or a Mortgage Loan where the underlying borrower qualified for their
mortgage accounting using investment earnings rather than their personal income, except
New York Loans;

e which, if a Government Loan, the related Mortgagor has a FICO Score of at least 620 (or
such other minimum FICO Score as may be determined by Buyer in its sole discretion and
specified in a written notice from Buyer to Seller from time to time);

e which, if a Conventional Conforming Loan, the related Mortgagor has a FICO Score of at
least 620 (or such other minimum FICO Score as may be determined by Buyer in its sole
discretion and specified in a written notice from Buyer to Seller from time to time);

e which, if a Jumbo Loan, has been underwritten and approved for permanent purchase by
NexBank or is covered by a Takeout Commitment issued by an Approved Investor other
than NexBank;

e which, if required by a written notice from Buyer to Seller, is covered by a specific Takeout
Commitment describing such Mortgage Loan and of which a copy has been delivered to
and approved by Buyer;

e for which, if NexBank is not the Approved Takeout Investor, the Takeout Commitment
has not expired or been terminated or cancelled by the Approved Takeout Investor;

¢ which (a) is subject to a Takeout Agreement with respect to which Seller is not in default
and (b) has not been rejected or excluded for any reason (other than default by Buyer) from
the related Takeout Commitment by the Approved Takeout Investor; and

e for which the related Takeout Commitment has not expired or been terminated or cancelled
by the Approved Takeout Investor.
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SCHEDULE 1

APPROVED TAKEOUT INVESTORS
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SCHEDULE 1l
SELLER’S AUTHORIZED SIGNERS

[SELLER TO PROVIDE LIST — NAMES AND TITLES]

HB: 4860-6056-1208.9







Exhibit 4.1
Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

The common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”), of Altisource Asset Management Corporation, a US Virgin Islands corporation (the “Company™), is registered under Section 12 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The following description of the Common Stock sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the Common Stock. These
descriptions are in all respects subject to and qualified in their entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the applicable provisions of the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of
the Company (the “Charter”), the Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (the “Bylaws”), and the Certificate of Designations of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A
Designations Certificate”) (each of which is incorporated herein by reference) and the applicable provisions of the US Virgin Islands Code (“USVIC”).

Dividends. Subject to the preferential rights any shares of preferred stock currently outstanding or subsequently classified, a holder of Common Stock is entitled to receive dividends, if, as and when
authorized and declared by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), out of any funds available therefor. The Company currently does not pay a regular distribution on the Common Stock,
but the Company has from time-to-time declared dividends on its preferred stock, excluding the Series A Preferred.

Liquidation Preference. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, or a Change of Control (as defined in the Series A Designations Certificate), subject to the
preferential rights of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”) and pari passu with the rights of the other classes of preferred shares currently outstanding, a holder of
Common Stock is entitled to share ratably in the Company's assets that may legally be distributed to the Company's stockholders.

Relationship to Preferred Stock and Other Shares of Common Stock. The rights of a holder of Common Stock will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of holders of any
preferred stock that may be issued in the future. The Board may cause preferred stock to be issued to the Company’s officers, directors and employees pursuant to benefit plans.

A holder of Common Stock has no preferences, conversion rights, sinking fund, redemption rights, or preemptive rights to subscribe for any other securities of the Company. All shares of Common
Stock have equal distribution, liquidation, voting and other rights.

Voting Rights. Except as may otherwise be required by law, a holder of Common Stock has one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders, including the election
of directors.

Under the USVIC, a US Virgin Islands corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, sell all or substantially all of its assets, or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of
business, unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least a majority of the outstanding shares of the affected class of stock. Furthermore, under the USVIC, a US Virgin
Islands corporation may not merge or consolidate with another company without affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of stock.

Additionally, the Bylaws are subject to the alteration or repeal, and new bylaws may be made, by the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to
vote in the election of directors.

The Charter and the Bylaws do not allow for cumulative voting in the election of directors, and a majority of the votes cast in an election for a director is required to elect a director.

Stockholder Liability. Under the USVIC applicable to US Virgin Islands corporations, holders of Common Stock will not be liable as stockholders for the Company’s obligations solely as a result of
their status as stockholders of the Company.

Transfer Agent. The registrar and transfer agent for shares of the Common Stock is American Stock & Transfer Company.



Subsidiaries of Altisource Asset Management Corporation

Name of Entity

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

AAMC US, Inc. Delaware

Altisource Consulting S.a r.1 Luxembourg

Finsight Business Solutions Private Ltd. India
Bermuda

NewSource Reinsurance Company Ltd.

AAMC Real Estate Strategies Offshore Fund 1 (Cayman), LP (f/k/a AAMC EBO Offshore Fund 1 (Cayman), LP)
Alternative Lending Group LLC

Grapetree Lending LLC

Shoys Lending LLC

Premieria LLC

St. Croix Servicing LLC

Alternative Residential Credit LLC

Cayman Islands
Delaware
U.S. Virgin Islands
U.S. Virgin Islands
U.S. Virgin Islands
U.S. Virgin Islands
Delaware



Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-185947) of Altisource Asset Management Corporation,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-194112) of Altisource Asset Management Corporation,
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-195997) of Altisource Asset Management Corporation,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-236151) of Altisource Asset Management Corporation, and
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-251561) of Altisource Asset Management Corporation;

arwNE

of our report dated March 27, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Altisource Asset Management Corporation included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Altisource
Asset Management Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2022.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 27, 2023



Exhibit 31.1
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Jason Kopcak, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Altisource Asset Management Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2023 By: Is/ Jason Kopcak
Jason Kopcak
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Stephen Ramiro Krallman, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Altisource Asset Management Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen Ramiro Krallman
Stephen Ramiro Krallman
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of Altisource Asset Management Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 (“Form 10-K”), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
or its staff upon request.

Date: March 27, 2023 By: /s/ Jason Kopcak
Jason Kopcak
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer of Altisource Asset Management Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 (“Form 10-K”), filed concurrently herewith by the Company, fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
or its staff upon request.

Date: March 27, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen Ramiro Krallman
Stephen Ramiro Krallman
Chief Financial Officer




